Cover Page



Universiteit Leiden



The handle <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1887/37294</u> holds various files of this Leiden University dissertation

Author: Melo Bernardo, Ana de Title: Primordial germ cells and amnion development in the avian embryo Issue Date: 2016-01-26

Primordial Germ Cells and Amnion Development in the Avian Embryo

Ana de Melo Bernardo

Primordial Germ Cells and Amnion Development in the Avian Embryo

© Ana de Melo Bernardo, 2015, Leiden, The Netherlands. All rights reserved.

No parts of this thesis may be reproduced, distributed, stored in retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any mean, without permission of the author.

ISBN: 978-94-6295409-0

Published by: Uitgeverij BOXPress, 's-Hertogenbosch

Cover and chapter photography by: Van Vincent

The research described in this thesis was performed at Department of Anatomy and Embryology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands. This work was in part financially supported by European Commission's Lifelong Learning Programme (Leonardo da Vinci 2011-1-PT1-LEO02-08199), Interuniversity Attraction Poles-Phase VII (IUAP/PAI P7/14) and individual doctoral fellowship from Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia (FCT SFRH/BD/94387/2013).

Primordial Germ Cells and Amnion Development in the Avian Embryo

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van de graad van Doctor aan de Universiteit Leiden, op gezag van Rector Magnificus prof.mr. C.J.J.M. Stolker, volgens besluit van het College voor Promoties te verdedigen op dinsdag 26 januari 2016 klokke 16:15 uur

door

Ana de Melo Bernardo geboren te Covilhã, Portugal op 27 maart 1988

Promotor	Prof. Dr. C. L. Mummery
Co-promotor	Dr. S. M. Chuva de Sousa Lopes
Overige leden	Prof. Dr. M.J. Goumans
	Prof. Dr. M. de Ruiter
	Dr. S. Thorsteinsdóttir (University of Lisbon)
	Prof. Dr. M. Richardson (Institute of Biology Leiden)

Principles for the Development of a Complete Mind: Study the science of art. Study the art of science. Develop your senses - especially learn how to see. Realize that everything connects to everything else.

Leonardo Da Vinci (1452 - 1519)

CONTENTS

Chapter 1	
General Introduction and Outline of this Thesis	
Chapter 2	
Chicken Primordial Germ Cells Use the Anterior Vitelline Veins to Enter the	26
Embryonic Circulation	
Chapter 3	
Meiotic Wave Adds Extra Asymmetry to the Development of Female	46
Chicken Gonads	
Chapter 4	
Avian as a Model for Human Ovarian Cancer: Advantages Reviewed	
Chapter 5	
The Involvement of the Proamnion in the Development of the Anterior	
Amnion Fold in Chicken	74
Chapter 6	
General Discussion and Future Perspectives	112
Appendix	
Summary	127
Samenvatting	
List of Peer-reviewed Publications	
About the Author	
Acknowledgements	135



1

General Introduction and Outline of this Thesis

THE "IMMORTAL" CYCLE OF THE GERMLINE

The question of how humans and other organisms originate, has fascinated scientists and society throughout history. In 1651, the English physician William Harvey claimed "*ex ovo* Omnia" - all life originates from an egg – suggesting the importance of the egg in the origin of all living animals, and refuting the idea of spontaneous generation [1]. A few years later, Antoni van Leeuwenhoek was able to build a microscope that allowed him to observe spermatozoa [2]. Van Leeuwenhoek would become the first scientist to suggest that the spermatozoid penetrates the egg in a process that we now call fertilization. His ideas contradicted Harvey's and the then common belief that fertilization occurred due to "vapors" originating in the seminal fluid. Nevertheless, Van Leeuwenhoek was never able to observe the spermatozoid penetrating the egg under his microscopes [3]. Only towards the end of the next century, in 1891, did Oscar Hertwig observe the process of fertilization in the sea urchin [4]. Even now, after almost 400 years of research, we continue to unravel the most fascinating mechanisms underlying the gametes and their progenitors: the primordial germ cells (PGCs).

PGCs are specialized cells that are formed outside the developing embryo, from where they migrate into the gonad, and give rise to the gametes (reviewed in [5]). PGCs, and subsequently the derivative gametes, form the so-called germline, which is at the same time an "immortal cell line", responsible for transmitting genetic information through generations; this constitutes the raw material for evolution [6, 7]. Evolution has brought about a number of interesting characteristics that allow the "immortality" of the germline: PGCs for example give rise to haploid gametes, possess highly regulated transcriptional genetic programming, and have specialized epigenetic regulation (reviewed in [8]). Once in the gonads, germ cells can develop into oocytes or sperm through a sex-dependent maturation process - oogenesis or spermatogenesis, respectively - that includes the transition from a diploid to a haploid state through meiosis [9]. The fusion of the haploid gametes results in a diploid totipotent cell – the zygote – which is the origin of a complete organism and its extraembryonic structures [10]. The unipotent state of PGCs is therefore very tightly controlled and disruption of the control mechanisms can lead to developmental abnormalities. For example, the migration of PGCs into ectopic sites or abnormal signalling in the gonad can initiate inappropriate pluripotency in germ cells and lead to the development of malignant or benign tumors (called teratocarcinomas or teratomas, respectively)[11]. Moreover, when cultured in vitro, PGCs can give rise to embryonic germ cells, which behave as pluripotent cell line, capable of self-renewal, differentiation and contribution to chimaeras when introduced into an embryo, similar characteristics as embryonic stem cells (ESCs) [12] (Figure 1).

Different animal models have been used to study different aspects of germline biology, ranging from flies, frogs and fish to birds and mammals. This dissertation focuses on PGC migration as they move to the gonads (Chapter 2) and meiosis (Chapter 3) in the chicken embryo.



Figure 1. The immortal germline. Primoridal germ cells (PGCs) are unipotent cells that are the progenitors of the oocytes and sperm. When fused, oocyte and sperm give rise to the zygote, a totipotent cell that will develop into a complete organism. During abnormal development, PGCs give rise to teratomas, that demonstrate their pluripotent characteristics. When cultured *in vitro*, PGCs can also acquire pluripotency (EGs).

ON THE ORIGIN OF PGCs: EPIGENESIS AND PREFORMATION

Due to the importance of PGCs in development and evolution, the mechanisms regulating germline specification are strictly regulated during development. PGCs are specified early in development, a processed defined by the segregation of the germline from the somatic line [8]. Although the germline represents a major evolutionary step that enabled sexual reproduction in the metazoan species, PGC specification mechanisms are not conserved. Two main mechanisms are responsible for the development of PGCs in vertebrates: epigenesis and preformation (reviewed in [13]).

Preformation. In the late nineteenth century August Weissman introduced the concepts of germline and soma. He suggested that the oocyte contained germ plasm from the mother and that this plasm was responsible for the specification of germ cells after fertilization [14]. Robert Hegner was the first to identify germ granules, in which the germ plasm is transported, in the germ cells of beetles. They introduced the first concepts of "preformation", the process by which germ cell precursors are defined by maternal factors contained in the egg [8]. This was later shown to be responsible for the development of germ cells in *C. elegans*, *D. melanogaster*, *D. renio*, *X. laevis* and *G. gallus* [15].

The most well documented organism with respect to germline development is the fly. In the fruitfly Drosophila, PGC segregation depends on the asymmetrical deposition of germ plasm in the posterior pole region of the oocyte, where the germline forms [16, 17]. The development of the embryo consists of the formation of a syncytium, meaning that the embryo goes through nuclear divisions without cell division, from the center to the periphery of the oval-shaped Drosophila embryo. The nuclear division in the pole leads to the formation of PGC precursors, and the cells are individualized (i.e. not only do the nuclei divide, but cells form earlier than in the rest of the embryo) and called pole cells [18]. During gastrulation around 40 pole cells containing germ plasm, composed of maternal proteins and mRNA, are carried into the embryo [15]. The germ plasm is responsible for the activation of a germline genetic program that promotes the specification of PGCs [19]. The molecular content of the germ plasm has been determined largely through the analysis of mutant flies [19, 20]. The fact that female mutants for certain genes, such as vasa, valois or tudor, do not develop germ cells, revealed the importance of these factors in PGC development in flies [21]. In the chicken, it seems that preformation is also the mechanism underlying PGC specification. In 2000, the isolation of a chicken homolog of VASA (CVH) by Naoki Tsunekawa and colleagues allowed the identification of cells expressing CVH from the first cleavage in the chicken embryo: 1) in granulofibrilar structures around the mitochondrial cloud and spectrin protein-enriched structure, and 2) in a germ plasm-like structured localized in

the basal part of the first embryonic cleavage [22].

In chicken embryos, two systems are used to define developmental stages: Eyal-Giladi & Kochav's staging is commonly used from the first cleavage (stage I) until pre-primitive streak stage (stage X) [23]; and Hamburger and Hamilton staging that considers chicken development from early primitive streak (stage HH2) until just before hatching (stage HH45) [24]. Both systems consider morphological landmarks of the chicken embryo. The first embryonic cleavage is therefore defined by Eyal-Giladi & Kochav system as stage I [23]. Following the expression of CVH, after the first embryonic cleavages, it was shown that CVH remained in 6-8 cells located in the center of the blastocyst at stage V. Moreover, *in vitro* experiments have shown that inducing vasa overexpression in chicken stem cells (cSC) upregulates the expression of other germline markers, such as TUDOR, SDF1, CXCR4 and DAZZL [25]. Interestingly, these same cells, induced *in vitro*, were able to migrate to the embryonic gonad [25]. Although this seems to be evidence for the origin of PGCs by preformation in the chicken, functional studies are still necessary to prove this. However, this is presently not possible to do due to the lack of molecular and genetic tools for the chicken.

Epigenesis. In 1947, almost one hundred years after Weissman, Pieter Nieuwkoop, showed that 'unspecialized' cells, localized in the primitive ectoderm of axolotl embryos, could be induced into PGCs [26]. Nieuwkoop's observation led to the suggestion that PGCs can also be induced without the presence of the germ plasm, in a process that is now called epigenesis [26]. Subsequent analysis of gene knockout and transgenic mice revealed part of the mechanism of epigenesis. In mice, it is now known that a population of presumptive PGCs is founded in the posterior part of the embryo at E6.25. This population was first characterized by the expression of Blimp 1, a transcriptional repressor of somatic genes in PGCs [27]. Nowadays it is known that the interaction between three transcription factors, Blimpl, Prdm14 and Ap2Y, controls specification of PGCs in mice. These factors are responsible for the repression of the somatic programme in these cells [28]. At E7.25, a population of 40 PGCs, derived from the presumptive PGCs and localized in the same position, can be identified by Alkaline Phosphatase activity, and expression of Stella [28]. Concerning signaling pathways involved in PGC specification in mice, it has been shown that Bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) 4 plays a crucial role, since BMP4 knockout embryos lack PGC precursors [29]. Other growth factors in the same pathway, such as Bmp2 [30] and Bmp8b [31], also produced by the extraembryonic tissues and acting via Smad1 [32, 33], Smad5 [34] and Alk2 [35], have been shown to have important roles in the specification of PGCs. In contrast to what happens in preformation, in principle all epiblast cells can differentiate into PGCs in the presence of the above signaling cues, since this does not depend on the presence of germ plasm. Recently, Katsuhiko Hayashi and colleagues were able to recapitulate in vitro the

signaling cues necessary to produce eggs from mouse embryonic stem cells (mESC) and mouse-induced pluripotent stem cells (mIPSC) [36, 37]. Although there are differences between mouse and human PGCs, studies in mice have been fundamental in bringing us closer to producing human gametes *in vitro* [38].

ON THE ROAD: THE MIGRATORY ROUTE OF CHICKEN PGCs

After specification, PGCs are maintained outside the developing embryo, most likely to avoid signals that could compromise their strictly-controlled developmental program. When the basic pattern of the organism is formed, PGCs migrate from their place of origin to meet the somatic cells of the gonads [39]. In the gonads, PGCs continue their development into oogonia or spermatogonia in the female or male gonads respectively [40]. PGC migration mechanisms are also not conserved between organisms.

In the mouse, at E7.25 PGCs are localized in the base of the allantois from where they start to migrate to where the genital ridges will form [41]. From the base of the allantois, PGCs migrate to the adjacent endoderm, which will develop into the hindgut [42]. At E8.5 PGCs are found migrating along the midline of the embryo, from the hindgut through the dorsal mesentery. At around E10.5, PGCs reach the genital ridges [42] (Figure 2). The interaction of Sdf-1 and its receptor Cxcl12 is fundamental to chemotaxis of PGCs toward the genital ridges. In mice it was shown that the use of Sdf-1-coated beads in slice cultures of mouse embryos caused defective movements of PGCs and decreased survival [43, 44]. Moreover, homozygous knockout mice lacking Cdx2 show a dramatic decrease in the number of germ cells colonizing the genital ridges. This interaction seems to be important for the behavior of germ cells once they leave the hindgut [44].

In contrast to what happens in the mouse, in the chicken embryo the migration of PGCs occurs through the vascular system and starts from the anterior part of the embryo. Tsunekawa et al. [22]. From the germinal crescent, PGCs start to accumulate in the extraembryonic mesoderm between stages HH4-8. At stage HH10 blood islands start to form in the splanchnopleure, and since PGCs are localized in the mesoderm, from there they ingress into the vascular system. At around stage HH12, PGCs begin to appear in the extra-embryonic blood, and at stage HH14 they start to colonize the gonads (reviewed in [45]) (Figure 2).

The vascular system guides them to the posterior region of the embryo, where the genital ridges are localized. At stage HH17 the majority of PGCs is localized in the gonads [46]. Regarding chemotaxis, SDF-1/CXCL2 interaction seems to be conserved

between mice and chicken. In the chicken a role for SDF-1/CXCL2 has been shown in directing the migration of chicken PGCs toward the genital ridges, at stages HH11-16, when the cells are already migrating through the vasculature [47]. In Chapter 2 we describe the migration of chicken PGCs from the extraembryonic circulation into the embryo using CVH as a PGC marker. We show for the first time the role of the anterior vitelline veins in this process.



Figure 2. Migration of PGCs in the mouse and chicken. In the mouse, PGCs are specified in the proximal epiblast. At E8 PGCs are localized in the base of the allantois. From there, they migrate to the future gonads along the hindgut (Lateral view of the mouse embryo). In the chicken, at the beginning of gastrulation the primitive streak develops and localizes PGCs in the anterior region, where the germinal crescent is formed. At HH10, germ cells are localized at the anterior region of the head. At HH14 the cells migrate into the embryo through the anterior vitelline veins. (Top view of the chicken embryo).

THE CURIOUS CASE OF CHICKEN GONADOGENESIS: ASYMMETRY, MEIOSIS AND CANCER DEVELOPMENT

The genital ridges, precursors of the gonads, arise at stage HH20 in the ventromedial surface of the mesonephros, and constitute two macrosymmetrical structures, right and left, before sexual differentiation [48] (Figure 3). Undifferentiated female and male gonads are composed of the inner cortex and outer medulla [49]. The migration of PGCs toward the genital ridges occurs before sexual differentiation in an asymmetric way, since the right gonad generally presents more cells than the left gonad, in males and females, in early stages of development stages HH15-30 [50]. Although there are differences in terms of germ cell colonization, before the sexual differentiation there is almost no detectable morphological asymmetry between right and left. The development of the cortex, which is thicker in the left gonad in both sexes, is an exception to this [51].

Only during sexual differentiation, which starts at around stages HH29-30, do differences in morphology and size between right and left gonads start to be more pronounced in females compared to males (Figure. 3) [49]. As a result, in males both gonads develop into a functional testis while in females only the left gonad develops into a functional ovary [49, 51].

Differential genetic expression in males and females leads to differences in the sexual morphology of the gonads. On the one hand, embryological testes have a greater medullary development, and the testicular cords containing germ cells will develop in that layer. On the other hand, the ovary presents a pronounced development of the cortex that will host the female germ cells [52]. DMRT1 [53] and SOX9 [54] seem to contribute to the male phenotype, while HINTW [55], FET1 [56] and FOXL2 [57] contribute to the female phenotype.

Regarding the pronounced asymmetry between the right and left gonad in the females, PITX2 [58], BMP7 [59] and estrogen receptor α (ER α) [60] seem to have a determinant role, but little detail is known on their signalling pathways in chicken. PITX2, known to determine asymmetry in other model animals (reviewed in [61]), seems to contribute to cell proliferation in the left cortex of the chicken ovary [58]. *BMP* 7 is also expressed asymmetrically in the gonads, and seems to act early in gonadogenesis [59]. *ER* α is also expressed asymmetrically but its role in gonadogenesis is still unclear [62]. Moreover, it has not been studied whether this asymmetric development of chicken ovaries also affects meiosis. Indeed, the right ovary has often been neglected in germ cell studies, since it has been thought that germ cells in the right gonad are degenerating [63]. In order to understand the effect of asymmetry in the chicken ovary, we have analyzed the dynamics of the expression of meiotic markers – synaptonemal complex protein 3 (SYCP3) and phosphorylated histone H2A (H2AFX) - in both, right and left gonads, in both, male and female. Our results are presented in Chapter 4. We suggest that the localization of germ cells with respect to the left versus right gonad, cortex versus medulla of the left gonad, and central part versus the extremities versus the left cortex, influences meiotic maturation of the germ cells.

The adult hen is a model for epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC) in humans [64]. EOC is the most lethal gynaecological cancer, and the fifth cause of death in cancer-related mortality in women [65]. This is due to lack of treatments that specifically target EOC, difficulty in recognizing the symptoms and the wide spread of the disease in the peritoneal cavity [66]. Various models have been used to understand the mechanisms underlying the disease, including fruit flies, mice, *in vitro* models and the hen. In Chapter 5 we discuss the advantages of the avian model compared with other models in EOC. Moreover, we suggest that studying genes that are differentially expressed in chickens during asymmetric gonadogenesis and expressed in human EOC, such as *PITX2*, could offer a model to study the molecular basis of EOC in humans.



Figure 3. Assymetric gonadogenesis in the chicken. Before sexual differentiation (Stages HH15-30), the differences between the right and left gonad are not visible macroscopically. Only with the beginning of sexual differentiation at stage HH30, the differences between the right and left gonad start to be more pronounced between left and right gonad in the female chicken. This differences allow to distinguish female and male embryos, since the left gonad is distinticvely bigger when compared with the right gonad. In males the both gonads are the same size.

THE DEVELOPMENT OF EXTRAEMBRYONIC MEMBRANES IN AMNIOTES

As discussed previously, in the mouse embryo the PGCs are localized in the base of the allantois before they start to migrate, while avian PGCs use the vessels of the yolk sac to migrate into the embryo. Allantois and yolk sac are part of the extraembryonic membranes of amniotes and there is a tight relationship between their development and the initial developmental dynamics of PGCs. How does extraembryonic development occur? In amniotes, the embryo develops in a blastodisc on top of the yolk mass, and during gastrulation, the borders between embryo and extraembryonic membranes are not clearly defined [64]. Only after gastrulation is complete, when the embryo is already taking shape, do the endoderm and mesoderm (splanchnopleure) form the yolk sac and allantois, while the ectoderm and mesoderm (somatopleure) start to form the amnion and the chorion. In between the somatopleure and splanchnopleure, a cavity is formed – the extraembryonic coelom [67].

The splanchnopleure of the yolk sac contributes to the development of a vascular network, that is part of the first functional organ system in the embryo – the cardiovascular system. The activation of FGF-receptor in the splanchnopleure activates the differentiation of blood islands: angioblasts in the area pellucida and angioblasts and hematopoietic cells in the area opaca and paraaortic clusters [68]. The endothelial cells are then responsible for connecting the blood islands and remodeling blood vessels into a branched network that will cover the entire yolk sac. The process of vasculogenesis, the formation of the blood vessels, is followed by angiogenesis – capillary sprouting, splitting and remodeling – that leads to a reorganization of the vascular network. Moreover, after the heart starts beating, the resulting hemodynamics will have an important role in remodeling its branching and growth [68]. The development of the vascular network is a complex process, which starts at stages HH8-13 and is only defined at stage HH18 [69]. At the same time, the allantois, also derived from the splanchnopleure, connects to the extraembryonic coelom, and stores toxic by-products [70].

On the other hand somatopleure will give rise to the amnion and the chorion, and does not have angiogenic properties. Amniogenesis, the development of the amnion, starts with the formation of an anterior amnion fold that will involve the head from anterior to posterior [70]. As the anterior amnion fold develops, it will fuse with its posterior counterpart in the middle of the embryo after 72 hours of incubation, at stage HH18 [70]. When the two amnion folds fuse, the chorion and the amnion are separated from each other: the amnion surrounds the embryo in the amniotic cavity filled with amniotic fluid, and protects the embryo from desiccation, while the chorion underlies the inner surface of the shell, and allows gas exchange. The initial steps of amniogenesis in

the chicken are described in detail in Chapter 5. Our results revisit an old model [71] for amnion formation, where the proamnion plays an important role.

AIM AND OUTLINE OF THIS THESIS

The mechanisms underlying PGC biology have been extensively studied in different organisms over the last several centuries. Nonetheless, many underlying mechanisms governing PGC behaviour are still unclear and deserve a more detailed analysis. The aim of this thesis is to study the migration of PGCs and meiosis in the chicken embryo. We also discuss the advantages and applicability of the avian model for ovarian cancer research in humans. Furthermore, we provide experimental evidence for the role of the proamnion in amnion development in the chicken, a structure that is often neglected in the literature.

In **Chapter 2** the migration route of germ cells from the extraembryonic circulation into the chicken embryo is described in detail. We show that SSEA1 is not a good marker for chicken PGCs at this time of development, since not all CVH-positive cells stain with an anti-SSEA1 antibody. Focusing on CVH as a marker for PGCs, we analyze the position of PGCs in the chicken embryo between stages HH10-19. We redefine the migration route of PGCs, providing evidence that the anterior vitelline veins are the main vehicles of transportation of germ cells from the anterior region of the extraembryonic vasculature into the genital ridges.

In **Chapter 3** we show a detailed analysis of the expression of two different markers SYCP3 and H2AFX. We conclude that there is no evidence for apoptosis of germ cells localized in the right ovary as had been suggested by other authors. Moreover we demonstrate that differences in the expression of meiotic markers reveal three different aspects influencing the meiotic maturation of germ cells localized in female chicken gonads: their localization in the left or right gonad, cortex or medulla in the right gonad, and their position in the left cortex.

Chapter 4 provides a review of the use of different models in the study of epithelial ovarian cancer. We focus on the advantages of using the avian model, such as the similarities with the disease in humans, in improving the outcome of clinical research.

Chapter 5 describes chicken amniogenesis. We revisit an old model in amnion formation proposed in 1888 by Shore and Pickering. We provide a detailed anatomical study, revealing the importance of the proamnion in the correct formation of the amnion. The role of the proamnion in chicken amniogenesis is often ignored in the literature. For

the first time, we show, through functional assays, the importance of sinking of the head in the proamnion for the development of the anterior amnion fold.

Finally, **Chapter 6** provides a general discussion of the results obtained in the previous chapters. Moreover, we discuss the study of germ cell development in chickens and also its importance in pluripotency studies in a non-mammalian model.

REFERENCES

- 1. Surani MA. Genetics: immaculate misconception. Nature. 2002;416(6880):491-3.
- 2. Ruestow EG. Images and ideas: Leeuwenhoek's perception of the spermatozoa. Journal of the history of biology. 1983;16(2):185-224.
- 3. Karamanou M, Poulakou-Rebelakou E, Tzetis M, Androutsos G. Anton van Leeuwenhoek (1632-1723): father of micromorphology and discoverer of spermatozoa. Rev Argent Microbiol. 2010;42(4):311-4.
- 4. Briggs E, Wessel GM. In the beginning...animal fertilization and sea urchin development. Dev Biol. 2006;300(1):15-26.
- 5. Richardson BE, Lehmann R. Mechanisms guiding primordial germ cell migration: strategies from different organisms. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology. 2010;11(1):37-49.
- 6. Moore H, Aflatoonian B. From stem cells to spermatozoa and back. Soc Reprod Fertil Suppl. 2007;65:19-32.
- 7. Surani MA. Germ cells: the eternal link between generations. Comptes rendus biologies. 2007;330(6-7):474-8.
- 8. Lesch BJ, Page DC. Genetics of germ cell development. Nature reviews Genetics. 2012;13(11):781-94.
- 9. Ward JO, Reinholdt LG, Hartford SA, Wilson LA, Munroe RJ, Schimenti KJ, et al. Toward the genetics of mammalian reproduction: induction and mapping of gametogenesis mutants in mice. Biology of reproduction. 2003;69(5):1615-25.
- Clift D, Schuh M. Restarting life: fertilization and the transition from meiosis to mitosis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2013;14(9):549-62.
- 11. Stevens LC. Germ cell origin of testicular and ovarian teratomas. Transplant Proc. 1984;16(2):502-4.
- 12. Leitch HG, Blair K, Mansfield W, Ayetey H, Humphreys P, Nichols J, et al. Embryonic germ cells from mice and rats exhibit properties consistent with a generic pluripotent ground state. Development. 2010;137(14):2279-87.
- 13. Strome S, Updike D. Specifying and protecting germ cell fate. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology. 2015;16(7):406-16.
- 14. Crother BI, White ME, Johnson AD. Inferring developmental constraint and constraint release: primordial germ cell determination mechanisms as examples. J Theor Biol. 2007;248(2):322-30.
- 15. Extavour CG, Akam M. Mechanisms of germ cell specification across the metazoans: epigenesis and preformation. Development. 2003;130(24):5869-84.

20 | Chapter 1

- 16. Sinsimer KS, Jain RA, Chatterjee S, Gavis ER. A late phase of germ plasm accumulation during *Drosophila* oogenesis requires lost and rumpelstiltskin. Development. 2011;138(16):3431-40.
- Gavis ER, Lehmann R. Localization of nanos RNA controls embryonic polarity. Cell. 1992;71(2):301-13.
- Edgar BA, Schubiger G. Parameters controlling transcriptional activation during early Drosophila development. Cell. 1986;44(6):871-7.
- 19. Okada M. Germline cell formation in *Drosophila* embryogenesis. Genes & genetic systems. 1998;73(1):1-8.
- Rongo C, Broihier HT, Moore L, Van Doren M, Forbes A, Lehmann R. Germ plasm assembly and germ cell migration in *Drosophila*. Cold Spring Harbor symposia on quantitative biology. 1997;62:1-11. P
- 21. Williamson A, Lehmann R. Germ cell development in *Drosophila*. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 1996;12:365-9
- 22. Tsunekawa N, Naito M, Sakai Y, Nishida T, Noce T. Isolation of chicken vasa homolog gene and tracing the origin of primordial germ cells. Development. 2000;127(12):2741-5
- 23. Eyal-Giladi H, Kochav S. From cleavage to primitive streak formation: a complementary normal table and a new look at the first stages of the development of the chick. I. General morphology. Dev Biol. 1976;49(2):321-3
- Hamburger V, Hamilton HL. A series of normal stages in the development of the chick embryo. J Morphol. 1951;88(1):49-92.
- Lavial F, Acloque H, Bachelard E, Nieto MA, Samarut J, Pain B. Ectopic expression of Cvh (Chicken Vasa homologue) mediates the reprogramming of chicken embryonic stem cells to a germ cell fate. Dev Biol. 2009;330(1):73-82.
- Nieuwkoop P. SL. Primordial Germ Cells in the Chordates: Embryogenesis and phylogenesis 1979.
- Ohinata Y, Payer B, O'Carroll D, Ancelin K, Ono Y, Sano M, et al. Blimp1 is a critical determinant of the germ cell lineage in mice. Nature. 2005;436(7048):207-13.
- Magnusdottir E, Dietmann S, Murakami K, Gunesdogan U, Tang F, Bao S, et al. A tripartite transcription factor network regulates primordial germ cell specification in mice. Nat Cell Biol. 2013;15(8):905-15.
- Lawson KA, Dunn NR, Roelen BA, Zeinstra LM, Davis AM, Wright CV, et al. Bmp4 is required for the generation of primordial germ cells in the mouse embryo. Genes Dev. 1999;13(4):424-36.
- 30. Ying Y, Zhao GQ. Cooperation of endoderm-derived BMP2 and extraembryonic ectoderm-derived BMP4 in primordial germ cell generation in the mouse. Dev Biol. 2001;232(2):484-92.
- 31. Ying Y, Liu XM, Marble A, Lawson KA, Zhao GQ. Requirement of Bmp8b for the generation of primordial germ cells in the mouse. Mol Endocrinol. 2000;14(7):1053-63.
- Hayashi K, Kobayashi T, Umino T, Goitsuka R, Matsui Y, Kitamura D. SMAD1 signaling is critical for initial commitment of germ cell lineage from mouse epiblast. Mechanisms of development. 2002;118(1-2):99-109.
- 33. Tremblay KD, Dunn NR, Robertson EJ. Mouse embryos lacking Smad1 signals display defects in extra-embryonic tissues and germ cell formation. Development. 2001;128(18):3609-21.
- Chang H, Matzuk MM. Smad5 is required for mouse primordial germ cell development. Mechanisms of development. 2001;104(1-2):61-7.

- 35. de Sousa Lopes SM, Roelen BA, Monteiro RM, Emmens R, Lin HY, Li E, et al. BMP signaling mediated by ALK2 in the visceral endoderm is necessary for the generation of primordial germ cells in the mouse embryo. Genes & development. 2004;18(15):1838-
- Hayashi K, Ohta H, Kurimoto K, Aramaki S, Saitou M. Reconstitution of the mouse germ cell specification pathway in culture by pluripotent stem cells. Cell. 2011;146(4):519-32.
- 37. Hayashi K, Saitou M. Generation of eggs from mouse embryonic stem cells and induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature protocols. 2013;8(8):1513-24.
- 38. Irie N, Weinberger L, Tang WW, Kobayashi T, Viukov S, Manor YS, et al. SOX17 is a critical specifier of human primordial germ cell fate. Cell. 2015;160(1-2):253-68.
- Starz-Gaiano M, Lehmann R. Moving towards the next generation. Mech Dev. 2001;105(1-2):5-18.
- 40. Tanaka SS, Nishinakamura R. Regulation of male sex determination: genital ridge formation and Sry activation in mice. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2014;71(24):4781-802.
- 41. Saitou M, Yamaji M. Primordial germ cells in mice. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2012;4(11).
- 42. Molyneaux KA, Stallock J, Schaible K, Wylie C. Time-lapse analysis of living mouse germ cell migration. Dev Biol. 2001;240(2):488-98.
- 43. Doitsidou M, Reichman-Fried M, Stebler J, Koprunner M, Dorries J, Meyer D, et al. Guidance of primordial
- Molyneaux KA, Zinszner H, Kunwar PS, Schaible K, Stebler J, Sunshine MJ, et al. The chemokine SDF1/CXCL12 and its receptor CXCR4 regulate mouse germ cell migration and survival. Development. 2003;130(18):4279-86.
- 45. Nakamura Y, Kagami H, Tagami T. Development, differentiation and manipulation of chicken germ cells. Development, growth & differentiation. 2013;55(1):20-40.
- 46. Fujimoto T, Ukeshima A, Kiyofuji R. The origin, migration and morphology of the primordial germ cells in the chick embryo. Anat Rec. 1976;185(2):139-45.
- Stebler J, Spieler D, Slanchev K, Molyneaux KA, Richter U, Cojocaru V, et al. Primordial germ cell migration in the chick and mouse embryo: the role of the chemokine SDF-1/ CXCL12. Dev Biol. 2004;272(2):351-61.
- 48. Carlon N, Stahl A. Origin of the somatic components in chick embryonic gonads. Arch Anat Microsc Morphol Exp. 1985;74(1):52-9.
- 49. Smith CA, Sinclair AH. Sex determination: insights from the chicken. Bioessays. 2004;26(2):120-32.
- 50. Nakamura Y, Yamamoto Y, Usui F, Mushika T, Ono T, Setioko AR, et al. Migration and proliferation of primordial germ cells in the early chicken embryo. Poult Sci. 2007;86(10):2182-93.
- 51. Zaccanti F, Vallisneri M, Quaglia A. Early aspects of sex differentiation in the gonads of chick embryos. Differentiation. 1990;43(2):71-80.
- 52. Smith CA, Roeszler KN, Hudson QJ, Sinclair AH. Avian sex determination: what, when and where? Cytogenet Genome Res. 2007;117(1-4):165-73.
- 53. Smith CA, Roeszler KN, Ohnesorg T, Cummins DM, Farlie PG, Doran TJ, et al. The avian Z-linked gene DMRT1 is required for male sex determination in the chicken. Nature. 2009;461(7261):267-71.
- 54. Kent J, Wheatley SC, Andrews JE, Sinclair AH, Koopman P. A male-specific role for SOX9 in vertebrate sex determination. Development. 1996;122(9):2813-22.
- 55. Smith CA, Roeszler KN, Sinclair AH. Genetic evidence against a role for W-linked histidine triad nucleotide binding protein (HINTW) in avian sex determination. Int J Dev
- 22 | Chapter 1

Biol. 2009;53(1):59-67.

- Reed KJ, Sinclair AH. FET-1: a novel W-linked, female specific gene up-regulated in the embryonic chicken ovary. Mech Dev. 2002;119 Suppl 1:S87-90.
- 57. Hudson QJ, Smith CA, Sinclair AH. Aromatase inhibition reduces expression of FOXL2 in the embryonic chicken ovary. Dev Dyn. 2005;233(3):1052-5.
- 58. Guioli S, Lovell-Badge R. PITX2 controls asymmetric gonadal development in both sexes of the chick and can rescue the degeneration of the right ovary. Development. 2007;134(23):4199-208.
- 59. Hoshino A, Koide M, Ono T, Yasugi S. Sex-specific and left-right asymmetric expression pattern of Bmp7 in the gonad of normal and sex-reversed chicken embryos. Dev Growth Differ. 2005;47(2):65-74.
- Mattsson A, Olsson JA, Brunstrom B. Activation of estrogen receptor alpha disrupts differentiation of the reproductive organs in chicken embryos. General and comparative endocrinology. 2011;172(2):251-9.
- 61. Levin M. Left-right asymmetry in embryonic development: a comprehensive review. Mech Dev. 2005;122(1):3-25.
- Nakabayashi O, Kikuchi H, Kikuchi T, Mizuno S. Differential expression of genes for aromatase and estrogen receptor during the gonadal development in chicken embryos. J Mol Endocrinol. 1998;20(2):193-202.
- 63. Ukeshima A. Germ cell death in the degenerating right ovary of the chick embryo. Zoolog Sci. 1996;13(4):559-63.
- 64. Johnson PA, Giles JR. The hen as a model of ovarian cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2013;13(6):432-6.
- 65. Lowe KA, Chia VM, Taylor A, O'Malley C, Kelsh M, Mohamed M, et al. An international assessment of ovarian cancer incidence and mortality. Gynecol Oncol. 2013;130(1):107-14.
- 66. Vaughan S, Coward JI, Bast RC, Jr., Berchuck A, Berek JS, Brenton JD, et al. Rethinking ovarian cancer: recommendations for improving outcomes. Nat Rev Cancer. 2011;11(10):719-25.
- 67. A. GSaR. Embryology, Constructing the Organism: Sinauer Associates, Inc.; 1997.
- 68. le Noble F, Fleury V, Pries A, Corvol P, Eichmann A, Reneman RS. Control of arterial branching morphogenesis in embryogenesis: go with the flow. Cardiovasc Res. 2005;65(3):619-28.
- 69. Styp-Rekowska B, Hlushchuk R, Pries AR, Djonov V. Intussusceptive angiogenesis: pillars against the blood flow. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2011;202(3):213-23.
- 70. Adamstone FB. Experiments on the development of the amnion in the chick. J Morphol. 1948;83(3):359-71.
- 71. Shore TW, Pickering JW. The Proamnion and Amnion in the Chick. J Anat Physiol. 1889;24(Pt 1):1-21.



2

Chicken primordial germ cells use the anterior vitelline veins to enter the embryonic circulation

Ana de Melo Bernardo¹, Kaylee Sprenkels¹, Gabriela Rodrigues², Toshiaki Noce³ and Susana M. Chuva De Sousa Lopes¹

> ¹Department of Anatomy and Embryology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands; ²Centro de Biologia Ambiental e Departamento de Biologia Animal, Faculdade de Ciências, Universidade de Lisboa, Lisboa, Portugal; ³Department of Physiology, Keio University School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan

> > In Biology Open. 2012; 1(11):1146-52

ABSTRACT

During gastrulation, chicken primordial germ cells (PGCs) are present in an extraembryonic region of the embryo from where they migrate towards the genital ridges. This is also observed in mammals, but in chicken the vehicle used by the migratory PGCs is the vascular system. We have analysed the migratory pathway of chicken PGCs, focusing on the period of transition from the extraembryonic region to the intraembryonic vascular system.

Our findings show that at Hamburger and Hamilton developmental stage HH12–HH14 the majority of PGCs concentrate axially in the sinus terminalis and favour transport axially via the anterior vitelline veins into the embryonic circulation. Moreover, directly blocking the blood flow through the anterior vitelline veins resulted in an accumulation of PGCs in the anterior region and a decreased number of PGCs in the genital ridges. We further confirmed the key role for the anterior vitelline veins in the correct migration of PGCs using an *ex ovo* culture method that resulted in defective morphogenetic development of the anterior vitelline veins.

We propose a novel model for the migratory pathway of chicken PGCs whereby the anterior vitelline veins play a central role at the extraembryonic and embryonic interface. The chicken model of PGC migration through the vasculature may be a powerful tool to study the process of homing (inflammation and metastasis) due to the striking similarities in regulatory signalling pathways (SDF1–CXCR4) and the transient role of the vasculature.

INTRODUCTION

Early during the development of amniotes, the germline is segregated from the somatic cell lineages. This is an important event because the primordial germ cells (PGCs), the precursors of the oocytes and sperm, carry the genetic information throughout generations and are therefore the engine of evolution, contributing to genetic variability in sexually reproducing animals [1]. Even though PGCs can be formed by two distinct mechanisms, epigenesis and preformation, they show some common characteristics, including early segregation, similar morphology cross-species [2] and a distinct migratory period from a peripheral or extraembryonic location to the place where the somatic gonad compartments are formed. Understanding the details surrounding the migration of PGCs is important because an aberrant migration can cause cancer and infertility (reviewed by [3]). Interestingly, in *Gallus gallus* the PGCs migrate from an anterior location towards the genital ridge compartment, whereas in *Mus musculus* the PGCs migrate from a posterior/caudal location towards the genital ridges [4].

In chicken, the staining method classically used to distinguish PGCs from the somatic cells was the periodic acid-Schiff (PAS) staining [5]. There are also immunological markers against cell-surface glycoproteins present in PGCs, like SSEA1, which is commonly used to identify mammalian and chicken PGCs. However, SSEA1 is not restricted to chicken or mammalian PGCs, but is found in several types of undifferentiated multipotent mouse and chicken cells [6, 7]. More recently, Tsunekawa and colleagues identified the chicken vasa homolog (*CVH*) gene and have shown its germline-specific expression [8]. The function of *VASA* is not well understood, but it has been shown that vasa is indispensable for germ cell development and it is present in the germline of many animal species, suggesting a conserved role throughout evolution (reviewed by [3]). Immunohistochemical analyses, using specific antibodies against CVH protein, demonstrated that CVH-expressing cells were detectable during early embryogenesis of chicken embryos, starting from the first cleavage of fertilized eggs,[8], suggesting that a preformation mode of germline specification was adopted in chicken.

At stage X [the roman numerals refer to the staging system used by Eyal-Giladi and Kochav, [9] the PGCs are localized in the central zone of the area pellucida, on the ventral surface of the epiblast [10]. At this stage, the PGCs are gradually translocated from the epiblast to an extra-embryonic structure, the hypoblast and carried anteriorly by the hypoblast to the so-called germinal crescent region, away from the primitive streak that starts to move forward from the posterior area of the blastodisc [10]. At HH4–5 [referring to the staging system used by Hamburger and Hamilton in 1951, and reprinted in 1992 [11], the germinal crescent containing the PGCs is localized at the border region between the area pellucida and area opaca, anterior to the developing embryonic disk [12, 13]. The PGCs move from the hypoblast layer to accumulate in the extraembryonic mesoderm localized between the ectoderm and hypoblast. Subsequently, the PGCs become lodged in the vascular system as the blood islands are formed in the yolk sac around HH10 and by HH12 use those extraembryonic blood vessels as a vehicle to reach the embryo [5, 12, 13]. By HH15, the PGCs start leaving the vascular system close to the genital ridges, just caudally from the vitelline arteries and by HH17 the majority of the PGCs have settled in the genital ridges [5, 13-16]. The mechanism by which the PGCs enter the vascular system is less well understood than the mechanism by which the PGCs exit the vascular system (SDF1–CXCR4) to colonize the gonads [17] that has clear similarities with the process of homing of lymphocytes during inflammation and tumor metastasis [18, 19].

Here, we have investigated the vasculatory route used by the PGCs from the extraembryonic germinal crescent to the intraembryonic vascular system as this has also not been well described to date. We observed that PGCs concentrate and make effective use of the two large calibre blood vessels that flow into the embryo from left and right: the anterior part of the sinus terminalis and the anterior vitelline veins. A defective development of the anterior vitelline veins or the direct blocking of the blood flow through the vitelline veins resulted in an accumulation of PGCs anteriorly and a concomitant decrease in the number of PGCs that reached the genital ridges. We propose a novel model of PGC migration in chicken embryos.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Embryo collection and manipulation

Fertilized White Leghorn chicken (*Gallus gallus*) eggs were incubated in a humidified atmosphere at 37.0°C until the desired HH stage [11]. Embryos were washed and manipulated on 2% agar-coated petri dishes containing phosphate buffer solution (PBS). The vitelline membrane was removed, the embryos were isolated with intact area opaca and pellucida and fixed overnight (o/n) at 4°C either in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for whole mount immunofluorescence or in Bouin's solution (Sigma) for immunohistochemistry and stored in PBS at 4°C until further use.

Whole mount immunofluorescence

Fixed embryos were permeabilized with 0.5% Triton (Sigma) in PBS (PBT) o/n at 4°C with rotation. Thereafter, they were washed in PBS and incubated 24 hours at 4°C with the first antibodies diluted in 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA, Fraction V) (Gibco) in PBS. The first antibodies used were rabbit anti-CVH IgG at 1:500 and mouse anti-SSEA1 IgM (TG1) at 1:10. Next, the embryos were washed in PBS for 1 hour and incubated with the respective secondary antibodies diluted in 1% BSA/PBS for 24 hours at 4°C. The secondary antibodies used were Alexa Fluor 488 donkey anti-rabbit IgG (Molecular Probes) and Alexa Fluor 568 goat anti-mouse IgM (Molecular Probes), both used at 1:1000. The embryos had a final rinse in PBS and were enclosed with Vectashield with Dapi (Vector), covered with a cover glass and sealed with nail polish. For this analysis, we considered only embryos that showed normal morphology, including the presence of PGCs. The total number of PGCs per embryo was counted and plotted.

Immunohistochemistry

For paraffin inclusion, embryos from HH13 were dehydrated following a graded series of ethanol (70%, 80%, 90% and 100%) and cleared in xylene. The embryos were individually embedded in paraffin (2×30 minutes) at 70°C and stored at 4°C. The embryos were sectioned (transverse sections, 5 µm) using a rotatory microtome RM2255 (Leica, Nussloch, Germany). The sections were rehydrated starting with xylene and followed by a decreasing series of ethanol (100%, 90%, 80%, 70%) followed by milli-Q water and PBS. The inhibition of endogenous peroxidase activity was performed by treatment with a freshly prepared 0.3% H2O2 in PBS for 20 minutes at room temperature (RT). Next, the

sections were blocked for 1 hour at RT in fresh 1% BSA/PBS. The slides were incubated with rabbit anti-CVH IgG at 1:500 diluted in blocking o/n at 4°C, washed in PBS and incubated with BrightVision Poly-HRP anti-rabbit (Immunologic) for 30 minutes at RT. Thereafter, the slides were washed first with PBS, than with 0.05M Tris-maleate buffer (pH 7.6), revealed with a solution of 0.4 mg/ml 3,3-diaminobenzidine (DAB) and finally counterstained with Mayer's Hematoxylin. The sections were washed in water, dehydrated in an increasing series of ethanol and finally xylene. Thereafter, the samples were mounted in Entellan (Merck). For this analysis, we considered only embryos that showed normal morphology, including the presence of PGCs. The total number of PGCs per embryo was counted and plotted.

In ovo clamp experiments

At HH14, an opening was made in the shell of eggs and part of the vitelline membrane was removed to expose the embryo and some drops of PBS were added to avoid embryo drought. To block blood flow though the anterior vitelline veins a knot was tied using a small semicircular multipass needle attached to a prolene monofilament (Ethicon). The opening made in the eggs was closed and the eggs incubated for 6 hours (until HH15). The control embryos were treated similarly, but the vitelline veins were not clamped. After the incubation time, the embryos were isolated, fixed in 4% PFA o/n and processed for whole mount immunofluorescence. The total number of PGCs per embryo was counted and statistical analysis to compare the distribution of PGCs in the two groups of embryos was performed using the non-parametric Mann–Whitney test.

Ex ovo culture of chicken embryos

Preparation of the embryos for *ex ovo* culture was performed as described [20]. This culture system allows the growth of chicken embryos without the vitelline membrane in a fish embryo-like topology on top of a "mini yolk sac-like". HH5 embryos were removed from the egg, cleared of excessive yolk with PBS and folded by the anterior–posterior axis into a half circle. Forceps were used to gently press the edges of the area opaca together to create a "sealed" half circle. Outside the sealed area, the rest of the area opaca was cut off with micro scissors and the embryo was left to heal undisturbed for 30 minutes in Pannett–Compton solution [21] at RT. Thereafter, the embryos were cultured for 30 hours (HH13) or 48 hours (HH17) on a petri dish in suspension in medium consisting of a mix 2:1 of thin albumen and Pannett–Compton solution containing 1:300 Penicillin/Streptomycin (Gibco) at 37° C with humidity on air.

30 | Chapter 2

After the incubation time, the embryos were isolated, fixed in 4% PFA o/n and processed for whole mount immunofluorescence.

Image acquisition and analysis

Whole mount embryos were imaged on a Leica M420 stereoscope (Leica, Rijswijk, the Netherlands) equipped with a Nikon E4500 coolpix camera (Nikon, Tokyo, Japan), fluorescence images were made on a Leica MZFIII stereoscope (Leica, Rijswijk, the Netherlands) equipped with a Leica DFC90 camera (Leica, Heerbrugg, Switzerland) and confocal images were made on a Leica TCS SP5 confocal inverted microscope (Leica, Mannheim, Germany) operating under the Leica Application Suite Advanced Fluorescence software (Leica, Mannheim, Germany). Sections were imaged on an Olympus AX70 microscope (Olympus, Zoeterwoude, Netherlands) equipped with either an Olympus XC50 camera (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan) or a Spot RT3 camera (Diagnostic Instruments, Sterling Heights, MI, USA). For 3D reconstruction, serial paraffin sections immunostained for CVH followed by Hematoxylin staining were digitalized using a Pannoramic MIDI scanner (3D Histech, Budapest, Hungary) and reconstructed with Amira 4.1 software (Visage Imaging, Carlsbad, CA, USA).

RESULTS

The number of chicken PGCs remained constant, but increasing numbers of PGCs expressed SSEA1 between HH8–HH19

We analysed the number of PGCs in White Leghorn chicken embryos between HH5-HH19 (n=42) by whole mount double immunofluorescence for CVH and SSEA1, counting the total number of PGCs present in the embryo, area pellucida and area opaca. We observed a high variation in the total number of PGCs between embryos of the same developmental stage; however, the average number of PGCs present in the germinal crescent at HH5 was similar to the average number of PGCs present in the genital ridges between HH16-HH19. The majority of the embryos exhibited between 200 and 450 PGCs (Fig. 1A). Between HH5-HH7, all the CVH-positive cells were positive for SSEA1 (Fig. 1B), but SSEA1 was observed in many other cells and tissues in the embryo, making SSEA1 an inadequate marker of the germline at those stages. At HH8, SSEA1 was drastically downregulated in the CVH-positive PGCs and was then slowly upregulated in a fraction of the germ cells (Fig. 1B,C) until it stabilized at 60% of the cells by the time the PGCs colonized the genital ridges at HH16-HH19 (Fig. 1B,D). Interestingly, in the typically 3-4 cell clusters of germ cells, already described in 1914 by Swift [13], we often observed both SSEA1-positive and SSEA1-negative cells (Fig. 1E). In agreement, Swift noticed pronounced differences in the volk content and volk coloration among PGCs [13] and this may be directly linked to the heterogeneity observed in SSEA1 staining.

At HH13, the PGCs localized to the sinus terminalis and anterior vitelline veins

We analysed the distribution of the CVH-positive PGCs in detail between HH5–HH19 in whole mount chicken embryos and observed PGCs in three different structures: the area opaca, the area pellucida and the genital ridges (Fig. 2A,B). Between HH5–HH8, the great majority of the PGCs were located at the anterior region of area pellucida, bordering with the area opaca, the germinal crescent (Fig. 2B). However, at HH8–HH10, the PGCs were displaced to the area opaca adjacent to the germinal crescent, where they were predominantly found between HH11–HH12 (Fig. 2B). From there, the PGCs migrated transiently through the anterior area pellucida, towards the embryo, during a period of 12 hours between HH13–HH15. By HH16, the majority of the PGCs had reached the genital ridges (Fig. 2B). The number of PGCs present in the posterior part of the embryo, both in the area opaca and area pellucida, was consistently low during the period of development analysed (Fig. 2B).



Figure 1. Chicken PGCs between HH5–HH19. (A) Total number of CVH positive cells present between HH5–HH19. n is the total number of embryos analyzed. (B) Percentage of SSEA1-positive cells in the CVH-positive population of PGCs between HH5–HH19. n is the total number of embryos analyzed. (C) Expression of CVH and SSEA1 in area pellucida, lateral to the head region at HH12. The PGCs (CVH positive) were SSEA1-positive (white arrows) or SSEA1-negative (yellow arrows). (D) In the genital ridges at HH16 the PGCs (CVH-positive) were SSEA1-positive (white arrows) or SSEA1-negative (yellow arrows). (E) PGCs from the same cluster showed different expression of SSEA1. CVH (green) is expressed in the cytoplasm while SSEA1 (red) expression is restricted to the cell surface. Scale bars: 100 mm in C,D and 5 mm in E.

At HH13, the PGCs start to transit between the anterior region of area opaca, area pellucida and the genital ridges and this coincides with the period of initiation of the (vitelline) blood circulation. Therefore, we zoomed in at HH13 and defined two developmental sub-stages, HH13 and HH13circ. At HH13, the PGCs were relatively dispersed in the anterior central part of the area opaca and anterior central area pellucida (Fig. 2C). However, in some HH13 embryos, the PGCs concentrated in a narrower continuous axial region between the area opaca and the area pellucida (Fig. 2D). Both HH13 and HH13circ embryos contained about 17–19 somites and approximately the same number of PGCs (with similar medians) in the yolk sac in the area opaca and in the area pellucida, the amnion and ectopically, in particular in the head vasculature (Fig. 3A).

The histological analysis and 3D reconstruction of the vasculature and the position of the PGCs confirmed that at HH13circ the majority of PGCs are concentrated in specific blood vessels in the yolk sac, namely in the sinus terminalis (in the area opaca) and continuous to the developing anterior vitelline veins (in the area pelucida) (Fig. 3B). Our observations contrast with the current model where the PGCs were thought to be scattered broadly throughout the yolk sac vasculature and enter the embryo through the omphalomesenteric veins. Also of note was the fact that, at HH13circ the PGCs were clearly present both inside (in the lumen of the vessel) and outside the blood vessels in the yolk sac (Fig. 3C–F), suggesting that they are not simply engulfed by the blood vessels as they form. In addition, PGCs were also observed frequently in the amnion (somatopleura) (Fig. 3G) and ectopically in the vasculature of the embryo head (Fig. 3H). The PGCs in the amnion probably mislocated when the somatopleura (amnion/ chorion) and splanchnopleura (yolk sac) separated.

Finally, we also report that the head (at the level of the prosencephalon) at stage HH13circ, while extending anteriorly, becomes transiently enveloped in the proamnion, a bilaminar tissue consisting of hypoblast and epiblast (and no mesoderm); and, as a result, both the somatopleura (amnion/chorion) and splanchnopleura (yolk sac) are transiently localized above the developing head (Fig. 3E).

The PGCs migrated towards the embryo primarily using the anterior vitelline veins

To experimentally test whether the anterior vitelline veins play a key role in the migration of PGCs from the extraembryonic to the intraembryonic vasculature, we blocked the anterior vitelline veins (by clamping the veins) in embryos at stage HH14 (Fig. 4A) and allowed the embryos to develop *in ovo* for 6 hours (from HH14 to HH15) to check whether that impacted on PGC migration.



Figure 2. Tracking of the migration of PGCs using CVH as a marker. (A) Cartoon defining the different regions analysed during chicken development in several stages (HH5, HH12, HH17): anterior (dark blue/circle) and posterior (light blue/cross) regions of the area opaca; anterior (dark yellow/ circle) and posterior (light yellow/cross) regions of the area opaca; anterior (dark yellow/ circle) and posterior (light yellow/cross) regions of the area opaca; anterior (dark yellow/ circle) and posterior (light yellow/cross) regions of the area opaca; anterior (dark yellow/ circle) and posterior (light yellow/cross) regions of area pellucida; and genital ridges (red/circle). (B) Total number of PGCs in the areas defined (A) showed predominant localization in 4 different structures during migration: at HH5–8 PGCs localized in the anterior region of area pellucida (dark yellow circle), at HH8–12 there was a displacement of the PGCs to the anterior region of area opaca (dark blue circle), from there the PGCs are migrating back to the anterior region of area pellucida (dark yellow circle) at HH13–15, and from HH14 on, the PGCs started to settle on the genital ridges (red circle). (C,D) At HH13, PGCs are either sparsely localized between area opaca and area pellucida (white arrows) (C) or they have aligned axially in the area pellucida (white arrows). We define this novel stage as HH13circ. Scale bars: 500 mm in C,D.
After 6 hours of culture, in control embryos (n=7) the majority of PGCs found their way to the embryo and colonized the genital ridges (Fig. 4B–D). However, in experimental embryos (n=6), the PGCs remained clustered in the region of the clamped anterior vitelline veins in the axial anterior area pellucida (Fig. 4B,E) and showed a reduced number of PGCs transiting through the embryo and in the genital ridges when compared to the controls (Fig. 4B,F). Our results indicate that blocking the blood flow from the anterior vitelline veins at HH14 has a significant effect in the correct migration of PGCs towards the genital ridges. We concluded that the anterior vitelline veins are the main vehicle used by the PGCs during their migration from the extraembryonic vasculature into the intraembryonic vasculature.

To further confirm the role of the anterior vitelline veins in the migration of PGCs from the extraembryonic to the intraembryonic circulation, we analyzed embryos cultured *ex ovo* using a modified Cornish pasty method that results in primary defects in the morphogenesis of the anterior extraembryonic structures [20]. Using this method, the somatopleura (amnion/chorion) and the splanchnopleura (yolk sac) separate, but the amniotic folds from the head, lateral and tail do not form leaving the embryo exposed. Moreover, the anterior axial conversion of the sinus terminalis and the anterior vitteline veins does not occur and therefore we investigated whether the PGCs were able to find their way into the genital ridges from the germinal crescent. For the modified Cornish pasty method, embryos at HH5 were removed from the egg, folded in two by their anterior–posterior axis and the edges of the semi-circle were pressed together to create a "mini yolk sac-like" (Fig. 5A) and cultured in suspension.

After 30 hours *ex ovo*, embryos at stage HH13 were collected and immunostained for CVH (Fig. 5B,C). In general, the head showed a normal development, the embryos had 17–19 somites (n=10), the heart was beating and the extraembryonic circulation well-established in the posterior region of the embryo. As expected, the headfold of the amnion did not form leaving the head exposed and tilting upwards. We observed many PGCs (\pm 200) dispersed in the splanchnopleura, anterior to the head at the border between the area opaca and pellucida and some PGCs mislocated in the somatopleura (Fig. 5C).

Ater 48 hours *ex ovo*, we could collect embryos corresponding to stage HH17 (Fig. 5D,E) showing a beating heart with visible blood flow and about 29–32 defined somites (n=10), which corresponds to stage HH17 *in ovo*. HH17 *ex ovo* embryos showed a well-established circulation in the "mini yolk sac" and well-developed posterior vitelline arteries (Fig. 5D). However, there were clear defects in the morphogenesis and positioning of the large calibre anterior vitelline veins. We observed a general defect in the axial movement and fusion of the left and right side of the sinus terminalis and the two anterior vitelline veins. We counted the total number of (CVH-positive) PGCs in

several HH17 *ex ovo* embryos (n=5) and the majority of the PGCs (\pm 150) were present in the region of the splanchnopleura between the left and right vitelline veins and anterior to the heart. In those embryos, only a very low number of PGCs (< 10) was observed in the region of the genital ridges. We concluded that due to the developmental defects in the position of the sinus terminalis and the anterior vitelline veins in the HH13 and HH17 *ex ovo* embryos, the PGCs fail to find and ingress these blood vessels and therefore remained ectopically in the "germinal crescent" region. We propose a novel model for the migration of PGCs in the chicken with a key role for the sinus terminalis and the anterior vitelline veins (Fig. 5E) as part of a defined or preferred vascular pathway used by the PGCs to travel from their position in the germinal crescent into the heart via the omphalomesenteric veins.



Figure 3. At HH13circ the majority of PGCs is localized in the sinus terminalis and anterior vitelline veins. (A) Analysis of position of PGCs in sectioned embryos at stage HH13circ. PGCs at HH13 and HH13circ are present in similar numbers in the yolk sac in the anterior area opaca and pellucida; the amnion and ectopically in the embryo head. (B) 3D reconstruction of the extraembryonic vasculature of embryos at HH13circ has shown that the PGCs were mainly localized in the anterior vitelline veins and the sinus terminalis. (C–E) Transverse sections of HH13circ embryos immunostained for CVH. PGCs were dispersed in the area opaca (C) and area pellucida (D) anterior from the head at the level of the head (E). PGCs were observed inside and outside the blood vessels (black arrows). The junction between the area opaca and pellucida is marked by a red arrow. Note in E, that the head at the level of the prosencephalon is completely surrounded by proamnion. (F) PGCs (black arrow) in the anterior anterior vitelline vitelline veins and the sinus terminal is and at the level of the prosencephalon is completely surrounded by proamnion.



Figure 4. Blocking the anterior vitelline veins prevented the correct migration of PGCs towards the genital ridges. (A) The anterior vitelline veins were clamped in HH14 embryos growing in ovo and the embryos were allowed to develop for 6 hours. (B) Analysis of the total number of PGCs in control (n57, black dots) and experimental embryos (n56, white dots) in different regions. The differences in distribution of the PGCs in the axial area pellucida, the embryo and genital ridges were statistically significant (P,0.05) using the non-parametric Mann–Whitney test [(*) P,0.05]. (C–F) The number of PGCs (white arrows) present ectopically in the embryo head (C) and genital ridges (D) was consistently higher in control embryos than in experimental embryos, where the PGCs concentrated surrounding the clamped vitelline veins (E) and the number of PGCs settled in the genital ridges was reduced (F). Scale bars: 500 mm in A, 100 mm in C,E and 200 mm in D,F.

DISCUSSION

SSEA1 has been used as an appropriate marker to identify and isolate PGCs from chicken embryos [22-27]. However, by performing double immunofluorescence analyses, using antibodies against CVH and SSEA1, we have now demonstrated that although SSEA1 marked PGCs, it is only expressed by a fraction, albeit increasing, of CVH-positive PGCs between HH8–HH19, but not in the entire population of PGCs. This perhaps explains why the fraction of circulating PGCs at HH13–HH15 isolated by fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) on the basis of SSEA1 expression by Mozdziak and colleagues was smaller than the fraction of circulating PGCs isolated using a Nycodenz density gradient [28] or found in chicken blood by PAS staining [29]. Interesting, pluripotent mouse embryonic stem cells, which are closely related to PGCs, also show pronounced heterogeneity for SSEA1 staining [30].



Figure 5. A new model for PGCs migration in chicken embryos. (A) Embryos at HH5 prepared to be cultured using the Cornish pasty method. (B,C) Ex ovo embryos at HH13 showed a relatively normal embryonic morphology (B) and the PGCs were observed in the germinal crescent area in both the somatopleura and splanchnopleura (white arrows). (D,E) Ex ovo embryos at HH17 showed a relatively normal embryonic morphology and the formation of well-developed posterior vitelline arteries (black arrow) (D) and the PGCs were still observed in the germinal crescent area in both the somatopleura and splanchnopleura (white arrows) (E). (F) A new model for PGCs migration in chicken embryos. At HH12–13, the yolk sac circulation courses in loop (red arrows) to enter the embryo via the heart. At this stage, the majority of PGCs (green dots) localized axially at the border between the area opaca and pellucida, where the sinus terminalis converged in the anterior vitelline veins. At HH14–16, the PGCs (green dots) circulated effectively towards the embryo via the sinus terminalis and the anterior vitelline veins towards the heart. Thereafter, the PGCs traffic via the aorta to the caudal part of the embryo and become lodged in the genital ridges. Scale bars: 100 mm in A–E.

It will be important to identify additional lineage-specific markers, like *NANOG* and *DEAD END* [31-33] and in particular novel cell surface markers to study chicken PGCs. This will be important to investigate both embryonic pluripotency and PGC development at very early developmental stages, where the CVH antibody is the only available to identify PGCs.

We and others [29] have observed a large individual variation in the number of PGCs between HH5 and HH19. This results from genetic variation as demonstrated by Tajima and colleagues that showed that specific hens layed eggs with embryos containing consistently high or low number or circulating PGCs [29]. Maybe due to this high variability in PGC numbers, we were unable to observe an increasing number of PGCs between HH5 and HH19 as reported [12]. In our hands, the number of PGCs remained approximately constant between HH5 and HH19. In agreement, Fujimoto and colleagues described 312 PGCs at HH10 [5], Motono and colleagues referred to about 300 PGCs at HH13–HH16 [24] and Nakamura described embryos containing on average 300 PGCs from HH14 to HH20 [34]. Together, we concluded that from HH5, when the PGCs are present in the germinal crescent, until HH19, when the PGCs have reached the genital ridges, the number of PGCs remained constant and range from 200–400.

Two studies have mapped the position of PGCs during their migration from the germinal crescent (HH4) to the genital ridges (HH17) by analysis of whole amount embryos [5, 12]. None of them mentioned the vitelline veins, even though there is a clear concentration of PGCs visible at the junction between the sinus terminalis and the vitelline veins at HH10–11. Curiously, neither Fujimoto nor Nakamura analysed embryos at stage HH13 and this could be the reason why the concentration of PGCs in the anterior vitelline veins has remained unnoticed.

Different groups have collected circulating PGCs at HH13–HH14 using blood from the sinus terminalis, the vitelline vessels, the heart and the dorsal aorta [12, 15, 25, 26, 28, 29, 35, 36]. Although none referred to a specific vascular route used by the PGCs, their methods to collect circulating PGCs support the idea that the majority of the PGCs indeed concentrate and use the sinus terminalis and anterior vitelline veins as an effective way to reach the embryo via the omphalomesenteric veins that enter the heart. Circumstantial evidence was also provided by Nakamura and colleagues by injecting quail PGCs in chick vitelline vessels at HH15 and later observing those quail PGCs in the recipient chicks' genital ridges [37]. We now provide functional data indicating a key role for the anterior vitelline veins transporting PGCs towards the embryo.

The PGCs leave the heart between HH13-HH15 and use the aorta to transit towards the genital ridges. At these stages, the ventral aorta develops first cranially

before it turns caudally, via the first aortic arch, into the dorsal aorta. It is therefore not surprising that we and others [34, 38] observed that HH13–HH15 PGCs had the tendency to become trapped in the cephalic capillary network when being pumped out of the heart, instead of performing the U-turn towards the dorsal aorta. In embryos in which the posterior part, including the gonads, have been excised, the PGCs still accumulate in the head capillaries [34]. Interestingly, stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF1/CXCL12), a chemokine involved in the extravasation of the PGCs from the vascular system to the mesenchyme of the genital ridges [17], is expressed at HH12–HH15 specifically both in the area of the genital ridges and the head region [39] and could promote migration of PGCs into both areas.

The signaling pathway involved in attracting the PGCs into the vascular system is less understood. Having a better understanding of the vascular route taken by the PGCs and the markers that can be used to follow the population of PGCs will greatly facilitate the investigation of the mechanisms used by PGCs to enter the vascular system. In turn this may prove an important model to understand how metastatic cells behave on their way to form secondary tumors and how leukocytes behave during processes like infection and inflammation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the following: P. Beverly for mouse anti-SSEA1; S. Maas, C. van Munsteren and L. van Iperen for help with the egg-logistics; B. Wisse for help with the Amira software; and R. Poelman for discussions. This research was supported by the European Commission's Livelong Learning Programme (Leonardo da Vinci 2011-1-PT1-LEO02-08199) to A.M.B. and by the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (NWO Aspasia 015.007.037) to S.M.C.S.L.

REFERENCES

- 1. Johnson AD, Richardson E, Bachvarova RF, Crother BI. Evolution of the germline-soma relationship in vertebrate embryos. Reproduction. 2011;141(3):291-300.
- 2. de Sousa Lopes S, Roelen BA. An overview on the diversity of cellular organelles during the germ cell cycle. Histol Histopathol. 2010;25(2):267-76.
- 3. Chuva de Sousa Lopes SM, Roelen BA. On the formation of germ cells: The good, the bad and the ugly. Differentiation. 2010;79(3):131-40.
- 4. Nieuwkoop PSAL. Primordial Germ Cells in the Chordates: Embryogenesis and Phylogenesis: Cambridge University Press; 1979.

- 5. Fujimoto T, Ukeshima A, Kiyofuji R. The origin, migration and morphology of the primordial germ cells in the chick embryo. Anat Rec. 1976;185(2):139-45.
- 6. Pain B, Clark ME, Shen M, Nakazawa H, Sakurai M, Samarut J, et al. Long-term *in vitro* culture and characterisation of avian embryonic stem cells with multiple morphogenetic potentialities. Development. 1996;122(8):2339-48.
- 7. Solter D, Knowles BB. Monoclonal antibody defining a stage-specific mouse embryonic antigen (SSEA-1). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1978;75(11):5565-9.
- Tsunekawa N, Naito M, Sakai Y, Nishida T, Noce T. Isolation of chicken vasa homolog gene and tracing the origin of primordial germ cells. Development. 2000;127(12):2741-50.
- 9. Eyal-Giladi H, Kochav S. From cleavage to primitive streak formation: a complementary normal table and a new look at the first stages of the development of the chick. I. General morphology. Dev Biol. 1976;49(2):321-37.
- 10. Ginsburg M. Primordial germ cell formation in birds. Ciba Found Symp. 1994;182:52-61; discussion -7.
- 11. Hamburger V, Hamilton HL. A series of normal stages in the development of the chick embryo. 1951. Dev Dyn. 1992;195(4):231-72.
- 12. Nakamura Y, Yamamoto Y, Usui F, Mushika T, Ono T, Setioko AR, et al. Migration and proliferation of primordial germ cells in the early chicken embryo. Poult Sci. 2007;86(10):2182-93.
- 13. C. Swift. Origin and early history of the primordial germ cells in the chick. Am J Anat. 1914;15:483–516.
- 14. Meyer DB. The Migration of Primordial Germ Cells in the Chick Embryo. Dev Biol. 1964;10:154-90.
- 15. Yamamoto Y, Usui F, Nakamura Y, Ito Y, Tagami T, Nirasawa K, et al. A novel method to isolate primordial germ cells and its use for the generation of germline chimeras in chicken. Biol Reprod. 2007;77(1):115-9.
- 16. Ukeshima AK, M. Fujimoto, T. Relationship between genital ridge formation and settlement site of primordial germ cells in chick embryos. A nat Rec. 1987;219:311–4
- Stebler J, Spieler D, Slanchev K, Molyneaux KA, Richter U, Cojocaru V, et al. Primordial germ cell migration in the chick and mouse embryo: the role of the chemokine SDF-1/ CXCL12. Dev Biol. 2004;272(2):351-61.
- Alsayed Y, Ngo H, Runnels J, Leleu X, Singha UK, Pitsillides CM, et al. Mechanisms of regulation of CXCR4/SDF-1 (CXCL12)-dependent migration and homing in multiple myeloma. Blood. 2007;109(7):2708-17.
- 19. Ueda Y, Yang K, Foster SJ, Kondo M, Kelsoe G. Inflammation controls B lymphopoiesis by regulating chemokine CXCL12 expression. J Exp Med. 2004;199(1):47-58.
- 20. Nagai H, Lin MC, Sheng G. A modified cornish pasty method for *ex ovo* culture of the chick embryo. Genesis. 2011;49(1):46-52.
- Streit A, Stern CD. Operations on primitive streak stage avian embryos. Methods Cell Biol. 2008;87:3-17.
- 22. Lee SI, Lee BR, Hwang YS, Lee HC, Rengaraj D, Song G, et al. MicroRNA-mediated posttranscriptional regulation is required for maintaining undifferentiated properties of blastoderm and primordial germ cells in chickens. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(26):10426-31.
- 23. Minematsu T, Harumi T, Naito M. Germ cell-specific expression of GFP gene induced by chicken vasa homologue (Cvh) promoter in early chicken embryos. Mol Reprod Dev. 2008;75(10):1515-22.

- Motono M, Ohashi T, Nishijima K, Iijima S. Analysis of chicken primordial germ cells. Cytotechnology. 2008;57(2):199-205.
- Motono M, Yamada Y, Hattori Y, Nakagawa R, Nishijima K, Iijima S. Production of transgenic chickens from purified primordial germ cells infected with a lentiviral vector. J Biosci Bioeng. 2010;109(4):315-21.
- Mozdziak PE, Angerman-Stewart J, Rushton B, Pardue SL, Petitte JN. Isolation of chicken primordial germ cells using fluorescence-activated cell sorting. Poult Sci. 2005;84(4):594-600.
- Petitte JN, Karagenc L, Ginsburg M. The origin of the avian germline and transgenesis in birds. Poult Sci. 1997;76(8):1084-92.
- 28. Zhao DF, Kuwana T. Purification of avian circulating primordial germ cells by nycodenz density gradient centrifugation. Br Poult Sci. 2003;44(1):30-5.
- 29. Tajima A, Hayashi H, Kamizumi A, Ogura J, Kuwana T, Chikamune T. Study on the concentration of circulating primordial germ cells (cPGCs) in early chick embryos. J Exp Zool. 1999;284(7):759-64.
- Hayashi K, Lopes SM, Tang F, Surani MA. Dynamic equilibrium and heterogeneity of mouse pluripotent stem cells with distinct functional and epigenetic states. Cell Stem Cell. 2008;3(4):391-401.
- Aramaki S, Sato F, Kato T, Soh T, Kato Y, Hattori MA. Molecular cloning and expression of dead end homologue in chicken primordial germ cells. Cell Tissue Res. 2007;330(1):45-52.
- Canon S, Herranz C, Manzanares M. Germ cell restricted expression of chick Nanog. Dev Dyn. 2006;235(10):2889-94.
- Fernandez-Tresguerres B, Canon S, Rayon T, Pernaute B, Crespo M, Torroja C, et al. Evolution of the mammalian embryonic pluripotency gene regulatory network. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(46):19955-60.
- Nakamura M, Kuwana T, Miyayama Y, Yoshinaga K, Fujimoto T. Ectopic colonization of primordial germ cells in the chick embryo lacking the gonads. Anat Rec. 1991;229(1):109-15.
- 35. Nakamura Y, Usui F, Ono T, Takeda K, Nirasawa K, Kagami H, et al. Germline replacement by transfer of primordial germ cells into partially sterilized embryos in the chicken. Biol Reprod. 2010;83(1):130-7.
- Yasuda Y, Tajima A, Fujimoto T, Kuwana T. A method to obtain avian germ-line chimaeras using isolated primordial germ cells. J Reprod Fertil. 1992;96(2):521-8.
- Nakamura M, Yoshinaga K, Fujimoto T. Histochemical identification and behavior of quail primordial germ cells injected into chick embryos by the intravascular route. J Exp Zool. 1992;261(4):479-83.
- 38. Nakamura M, Kuwana T, Miyayama Y, Fujimoto T. Extragonadal distribution of primordial germ cells in the early chick embryo. Anat Rec. 1988;222(1):90-4.
- Rehimi R, Khalida N, Yusuf F, Dai F, Morosan-Puopolo G, Brand-Saberi B. Stromal-derived factor-1 (SDF-1) expression during early chick development. Int J Dev Biol. 2008;52(1):87-92.



3

Meiotic wave adds extra asymmetry to the development of female chicken gonads

Ana de Melo Bernardo^{§1}, A. Marijne Heeren^{§1,2}, Liesbeth van Iperen¹, Maria Fernandes¹, Nannan He¹, Stanford Anjie¹, Toshiaki Noce³, Ester S. Ramos⁴ and Susana M. Chuva de Sousa Lopes^{1,5}

¹Dept. of Anatomy and Embryology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands; ²Current address: Dept. of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam, The Netherlands; ³Dept. of Physiology, Keio University School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan ⁴Department of Genetics, Ribeirao Preto Medical School, University of Sao Paulo, Sao Paulo, Brazil; ⁵Dept. for Reproductive Medicine, Ghent University Hospital, Ghent, Belgium; [§]Equal first authorship contribution

In Molecular Reproduction and Development. 2015;9999:1-13

ABSTRACT

Development of female gonads in chicken is asymmetric. This asymmetry affects gene expression, morphology and germ cell development. As a result only the left ovary develops into a functional organ, whereas the right ovary remains vestigial. In males, both gonads develop into functional testes.

Here, we revisited the development of asymmetric traits in female (and male) chicken gonads between Hamburger Hamilton stage 16 (HH16) and hatching. At HH16, primordial germ cells (PGCs) migrated preferentially to the left gonad independently of gender, accumulating in the left coelomic hinge between the gut mesentery and developing gonad. Using the meiotic markers SYCP3 and (phosphorylated) H2AFX, we were able to identify a pronounced asymmetry regarding meiotic progression in the germ cells located in the central, lateral and extremity part of the cortex of the left female gonad from HH38 until hatching. This has not been previously described. Moreover, in contrast to the current view that medullary germ cells enter apoptosis during development in the right female gonad, we show that medullary germ cells are not apoptotic, but arrested in pre-leptotene until hatching.

We provide a systematic analysis of the asymmetric distribution of germ cells in female chicken gonads until hatching and propose an updated model suggesting that the localization of germ cells [(1) in the left or right gonad, (2) in the cortex or medulla of the left gonad and (3) in the central part or the extremities of the left cortex] has direct consequences for their development and functionality in reproduction.

INTRODUCTION

In chicken, primordial germ cells (PGCs), the progenitors of the gametes, are of extraembryonic origin and, at Hamburger and Hamilton stage (HH)10-12 [1], they are found in the developing blood islands in a region of the yolk sac anterior to the head. From there, they migrate axially through the bloodstream, concentrating in the sinus terminalis, and enter the embryo mainly through the anterior vitelline veins [2]. The PGCs then travel through the embryonic vasculature to reach the gonadal ridges. After the PGCs colonize both left and right gonadal ridges, those undergo sex differentiation, to become morphologically different according to their gender developing as ovaries or testes. In males, both gonads develop into functional testes but in females, as in most birds, it is only the left gonad that develops into a functional ovary, while the right gonad remains rudimentary [3,4]. Before any signs of sex differentiation, the number of germ cells present in the gonadal ridges shows a sex-independent asymmetrical distribution with a preference for the left side in both males and females at HH15-HH17 [5] and at HH22-26 [6]. This sex-independent left-right asymmetry in the number of germ cells is still present at HH35 [7]. In addition to the asymmetry in the number of germ cells, the thickness of surface epithelium of the gonadal ridges also has pronounced sex-independent left-right asymmetry, being consistently thicker in the left gonad until HH36 [8,9].

During sex differentiation, the differences between the female left and right gonads are enhanced [4]. The left female gonad develops a strong spatial asymmetry by forming a germ cell-rich "cortex" and germ cell-poor "medulla" from HH32 onwards [10,11]. By contrast, the right female gonad does not develop a "cortex" and seems to be formed only by germ cell-poor "medulla". The left "cortex" harbors the great majority of the PGCs that cluster in compact cords, whereas the lacunar medulla of both left and right female gonads contains single or small clusters of dispersed germ cells [10,11]. Here, we have examined the sequential steps in gonadogenesis from HH16 until hatching that lead to the asymmetric development of the female chicken gonads. We were particularly interested in the events leading to the "regression" of the right female gonad and wanted to determine the timing of apoptosis assumed to occur in the germ cells present in the germ cell-poor "medulla" in both left and right female gonads [12]. However, until HH45 and using immunostaining for both early and late markers of apoptosis we were unable to confirm the massive wave of apoptosis in medullary germ cells reported previously in the left or right female gonad. Instead, using immunostaining for (phosphorylated) H2AFX (also known as VH2A.X), considered a marker of both apoptosis and meiosis, and the meiotic marker SYCP3, we detected a pronounced spatial wave of meiosis progression in the cortex of the left chicken gonad from the central part of the cortex to its extremities. This previously overlooked wave in meiosis progression adds a novel layer of asymmetric development to germ cell development in chicken.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Embryo collection and sexing

Fertilized White Leghorn chicken (*Gallus gallus*) eggs were incubated in a humidified atmosphere at 37°C. Eggs were windowed and embryos staged [1]. The sex of HH35 embryos until prior to hatching was determined by eye, whereas the sex of HH16-30 embryos was determined by genomic polymerase chain reaction (PCR) as described [37]. Embryos were isolated and used whole from HH16-HH30, whereas from HH35 until prior to hatching, the paired gonads were further dissected out of the embryo.

Immunofluorescence on whole mount and paraffin section

Embryos and gonads were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) (MERCK, Germany) in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) overnight (o/n) at 4°C. Immunofluorescence on HH16-HH19 embryos (n=7) was performed as whole amount and on HH25-HH42 embryos (n=14) on paraffin sections was performed essentially as described [2,38]. Primary antibodies used were rabbit anti-DDX4 (1:500, gift from T. Noce), mouse anti-PCNA (1:500, sc-56, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, USA), rabbit anti-cleaved CASP3 (Asp 175) (1:300, 9661S, Cell Signaling Technology, USA), mouse anti-H2AFX (Ser139) (1:500, 05-636, Millipore, USA) and rabbit anti-FASLG (1:100, sc-6237, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, USA). Secondary antibodies used were Alexa Fluor 568 goat anti-mouse (1:500, A-21124, Life Technologies, UK) and Alexa Fluor 488 donkey anti-rabbit (1:500, A11008, Life Technologies, UK). DNA fragmentation was determined by TUNEL assay with TMR red In Situ Cell Death Detection Kit (Roche Applied Science, Germany) for 1 hour at 37°C following manufacturer's instructions. Slides were counterstained with 1:1000 dilution of 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole dihydrochloride (DAPI) (Life Technologies, UK) in PBS for 1 minute and mounted with ProLongGold antifade reagent (Life Technologies, UK).

Germ cell counting and FACS-analysis

Germ cells were counted in the right and left gonad in whole mount HH16-HH19 embryos (n=3 females; n=4 males) and sequential paraffin sections of HH25-HH30 embryos (n=3 females; n=3 males) immunostained for DDX4.

The left and right gonads were collected individually from HH35 females (n=3), HH35 males (n=2), HH42 females (n=3) and HH42 males (n=3) and isolated in DPBS0 (Life Technologies, UK). To obtain single-cells, gonads were first cut into small pieces

and then incubated in TRIPLE 5x (Life Technologies, UK) at 37°C for 30 minutes, with pipetting from time to time. The single cell suspension was washed in DPBS0 and cells were fixed in 4% PFA for 10 minutes on ice. Thereafter, cells were permeabilized using 0.1% Triton/DPBS0 for 30 minutes on ice, incubated with 1:1000 rabbit anti-DDX4 in blocking solution [1% bovine serum albumin (BSA, Life Technologies, UK) in 0.05% Tween/DPBS0] for 1 hour on ice, washed with DPBS0 and incubated with 1:500 Alexa fluor goat anti-rabbit 488 in blocking solution for 1 hour on ice. After a final wash in DPBS0 cells were resuspended in FACS buffer (1%BSA, 10mM EDTA in PBS) and FACS analysis was performed using BD FACSAriaTM III (BD BioSciences, the Netherlands). Results were processed using the software BD FACSDivaTM version 6.0 (BD BioScience, the Netherlands).

The percentage of PGCs in the left and right gonad was calculated in relation to the total number of germ cells counted per embryo. The Student's T-test (two-tailed distribution, two-sample unequal variance) was used to compare the percentage of DDX4 positive germ cells between the right and left gonads. *, P<0.05; **, P<0.01; ***, P<0.001.

Quantitative reverse transcription-PCR (qPCR)

The left and right gonads were harvested individually from HH35 females (n=3), HH35 males (n=3), HH42 females (n=5) and HH42 males (n=5). RNA was isolated using RNeasy Micro Kit (Qiagen, Netherlands) and cDNA made using the iScriptTM cDNA Synthesis Kit (Biorad, USA). QPCR was performed using iQTM SYBR® Green Supermix (Biorad, USA) on a CFX96TM Real-time system, C1000TM Thermal Cycler (Biorad, USA) with the condition 1x (95°C, 3 minutes), 40x (95°C, 15 seconds; 60°C, 30 seconds; 72°C, 45 seconds) and 1x (95°C, 10 seconds; 65°C, 5 seconds; 95°C, 50 seconds). The primers used here for DDX4, DAZL and the housekeeping genes RPS17 and ACTB were described elsewhere [39,40]. All reactions were performed in triplicate. Data was normalized using the DDCt method. Data from HH35 and HH42 is relative to the right male gonads.

Immunofluorescence on cryosections

Paired gonads from HH35 to prior to hatching (n=19) were fixed in 4% PFA/PBS for 10 minutes at room temperature (RT), washed three times in PBS, cryoprotected in 30% sucrose in PBS o/n at 4°C, included in optimal cutting temperature (OCT) compound (Tissue-Tek, The Netherlands) and frozen at -80°C. The gonads were sectioned (10 μ m) using a CM3050S cryotome (Leica Instruments GmbH, Germany) and mounted on Superfrost plus slides (Thermo Scientific, Germany). Cryosections were washed with PBS, blocked 1 hour at RT in 1% BSA/PBS. The rest of the procedure was as described

above for paraffin sections. Primary antibodies used were rabbit anti-SYCP3 (1:500, NB300-232, Novus Biologicals, USA), rabbit anti-FASLG (1:100, sc-6237, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, USA) and mouse anti-H2AFX (Ser139) (1:500, 05-636, Millipore, USA) and secondary antibodies used were as above.

Imaging

Slides were either analysed on a Leica DMRA fluorescence microscope (Leica, Germany) and pictures taken with a CoolSnap HQ2 camera (Photometrics, USA); or scanned using a Panoramic MIDI digital scanner (3DHISTECH, Hungary) and representative areas for images selected using the software program 'Panoramic viewer' (3DHISTECH, Hungary). Confocal images were made on a Leica TCS SP8 confocal microscope (Leica, Mannheim, Germany) operating under the Leica Application Suite Advanced Fluorescence software (Leica, Mannheim, Germany).



Figure 1. Difference in germ cells localization between the left and right gonads of female and male chicken at HH16-HH42. (A) Flowcytometric analysis showed less DDX4-positive cells in right gonad of each gonadal pair in both HH35 and HH42 females and males. (B) The percentage of DDX4-positive germ cells present in the in the left gonad (L) was significantly higher than in the right gonad (R) at HH16-HH19, HH25-HH30, HH35 and HH42 in both sexes, except for HH42 male gonads where this difference was not significant (ns). *, P<0.05; **, P<0.01; ***, P<0.001. (C) Relative DDX4 expression in left and right gonads of HH35 and HH42 embryos, both females and males, compared to the male right gonad. Each bar represents one gonad and data are expressed as the mean \pm standard deviation of technical triplicates. Expression of DDX4 was normalized to the housekeeping genes (HKG) RPS17 and ACTB. (D) Immunostaining for DDX4 (green) showed more germ cells localized to the left gonad (L) than to the right gonad (R) in both females and males at HH25 (upper panels), HH28 (middle panels) and HH30 (lower panels). The white lines delimitate the place of the left and right gonads. Red arrows indicate germ cells accumulating just underneath the coelomic epithelium at the hinge between the gut mesentery and the developing left gonad. White arrows indicate ectopic PGC clusters. Scale bar (same for all images) is 100 µm.

RESULTS

Preferential asymmetric distribution and localization of germ cells between HH16-42

It has been reported that until HH35 both male and female chicken embryos contained a larger number of germ cells in their left gonads [5,7]. This led us to investigate the precise distribution of the germ cells in the developing gonadal ridges from the time of their arrival in the gonads at HH16 until HH42. Using immunostaining for the germ cell-marker DDX4 (also known as CVH), we either counted or FACS-analysed (DDX4)-positive germ cells in embryos from HH16 to HH42 and confirmed a consistently higher number in the left gonad independent of the gender until HH42, even though this differences were less pronounced in males (Figure 1A, 1B). At HH42, the left female gonad contains about 80% of the gonadal germ cells, whereas the male left gonad contains about 60%. This asymmetry was also observed by quantitative reverse transcriptase-PCR for DDX4 (Figure 1C) and similarly for DAZL, another germ cell marker using dissected whole gonads (Supplementary Figure S1). As expected [2,5,7], the number of germ cells in each gonad shows some variability. Between HH35-42, left-right differences in germ cell numbers persisted in the female gonads, but got less pronounced in the male gonads.

In terms of distribution, at HH25, germ cells strikingly accumulated underneath the coelomic epithelium at the hinge between the gut mesentery and the developing left gonad in both males and females (red arrows Figure 1D); this preferential localization just underneath the thick epithelial layer of the left gonad remained at HH28-30 (Figure 1D). Interestingly, outside the gonads, ectopic tight clusters of germ cells were observed both in females and males (white arrows in Figure 1D), where many remained localized in the gut mesentery. At HH35-42, the localization of germ cells to the "cortex" developing in the left female gonad became very pronounced, even though many germ cells were scattered in the "medulla" of the left and right female gonad (Figure 2A, 2B). Interestingly, between HH45 and just before hatching (BH), the germ cells in the medulla of both the right and left female gonad remained numerous (Figure 2C-2F). In the right medulla, germ cells also localized to the surface, however those did not become enclosed in germ cells cords as in the cortex of the left gonad (Figure 2C-2F).

Germ cells undergo a meiotic wave in the left cortex between HH38 and hatching

To explore further the developmental capacity of the asymmetrically distributed germ cells in the cortex and medulla of the left female gonad, we investigated the timing of meiosis entry and progression until hatching. For this, we analysed the expression pattern of the meiotic-specific marker SYCP3 together with that of (phosphorylated) H2AFX, a marker of DNA double-strand breaks not only associated with DNA damage in apoptosis during mitosis [13], but also those DNA double-strand breaks that occur early during meiotic recombination [14,15].

At HH38, germ cells along the whole length of the left cortex as well as in the medulla of both the left and right female gonads expressed punctated H2AFX, but showed overall no/low levels of (nuclear) SYCP3 (Figure 3A, 3B; Supplementary Figure S2). However, in the cortex center of the left female gonad between HH38 and HH42, H2AFX is downregulated and at HH42, in the cortex center germ cells showed either only (punctated nuclear) SYCP3 or both SYCP3 and H2AFX (Figure 3C, 3Ci, 3Cii). In the extremities of the left cortex and in the medulla of both the left and right female gonads, germ cells maintained the characteristic pattern of H2AFX (Figure 3C, 3Ciii, 3Civ, 3D, 3Di) as observed at HH38. Combining our localization data using the intact gonads with previous data from chromosome spreads from dispersed germ cells [16-18], we conclude that the expression pattern of H2AFX and SYCP3 at HH38 corresponded to that of germ cells in pre-leptotene and, at HH42, germ cells located in the central and lateral part of the left cortex either in early leptotene (punctated SYCP3 and low/no H2AFX) or are in late leptotene/early zygotene (punctated SYCP3 and H2AFX), and those at the extremities of the left cortex and all medullary germ cells are still in pre-leptotene (no SYCP3 and high H2AFX). At HH45, the expression pattern of H2AFX and SYCP3 along the left cortex showed that germ cells in late leptotene/early zygotene (punctated SYCP3 and H2AFX) not only occupied the central part of the cortex, but now also occupied most of the lateral parts of the cortex, whereas germ cells in early leptotene (punctated SYCP3) and low/no H2AFX) became fewer and restricted to a narrow band, adjacent to the pre-leptotene germ cells (no SYCP3 and high H2AFX) in the cortex extremities (Figure 4A, 4Ai-4Aiii; representative higher magnifications in Supplementary Figure S3). This was less pronounced in the long axes of the cortex of the left gonad, but we could still find pockets of H2AFX-positive SYCP3-negative germ cells at the cortex extremities (Supplementary Figure S4).

Since several studies on chromosome spreads have described germ cells in pachytene around hatching [16-18], we extended our analysis to female gonads just before hatching (BH). We observed that the central part of the cortex indeed now contained many germ cells in late zygote/early pachytene (containing clear SYCP3-positive synaptonemal complexes but still expressing H2AFX) (Figure 4B, 4Bi; representative higher magnifications in Supplementary Figure S3). The lateral part of the left cortex still contained germ cells in late leptotene/early zygotene, flanked by germ cells in the cortex extremities in early leptotene and pre-leptotene (Figure 4B, 4Bii, 4Biii).



Figure 2. Distribution of (DDX4-positive) germ cells in left and right gonads in female chicken from HH35 to before hatching (BH). DDX4 (green) expression in transverse sections of female gonads showing the distribution of germ cells in left (L) and right (R) gonad at HH35 (A), HH42 (B), HH45 (C,D) and BH (E,F). Scale bars are 200 μ m (A, C, D, E, F) and 500 μ m (B).

Medullary germ cells in left and right female gonads are not apoptotic, but in pre-leptotene until hatching

Germ cells localized in the medulla of both left and right gonads at HH45 and before hatching (Figure 4C, 4D) showed similar nuclear features to pre-leptotene germ cells (no SYCP3 and high H2AFX) located in the extremities of the left cortex and are most probably in pre-leptotene. Interestingly, we noted that at HH45 and before hatching some small clusters of germ cells in the left and right gonadal medulla were either positive for SYCP3 (Figure 4Aiv, white arrow in Figure 4D) or expressed both SYCP3 and H2AFX (Figure 4Biv) suggesting that some medullary PGCs may in fact enter meiosis. As (phosphorylated) H2AFX is associated with DNA double-strand breaks both during apoptosis and meiosis entry, we wanted to discriminate between these two processes to understand the fate of left and right medullary germ cells. First, we investigated the expression of the proliferation cell nuclear antigen (PCNA), a marker for DNA replication in mitosis, but also involved in DNA replication during meiotic prophase [19]. At HH35-HH42, the great majority of germ cells expressed PCNA (Figure 5A; Supplementary Figure S5). The expression of both H2AFX and PCNA in medullary germ cells, suggest that these cells were in pre-leptotene, instead of apoptosis.

To further distinguish between apoptosis and meiosis, we then investigated the expression of the early apoptosis marker cleaved caspase 3 (CASP3) and assessed DNA fragmentation during late apoptosis with the TUNEL assay. In the HH35 and HH42 female gonads, we found only a few cleaved CASP3-positive cells (white arrowheads in Figure 5B) and a few TUNEL-positive germ cells and somatic cells (white arrowheads in Figure 6A) but no massive loss of germ cells in the medulla, which has been previously reported using electron microscopy [11,12]. Furthermore, the germ cells in the surface of the right gonad at HH35 and HH42 are clearly not in (early or late) apoptosis (white arrows in Figure 6A) and therefore, this cannot be the reason why a germ cell-rich cortex does not develop in the right female gonad. Until hatching, we only detected a very reduced number of either CASP-3-positive or TUNEL-positive cells in both gonads (data not shown).

We next examined the expression of FASLG (also known as FAS ligand), a marker involved in the FASLG-FAS system that plays a role in inducing apoptosis in mammalian spermatocytes undergoing meiosis [20,21]. Interestingly, HH42 germ cells in the extremities of the left cortex and some in the left and right medulla seem to upregulate FASLG (white arrowheads in Figure 6B); and at BH, many presumably germ cells in both the left and right medullas seem to become strongly positive for FASLG (white arrows in Figure 6C), suggesting that after hatching those may be eliminated by apoptosis via a FASLG-FAS dependent mechanism.

αSYCP3+αH2AFX+DAPI



Figure 3. SYCP3 and H2AFX expression in chicken female gonads at HH38 and HH42. SYCP3 (green) and H2AFX (red) expression in HH38 female left (A) and right (B) gonads and HH42 female left (C) and right gonads (D). High magnifications are representative from three different regions of the left cortex (cortex center, cortex lateral, cortex extremity), the left medulla and the right medulla. White arrows point to germ cells illustrating specific meiotic stages (pre-leptotene, early leptotene, late leptotene/early zygotene). Scale bars are 100 μm (A, B, C, D) and 5 μm (Ai-Aiv, Bi, Ci-Civ, Di).

DISCUSSION

Sex-independent preferential migration of PGCs to the left side

Our results and those of others [5-7] show that chicken PGCs preferentially colonize the gonad on the left side of the body as they arrive at HH15, independent of their sex. Differentially expressed signaling cues could direct this asymmetric migration. Molecules that might play a role are BMP7, which is expressed in the left gonad around HH21 (3.5 days of incubation) in both sexes [22] and the transcription factor PITX2, which is expressed in the left gonad around HH18 (3 days of incubation) in both sexes [9,23-25]. Experiments by Naito and colleagues (2009) that transferred PGCs from the bloodstream of HH14-15 donor embryos to the bloodstream of age-matched recipient embryos and analysed them at 16.5 days of incubation (\pm HH42) suggested that female PGCs migrate preferentially to the left side of both female and male embryos but also that female embryos attracted more male or female PGCs to the left gonad [26]. It is interesting to note that also in humans, between 140-212 mm crown-rump length (about 22 weeks of gestation) the right gonad weighs more (and has a higher DNA and protein content) than the left gonad in both sexes [27], suggesting that an initial sex-independent left-right asymmetry may be conserved at least between humans and chicken.

No evidence for apoptosis in chicken medullary germ cells until before hatching

Left-right asymmetry of the chicken female gonads has been noticed and reported in morphological detail a long time ago [28]. However, since the right gonad of the chicken embryo has been considered as a degenerating structure containing germ cells in apoptosis [10,12], its study has been neglected. Ishimaru and colleagues (2008) analysed apoptosis levels at HH27 and HH29 and observed a very reduced number of TUNEL-positive germ cells in cortex and medulla in both sides [23], but we have extended this here and analysed apoptosis in both sexes between HH35 and hatching in the right and left gonad. We were unable to detect signs of robust apoptosis in the germ cells in the right gonad and our data suggest that medullary germ cells are not apoptotic, but presumable in pre-leptotene until hatching (and a few may even manage to enter meiosis). The reason for the discrepancy with previous literature is the fact that we presently use a combination of meiotic and apoptotic markers together with a robust germ cell marker, whereas previously only histological sections imaged by light microscopy of transmission electron microscopy were analyzed.



Figure 4. SYCP3 and H2AFX expression in chicken female left and right gonads at HH45 and before hatching (BH). SYCP3 (green) and H2AFX (red) expression in HH45 female left (A) and right (B) gonads and BH female left (C) and right gonads (D). High magnifications are from three different regions of the left cortex (cortex center, cortex lateral, cortex extremity), and the left medulla. White arrows point to germ cells illustrating specific meiotic stages (pre-leptotene, early leptotene, late leptotene/early zygotene, late zygotene/early pachytene). In D, the white arrow points to a cluster of germ cells that upregulated SYCP3. Scale bars are 100 µm (A, B, C, D) and 10 µm (Ai-Aiv, Bi-Biv).



Figure 5. Expression of PCNA and cleaved CASP3 in chicken female gonads at HH35 and HH42. (A) PCNA (red) expression in female left (L) and right (R) gonads at HH35 and HH42. Most germ cells (DDX4-positive cells) at HH35 and HH42 are PCNA-positive. Inserts show a magnified detail. Ectopic PGC clusters, indicated by white arrows, also showed PCNA-positive nuclei. (B) Cleaved CASP3 expression (green) in female left (L) and right (R) gonads at HH35 and HH42. White arrowheads point to cleaved CASP3-positive cells. Scale bars in (A) are 200 µm (HH35 and HH42 right gonad) and 500 µm (HH42 left gonad); in (B) are 200 µm (HH35) and 100 µm (HH42 left and right gonad); and in the inserts are 10 µm.



Figure 6. TUNEL and FASLG expression in chicken female gonads. (A) TUNEL assay (red) shows late apoptotic cells in female left (L) and right (R) gonads at HH35 and HH42. White arrowheads point to apoptotic somatic cells and germ cells (green, DDX4-positive). Inserts show a magnified detail. White arrow point to TUNEL negative germ cells in the surface of the HH35 right gonad. (B) FASLG (green) and H2AXF (red) expression in female left (L) and right (R) gonads at HH35 and HH42. White arrowheads point to double positive FASLG and H2AXF cells (C) FASLG (green) and H2AXF (red) expression in female left and right gonads before hatching (BH). White arrows point to double positive FASLG and H2AXF cells. Scale bars in A and B are 100 µm, in C are 200 µm and in the inserts are 10 µm.

In agreement, the overexpression of PITX2 *in ovo* in the right female gonad from HH8-10 has been demonstrated sufficient to induce a robust cortex formation in the right gonad similar to that of the left gonad containing H2AFX-positive germ cells at HH38-39 [9]. Those results indicate that germ cells in right female gonad have the capacity to develop into a normal cortex and enter meiosis if given the right environment. We suggest that until hatching, germ cells have equal potential to develop, as in males, in both left and right females gonads but they only receive the correct molecular signals, initiated by PITX2, to do so in the central and lateral part of the cortex of the left female gonad.

Interestingly, we detected expression of FASLG in both the H2AFX-positive germ cells in the extremities of the left cortex and medulla. FASLG-positive cells are not undergoing apoptosis, but are potential targets for destruction. The FASLG-FAS system plays a role in inducing apoptosis in mammalian spermatocytes undergoing meiosis [20,21]. Even though the role of the FASLG-FAS system early during oogenesis is less well studied, it is well known to play a role regulating atresia at different stages during folliculogenesis [29,30]. Whether the germ cells in the extremities of the left cortex and medulla are eliminated by apoptosis after birth, eventually via a FASLG-FAS dependent mechanism remains to be investigated.

Meiotic wave in the chicken left cortex from the center to the extremities

The development of the asymmetry between left and right in female gonads is primarily orchestrated by PITX2 expression [9,23,24]. Thereafter, meiosis entry in chicken seems to be directly related to the synthesis and breakdown of retinoic acid [31,32]. Several authors have described asynchrony in meiotic stages in dispersed chromosome spreads of chicken germ cells during late developmental stages and the first week post-hatching [16-18] or have reported immunostaining in intact gonads for either H2AFX or SYCP3 separately, but not in combination [9,31-34]. The existence of a meiotic wave in chicken has therefore remained elusive to date.

In his 1963 paper, Hughes did not refer to a meiotic wave in the left cortex although he noted that "germ cells in the central parts of the ovarian cortex are consistently more advanced in development than those at the extremities of the cortex" [28]. Our systematic study of the expression of H2AFX and SYCP3, from HH38 until hatching showed the existence of a meiotic wave in the left cortex (Figure 7).

A meiotic wave has been described in female mice from the anterior to the posterior part of the gonad during mid-gestation [35,36] and even in humans it seems to occur from the inside to the outside of the gonadal cortex during the second trimester of development (AMH and SMCSL, unpublished results), suggesting that a meiotic wave may be a conserved mechanism in animals.



Figure 7. Proposed model of meiotic wave from HH38 until hatching in the female left and right gonads. At HH38, all germ cells independent of their localization express H2AFX and are in pre-leptotene. From HH42 until before hatching (BH), the germ cells in the left gonadal cortex exhibited a pronounced meiotic wave from the central part of the cortex to its extremities. Just BH, germ cells localized in the central and lateral part of the left cortex are in late zygote/early pachytene and late pachytene/early zygotene and germ cells in the extremities of the left gonad are in early leptotene or in pre-leptotene. The majority of the germ cells in the medulla of the left and right female gonads are in pre-leptotene

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank M. Roost for technical advice; S. Schoenmakers, J. Turner and S. Guioli for discussions on meiotic stages; and S. Maas for logistics with the chicken eggs. This research was supported by the Fundação Ciência e Tecnologia FCT SFRH/BD/94387/2013 to AMB and SFRH/BD/78689/2011 to MGF and by the Netherlands organization of Scientific Research (NWO) (ASPASIA 015.007.037) and the Interuniversity Attraction Poles-Phase VII (IUAP/PAI P7/14) to SMCSL.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURES



Supplementary Figure S1. DAZL expression in chicken gonads at HH35 and HH42. DAZL expression in left (L) and right (L) gonads of HH35 and HH42 chicken embryos, both females and males, compared to the male right gonad. Each bar represents one gonad and data are expressed as the mean ± standard deviation of technical triplicates. Expression of DAZL was normalized to the HKG RPS17 and ACTB.



Supplementary Figure S2. Expression of H2AFX and SYCP3 in the chicken left gonad at HH38 and HH42. Sections of HH35 and HH42 female left gonads showing the merged and single channels for H2AFX (red) and SYCP3 (green). White arrows indicated germ cells with lower H2AFX and higher SYCP3 expression compared to the germ cells indicated with white arrowheads. Scale bar for HH38 is 100 μm and for HH42 is 200 μm.



Supplementary Figure S3. Different meiotic phases encountered at HH45 to before hatching. Magnified and single-channel images from Figure 4 showing different meiotic phases in female chicken gonads: (A) early leptotene stage marked by single expression of H2AFX, (B) late leptotene/early zygotene stage marked by the punctuated expression of both H2AFX and SYCP3, and (C) late zygotene/early pachytene stage marked by the expression of H2AFX and chromosomal synaptic expression of SYCP3. Scale bars are 5 μ m.

Asymmetry in germ cell development in chicken | 65



Supplementary Figure S4. Expression of H2AFX and SYCP3 in the chicken left gonad at HH45. Sagittal section of HH45 female left gonad showing the merged and single channels for H2AFX (red) and SYCP3 (green). The dashed area is showed magnified in the right panel. In the left panel the dashed are depicts the cortex. White arrows indicate germ cells expressing H2AFX, but not SYCP3, in the extremity of the cortex. Scale bar is 500 µm in left panel and 75 µm in right panel.



Supplementary Figure S5. Expression of PCNA and DDX4 in chicken left and right gonad at HH42. Section of HH42 female left and right gonad showing the merged and single channels for DDX4 (green) and PCNA (red). White arrows indicate germ cells expressing PCNA. Scale bar are 500 µm for left gonad and 100 µm for right gonad.

REFERENCES

- 1. Hamburger V, Hamilton HL. A series of normal stages in the development of the chick embryo. 1951. Dev Dyn. 1992;195: 231-272.
- 2. De Melo Bernardo A, Sprenkels K, Rodrigues G, Noce T, Chuva De Sousa Lopes SM. Chicken primordial germ cells use the anterior vitelline veins to enter the embryonic circulation. Biol Open. 2012;1: 1146-1152.
- 3. Zaccanti F, Vallisneri M, Quaglia A. Early aspects of sex differentiation in the gonads of chick embryos. Differentiation. 1990;43: 71-80.
- 4. Smith CA, Sinclair AH (2004) Sex determination: insights from the chicken. Bioessays 26: 120-132.
- 5. Nakamura Y, Yamamoto Y, Usui F, Mushika T, Ono T, et al. Migration and proliferation of primordial germ cells in the early chicken embryo. Poult Sci. 2007;86: 2182-2193.
- 6. Van Limborgh J.The first sign of sexual differentiation of the gonads in chick embryos. Arch Anat Microsc Morphol Exp. 1968;57: 79-90.
- 7. Intarapat S, Stern CD. Sexually dimorphic and sex-independent left-right asymmetries in chicken embryonic gonads. PLoS One. 2013;8: e69893.
- 8. Carlon N, Stahl A. Origin of the somatic components in chick embryonic gonads. Arch Anat Microsc Morphol. 1985. Exp 74: 52-59.
- 9. Guioli S, Lovell-Badge R. PITX2 controls asymmetric gonadal development in both sexes of the chick and can rescue the degeneration of the right ovary. Development. 2007;134: 4199-4208.
- 10. Gonzalez-Moran MG. Histological and stereological changes in growing and regressing chicken ovaries during development. Anat Rec (Hoboken). 2011;294: 893-904.
- 11. Ukeshima A, Fujimoto T. A fine morphological study of germ cells in asymmetrically developing right and left ovaries of the chick. Anat Rec. 1991;230: 378-386.
- 12. Ukeshima A. Germ cell death in the degenerating right ovary of the chick embryo. Zoolog Sci. 1996;13: 559-563.
- 13. Rogakou EP, Boon C, Redon C, Bonner WM. Megabase chromatin domains involved in DNA double-strand breaks *in vivo*. J Cell Biol. 1999.146: 905-916.
- 14. Hunter N, Borner GV, Lichten M, Kleckner N. Gamma-H2AX illuminates meiosis. Nat Genet.2001;27: 236-238.
- 15. Ismail IH, Hendzel MJ. The gamma-H2A.X: is it just a surrogate marker of double-strand breaks or much more? Environ Mol Mutagen. 2008;49: 73-82.
- 16. del Priore L, Pigozzi MI. Chromosomal axis formation and meiotic progression in chicken oocytes: a quantitative analysis. Cytogenet Genome Res. 2012;137: 15-21.
- 17. Guioli S, Lovell-Badge R, Turner JM. Error-prone ZW pairing and no evidence for meiotic sex chromosome inactivation in the chicken germline. PLoS Genet. 2012;8: e1002560.
- 18. Schoenmakers S, Wassenaar E, Hoogerbrugge JW, Laven JS, Grootegoed JA, et al. Female meiotic sex chromosome inactivation in chicken. PLoS Genet. 2009;5: e1000466.
- 19. Stone JE, Ozbirn RG, Petes TD, Jinks-Robertson S. Role of proliferating cell nuclear antigen interactions in the mismatch repair-dependent processing of mitotic and meiotic recombination intermediates in yeast. Genetics. 2008;178: 1221-1236.
- 20. Aitken RJ, Baker MA. Causes and consequences of apoptosis in spermatozoa; contributions to infertility and impacts on development. Int J Dev Biol. 2013;57: 265-272.
- 21. Kuerban M, Naito M, Hirai S, Terayama H, Qu N, et al. Involvement of Fas/Fas-L and Bax/ Bcl-2 systems in germ cell death following immunization with syngeneic testicular germ

^{68 |} Chapter 3

cells in mice. J Androl. 2012;33: 824-831.

- 22. Hoshino A, Koide M, Ono T, Yasugi S. Sex-specific and left-right asymmetric expression pattern of Bmp7 in the gonad of normal and sex-reversed chicken embryos. Dev Growth Differ. 2005;47: 65-74.
- 23. Ishimaru Y, Komatsu T, Kasahara M, Katoh-Fukui Y, Ogawa H, et al. Mechanism of asymmetric ovarian development in chick embryos. Development. 2008;135: 677-685.
- Rodriguez-Leon J, Rodriguez Esteban C, Marti M, Santiago-Josefat B, Dubova I, et al. Pitx2 regulates gonad morphogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105: 11242-11247.
- 25. Smith CA, Katz M, Sinclair AH. DMRT1 is upregulated in the gonads during female-to-male sex reversal in ZW chicken embryos. Biol Reprod. 2003;68: 560-570.
- Naito M, Minematsu T, Harumi T, Kuwana T. Preferential migration of transferred primordial germ cells to left germinal ridge of recipient embryos in chickens. Journal of Poultry Science. 2009;46: 40-45.
- 27. Mittwoch U, Mahadevaiah S. Comparison of development of human fetal gonads and kidneys. J Reprod Fertil. 1980;58: 463-467.
- Hughes GC. The Population of Germ Cells in the Developing Female Chick. J Embryol Exp Morphol. 1963;11: 513-536.
- Guo MW, Xu JP, Mori E, Sato E, Saito S, et al. Expression of Fas ligand in murine ovary. Am J Reprod Immunol. 1997;37: 391-398.
- Mor G, Straszewski S, Kamsteeg M. Role of the Fas/Fas ligand system in female reproductive organs: survival and apoptosis. Biochem Pharmacol. 2002;64: 1305-1315.
- Smith CA, Roeszler KN, Bowles J, Koopman P, Sinclair AH. Onset of meiosis in the chicken embryo; evidence of a role for retinoic acid. BMC Dev Biol. 2008;8: 85.
- 32. Yu M, Yu P, Leghari IH, Ge C, Mi Y, et al. RALDH2, the enzyme for retinoic acid synthesis, mediates meiosis initiation in germ cells of the female embryonic chickens. Amino Acids. 2013;44: 405-412.
- Guioli S, Nandi S, Zhao D, Burgess-Shannon J, Lovell-Badge R, et al. Gonadal Asymmetry and Sex Determination in Birds. Sex Dev. 2014;8(5):227-42
- 34. Zheng YH, Rengaraj D, Choi JW, Park KJ, Lee SI, et al. Expression pattern of meiosis associated SYCP family members during germline development in chickens. Reproduction. 2009;138: 483-492.
- Menke DB, Koubova J, Page DC. Sexual differentiation of germ cells in XX mouse gonads occurs in an anterior-to-posterior wave. Dev Biol. 2003;262: 303-312.
- Yao HH, DiNapoli L, Capel B. Meiotic germ cells antagonize mesonephric cell migration and testis cord formation in mouse gonads. Development. 2003;130: 5895-5902.
- 37. GriffithsR,DoubleMC,OrrK,DawsonRJ.ADNAtesttosexmostbirds.MolEcol7:1071-1075.
- Locher H, Frijns JH, van Iperen L, de Groot JC, Huisman MA, et al. (2013) Neurosensory development and cell fate determination in the human cochlea. Neural Dev. 1998; 8: 20.
- Caetano LC, Gennaro FG, Coelho K, Araujo FM, Vila RA, et al. Differential expression of the MHM region and of sex-determining-related genes during gonadal development in chicken embryos. Genet Mol Res. 2014;13: 838-849.
- Lavial F, Acloque H, Bachelard E, Nieto MA, Samarut J, et al. Ectopic expression of Cvh (Chicken Vasa homologue) mediates the reprogramming of chicken embryonic stem cells to a germ cell fate. Dev Biol. 2009;330: 73-82.



4

Avian as a model for human ovarian cancer: advantages reviewed

Ana de Melo Bernardo¹, Sólveig Thorsteinsdóttir² and Christine L. Mummery¹

¹Department of Anatomy and Embryology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands; ²Center for Ecology, Evolution and Environmental Change, Department of Animal Biology, Faculty of Sciences, University of Lisbon, Portugal

In Molecular and Clinical Oncology. 2015;3: 1191-1198
ABSTRACT

Ovarian cancer (OC) is the most lethal gynaecological cancer. Early detection of OC is crucial for providing efficient treatment, whereas high mortality rates correlate with late detection of OC, when the tumor has already metastasized to other organs. The most prevalent type of OC is epithelial OC (EOC). Models that have been used to study EOC include the fruit fly, mouse and laying hen, in addition to human EOC cells in 3D culture in vitro. These models have helped in the elucidation of the genetic component of this disease and the development of drug therapies. However, the histological origin of EOC and early markers of the disease remain largely unknown. In this study, we aimed to review the relative value of each of the different models in EOC and their contributions to understanding this disease. It was concluded that the spontaneous occurrence of EOC in the adult hen, the prolific ovulation, the similarity of metastatic progression with that in humans and the advantages of using the chicken embryo for modelling the development of the reproductive system, renders the hen particularly suitable for studying the early development of EOC. Further investigation of this avian model may contribute to a better understanding of EOC, improve clinical insight and ultimately contribute to decreasing its mortality rates among humans.

INTRODUCTION

Ovarian cancer (OC) is the fifth most common cause of cancer-related mortality in women. a high incidence of OC correlates geographically with more economically developed countries [1,2]. The current treatments for OC are cytoreductive surgery and platinum/paclitaxel (Taxol®)-based chemotherapy [3]. These therapies are efficient in the treatment of 90% of patients diagnosed with OC, but only when the disease is detected at an early stage [4]. In addition, the treatments lack specificity, further contributing to the high mortality rates of OC [3,5,6]. The absence of an anatomical barrier around the ovary facilitates rapid spreading of metastases in the peritoneal cavity and late diagnosis is attributed to the minimal manifestations of early EOC [4,7]. As a consequence, the majority of OC cases are detected only when the cancer has already metastasized to other anatomical structures [8].

Epithelial OC (EOC) is the most common type of OC, constituting 90% of diagnosed OC cases [9]. One of the greatest challenges in EOC research is to understand its cellular and molecular origin(s) [10]. Different in vivo and in vitro systems have been used to model EOC. Drosophila melanogaster (D. melanogaster) and Mus musculus(M. musculus) EOC models have been helpful in elucidating the biological characteristics of EOC, such as the molecular basis of its metastatic mechanisms, which include alterations in cell adhesion or migration, or expression of genes involved in EOC development [11,12]. Unlike humans, however, neither flies nor mice spontaneously develop EOC; therefore, the translation of outcomes to humans is limited. by contrast, in vitro EOC models using human cells are a promising approach to testing anticancer drugs, although the absence of the tumor cell microenvironment is associated with certain limitations [13]. Gallus gallus domesticus, the domestic hen, is a model which appears to address some of these shortcomings and, with the recent advances in laboratory tools for chicken research, it is becoming a tractable system for the study of EOC [14]. The hen is the only animal model that, like humans, develops the disease spontaneously and exhibits similar pathology and disease progression; this appears to be associated with prolific ovulation and ageing [14].

The aim of the present review was: i) to provide an overview of the current approaches and challenges in OC research, with a focus on EOC; ii) to provide a comparative analysis of the advantages and disadvantages of the different models used in EOC research; and iii) to investigate Gallus gallus domesticus as a model to answer fundamental questions regarding the origin of EOC that remain unanswered and to advance modalities for treatment and early diagnosis that may ultimately contribute to decreasing the mortality rate of OC.

PATHOLOGY AND ORIGIN OF EOC IN HUMANS

Pathogenesis. More than 30 types of OC have been described, which are all derived from only three major progenitor cell types, namely stromal cells, germ cells and surface epithelial cells (Figure 1A). Stromal-cell OC (SCOC) results from the transformation of stromal cells present in the ovary and has a very low prevalence among OC s (7%); germ-cell OC (GCOC) results from germ cell abnormalities that arise during development and is the rarest histotypic origin of OC, with a prevalence of only 3%; EOC is by far the most prevalent OC histotype origin, with a prevalence of 90% (9). EOC results from the abnormal development of epithelial cells and its origin is discussed in detail below. the formation of malignant cysts from malignant epithelial cells is currently considered to herald the pathological development of EOC. Malignant epithelial ovarian cells in the cysts undergo epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT), becoming motile and capable of invading other tissues [15]. The progress of the metastatic process depends on the ability of these cells to survive and attach to other structures [8,16].

Causality. There is currently no consensus regarding the origin of EOC and it is considered to either derive from malignant alterations of the ovarian surface epithelium [17], or from the abnormal development of the fallopian tube epithelium [18]. The complexity of EOC appears to indicate that the ovarian surface epithelium as well as the fallopian tube epithelium are involved in the development of this disease [10]. The ovarian surface epithelium as the origin for EOC is the oldest hypothesis and has been associated with the high frequency of ovulation in women [19-21]. During each ovulation, this epithelium is disrupted when the mature oocyte is expelled from the ovary and inflammatory processes are then required to repair it [17,22]. During the repair process, a proportion of the cells detach and develop abnormalities, due to the DNA damage in response to inflammatory molecules, resulting in EOC [23]. A role for hormones in the damage of the ovarian surface epithelium has also been suggested [24,25].

The observation that women who use progestin-estrogen oral contraceptives have a 30-60% lower probability of developing EOC, further strengthens the hypothesis that the ovarian surface epithelium is the origin of EOC [26]. However, female mice, which ovulate approximately 4 times more than a woman during their lifespan, do not develop this disease [27]. It is possible that structural differences in the ovarian surface epithelium between mice and humans [27] allow mice to develop a form of resistance against EOC development, despite their significantly higher ovulation rates. Interestingly, it is estimated that the number of ovulations of a 2-year-old hen is similar to the number of ovulations of a woman at menopause [28]. The fact that the hen is the only animal model that develops spontaneous EOC suggests similarities in the role of ovulation in the development of the disease between hens and humans. On the other hand, EOC was

recently associated with abnormalities of the fallopian tube epithelium. The fallopian tube epithelium has been proposed as an origin of EOC, since several proteins normally expressed by the oviduct, such as paired box 8 (PAX8) and cancer antigen (CA)-125, have been found to be expressed in EOC biopsies [10,29]. Moreover, it has been suggested that a genetic predisposition in fallopian tube epithelial cells gives rise to EOC; this includes mutations in DNA damage repair genes, such as *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* and cell cycle regulators, such as *P53* [30]. However, since the ovarian surface epithelium and the fallopian tube epithelium are contiguous, have a common early embryonic origin and are both affected by ovulation, it is difficult to distinguish whether one or both tissues are the origin of EOC [10].

CURRENT EOC TREATMENTS

There are four main factors that impede early detection of EOC. First, the location of the ovaries deep in the pelvic cavity makes it difficult to detect the initial development of EOC through pelvic probing and imaging. However, certain technological advances in this field, such as ultrasound and fluorodeoxy-glucose positron emission tomography/ computed tomography, allow for better imaging and earlier detection [6,31]. Second, EOC was until recently considered to be an asymptomatic disease. Certain attempts have been made to establish a symptom index for OC; the physical symptoms may include gastrointestinal, genitourinary and gynaecological complaints. These symptoms are, however, variable among patients, so this issue has not been resolved [4,7,32]. Third, there are currently no early tumor markers for EOC that allow early diagnosis, or population screening and later management of the disease, or monitoring of treatment effectiveness [33]. Finally, the spread of malignant carcinogenic cells in the pelvic cavity is facilitated by the absence of a physical barrier around the ovaries. This promotes the spread of EOC along other organs, such as the contralateral ovary, the uterus and the peritoneum [8].

Once EOC is diagnosed, the primary treatment is surgical removal of the tumor. The surgery is normally followed by platinum and taxol chemotherapy, which impairs cancer cell survival. Platinum-based treatments contain chemical compounds that promote DNA crosslinking, inhibiting DNA repair and synthesis [34], while Taxol promotes the assembly of microtubules in an irreversible manner, preventing cell division and promoting apoptosis of cancer cells [35]. Regrettably, the chemotherapeutic agents used against OC are very similar to those used in the 1970s, when platinum-based therapies were first used in OC treatment [3]. Alternatives to platinum-taxol chemotherapy are currently under investigation [6]. These include targeting tumor angiogenesis using inhibitors of proangiogenic proteins, such as vascular endothelial growth factor receptor



Figure 1. A) Ovarian cancer (OC) has three major types: epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC), derived from the ovarian surface epithelium and/or the fallopian tube epithelium and/or ovarian surface epithelium; germ cell ovarian cancer (GCOC), derived from abnormalities in germ cell development; and stromal cells ovarian cancer (SCOC), derived from abnormal development of stromal cells. B) Finding better translational models for EOC origin, the most prevalent OC type, is fundamental to develop early diagnostic procedures, development of new therapies and, as a consequence, decrease EOC death rates among women.

(VEGFR), platelet-derived growth factor receptor and angiopoietins; or targeting key elements in cell growth, such as epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), which is overexpressed in EOC cells, using tyrosine kinase inhibitors and monoclonal antibodies against the extracellular domain of EG FR [36-39]. The majority of these treatments are being developed in animal models but, unfortunately, often fail in clinical trials [33], highlighting the shortcomings of the animal models for human diseases [40]. As a consequence, the OC post-diagnosis survival rates at 1, 3 and 5 years have not changed significantly over the last 20 years [1]. Accumulating knowledge on the origin of EOC is crucial to tackling this disease in its early stages, through identifying predictive EOC biomarkers for diagnosis and improvement of therapy (Figure 1B). For this purpose, it is essential to establish a reliable experimental model capable of capturing all the characteristics of EOC pathology and origin.

ANIMAL MODELS IN EOC RESEARCH

D. melanogaster. The conserved mechanisms of molecular signalling pathways between fruit flies and humans, in combination with the ability to conduct large-scale genetic screens, makes D. melanogaster an excellent model for understanding the basic signalling mechanisms underlying the progression of EOC. Studies in D. melanogaster have helped identify tumor suppressor genes and oncogenes involved in OC development [16]. Border cells present in the fly's ovaries have been used as a model to study EMT, which is part of the cancer metastatic process [41]. These studies have identified polarity markers in the epithelium, such as E-cadherin and myosin IV, which play a role in the deregulation of proliferation and cell invasion, similar to what happens in human EOC [11]. EGFR and VEGFR are key regulators of border cell invasiveness and have been studied in the fruit fly, since they are also involved in EOC [11]. The role of the Hippo signalling pathway has also been investigated in the fruit fly as a model for EOC. Interestingly, by overexpressing the Yes-associated protein component of this pathway, which is also overexpressed in human EOC, it has been possible to induce EOC in flies, demonstrating its significance in EOC tumorigenesis and conservation of the process in humans [42]. Studying Hippo signalling in fruit flies has revealed the role of this pathway in tissue growth regulation, through programming cell death and cell fate, in flies and humans [11]. However, D. melanogaster remains a less than ideal clinical translational model, since it displays reduced metastatic potential and lacks the complexity of the human physiology and human immune system [41].

M. musculus. Mice are the most widely used animals for human disease modelling. In addition to a number of conserved molecular and physiological pathways, mice display

a large repertoire of genetic and laboratory tools, still unsurpassed by other laboratory species [43]. Mouse models in EOC have been extensively used to investigate disease progression in humans and to develop anti-OC drugs. Several mouse models of EOC with different characteristics have been developed. In this review, we aimed to focus on the comparison of advantages and disadvantages of three major groups of mouse models in OC research, namely xenograft, syngeneic and genetically engineered mice. Xenograft mouse models, in which human OC cells are introduced into host immunodeficient mice, enable the study of the early disease stages, as well as invasion and spreading of the cancer cells. These models have been used to evaluate therapeutic approaches, since they constitute a good representation of the disease and its heterogeneity [44,45]. The immune response, however, is completely absent in xenograft models, since the procedures are performed in immunodeficient mouse strains [43]. The development of syngeneic mouse models, in which the cancer cells are derived from the same mouse strain and are introduced into the immunocompetent host, overcome certain limitations of xenografts [46], although the EOC studied is mouse, rather than human. These models enable the study of immune response, tumor-secreting factors, epithelial-stromal interactions and tumor vascularization [43,47]. Since the development of EOC in mice is never spontaneous and must always be induced [12], this is mostly achieved using genetically engineered mice [43]. Mice have been engineered to overexpress genes associated with EOC in humans. These genes include P53, AKT, BRCA 1 and BRCA 2, which have been implicated in the progression and regression of this disease [48-51]. However, the paucity of tissue- specific promoters for ovarian surface epithelium or fallopian tube epithelium is a major limitation of this approach, since it is difficult to distinguish tissue-specific malignancy from the more general oncogenic properties of these genes [10]. Nevertheless, engineered or transgenic mice have enabled the study of the effects of different mutations in EOC and the corresponding immune interactions [12,43]. Taken together, these mouse models have overcome certain limitations of D. melanogaster in EOC research. However, they also present with their own biological limitations, which compromise their extrapolation to humans. For example, the heterogeneous origin of EOC requires its study in a heterogenetic background, which is not provided by inbred laboratory mouse strains. Moreover, EOC development in mice is not a spontaneous process, but rather induced as mentioned above, which, by definition, rules out the study of the origin and initial development of this disease, limiting the success of therapeutic response prediction in human patients. The development of new drugs using animal models requires a major investment from pharmaceutical companies, since only a limited number of these drugs continue to clinical trials. Failure to translate is a major obstacle towards finding cures for EOC [40].

In vitro models. *In vitro* systems, based particularly on human cell lines, are in principle an attractive alternative in terms of predictive power and also have the potential to be

turned into high-throughput formats for therapeutic target identification. These in vitro systems may also capture patient genetic profiles, an important step in personalized medicine [13]. This promise of bench-to-clinical translation has led to various attempts of developing reliable in vitro models of EOC. The current challenges are determining the best source of biomaterials and improving the culture conditions of EOC in order to mimic biological environments [13,52]. Unfortunately, cells derived from untreated tumors exhibit a tendency to develop drug resistance during primary culture using the presently available methods, limiting their value [53]. Immortalized normal ovarian surface and/or fallopian tube epithelia constitute promising alternatives, since they may be genetically modified and cultured for long periods, although they do not mimic the initial stages of the disease [53]. With regard to culture conditions, cell-spreading assays, where tumor cells spread on surfaces coated with extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins, have been used to study the migration of OC cells [54,55]. However, although these ECM proteins may also be present in the tumor, they do not mimic the tumor microenvironment in vivo. For this reason, 3D culture systems have been developed to provide a more appropriate microenvironment for EOC cells [56]. 3D culture systems also allow other factors, such as oxygen tension, growth factor gradients and properties of the ECM, to be tightly controlled in order to test their effects on EOC development [57]. However, despite the sophistication of these 3D systems, several widely used OC cell lines and immortalized ovarian surface or fallopian tube epithelium lines have not been able to capture the biology of the tumor [13,58]. This issue has been associated with biomechanical and biophysical constraints and inappropriate ECM and, thus far, has not been resolved [59]. Several limitations, such as establishment of a proper ECM environment, absence of functional vasculature or cells that are able to mediate adaptive immune responses, remain to be overcome in order to construct truly representative EOC in vitro models [59]. Improving in vitro models for EOC may be costly, due to the need for specialized materials and expertise, but is also dependent on a better understanding of the tumor microenvironment *in vivo*, which the 3D cultures attempt to mimic. This is presently considered to be a work in progress.

THE DOMESTIC HEN: A UNIQUE MODEL TO STUDY EOC

The female hen possesses a single functional ovary, which undergoes ovulation at a high rate during its lifespan [60]. Despite anatomical differences, the laying hen is the only experimental model that develops spontaneous OC and, at the same time, offers the possibility of easy manipulation of external factors, such as nutrition or hormones and drug administration [61,62]. Moreover, the pathology and progression of the disease resembles that in humans in several respects [63,64]. Specific characteristics of the hen

also overcome several limitations of the other models already discussed in the study of OC .

Incessant ovulation hypothesis. Fathalla [17] was the first to identify a possible association between the repeated involvement of ovarian surface epithelium in the process of ovulation and the frequency of the development of the common ovarian neoplasms from this epithelium. In his "incessant ovulation hypothesis", Fathalla stresses the role of repeated repair of the ruptured ovarian surface epithelium in the induction of genetic aberrations in the tissue that culminate in the development of OC [17,65]. This hypothesis is in line with observations on the domestic hen, which ovulates daily, on average, for at least 2 years and exhibits an OC prevalence of 5-35% among adult hens, depending on the genetic strain [66,67]. Moreover, the hypothesis relates EOC incidence in humans to the fact that modern women are generally exposed to a continuous ovulatory process from puberty to menopause. A continuous ovulatory process without fertilization results from the decreased pregnancy rates in modern society, also evidenced by the geographical co-localization of high OC incidence in more economically developed countries [17]. There is strong evidence supporting an association between low prevalence of EOC and the use of oral contraceptives or/and pregnancy [65]. While wild chickens may live for 20/30 years, the domestic hen has a relatively short lifespan and is subject to intense and concentrated egg production during the first 2 years of its life, which makes it an interesting model to study the role of ovulation in EOC. Indeed, Fathalla's theory laid the foundation for different studies regarding the role of ovulation in OC [17]. The first study, using medroxyprogesterone, demonstrated decreased egg production and a 15% reduction in the incidence of EOC in 3-year-old birds [68]. More recently, using progestin as contraceptive, a 90% decrease in OC incidence was achieved in treated hens compared with the controls [69]. A short generation time, the possibility of controlling environmental factors and the availability of different genetic strains make the domestic hen a very useful model in chemoprevention experiments [61,68,69].

Biomolecular and metastatic traits. The similarities between the hen and humans with respect to EOC development are also observed in terms of pathology, with several similar histopathological subtypes identified in both species [68,70]. Moreover, the sequencing of the chicken genome 10 years ago enabled valuable molecular comparisons with human cases [71]. Different biomarkers, such as CA -125, P53 and E-cadherin, were also expressed in EOC in both species [28,72-74]. With respect to the EOC origin, the same controversies apply to human and hens. In the hen, the expression of proteins that are specifically expressed in the oviduct during the later stages of the disease, such as ovoalbumin, ovostatin 2, PAX2 protein or EG FR1, indicate involvement of the oviduct in disease development [10,72]. This finding supports the involvement of the fallopian tube epithelium in spontaneous EOC, as in humans. This trait makes the hen a particularly

useful model to better understand the origin of the OC in humans, where the oviduct also appears to play a role [63,67,75]. Since, as mentioned earlier, female mice do not develop spontaneous EOC, the involvement of the fallopian tube epithelium was only recently demonstrated: In a transgenic mouse model, in which SV40 large T-antigen was expressed under control of a mouse Müllerian-specific Ovgp-1 promoter, malignant progression of this epithelium was observed [76]. With respect to the pathology of EOC in the hen, this is a highly malignant cancer that metastasizes along the abdominal cavity, spreading to different organs within a short period of time [68]. Histopathological evaluation of OC metastasis reveals similar characteristics between human and hen spontaneous adenocarcinomas of the reproductive tract. Interestingly, the metastatic process of EOC, in terms of the position and location of the ascites during the later stages of hen EOC, also resembles that in humans [18]. Despite significant evidence supporting the presence of similar molecular patterns in the origin and development of EOC, the lack of commercially available antibodies for immunohistochemistry and western blot analysis remains a major limitation in the use of hen models in EOC [14,67]. In order to increase the translational power of the laying hen as a model in OC research, it is crucial to develop further chicken laboratory tools in the fields of genomics, proteomics and metabolomics. These tools will likely be useful for the study of OC, as well as that of other pathologies [77].

Anatomy and heterogenetic background. Different EOC types display remarkable diversity at the cellular and molecular levels [10,78]. There is currently a scarcity of evidence regarding the role of specific genes in the development of EOC in humans, which appears to have heterogenic causes [78]. The evidence indicating a heterogeneous background to EOC suggests that it is of paramount importance to establish an experimental model with a heterogenetic background to study this disease, rather than using inbred species [67]. The domestic hen has been extensively bred for agricultural purposes, but its genome maintains the genetic diversity of the wild chicken [71]. Studies regarding the role of ageing in the development of EOC in hens have demonstrated differences in EOC prevalence rates among different strains. Different strains appear to develop OC in parallel with ageing; however, the incidence rate of the disease differs among strains [66].

Development of the reproductive system. The fact that the hen develops *in ovo*, provides a significant advantage for *in vivo* manipulation and imaging of embryonic processes [79]. The use of chicken embryos, which are amniotes, in cell interaction studies, cell fate tracing or mechanisms of embryonic patterning, has allowed investigation of several processes that have analogies in humans [79]. The development of the urogenital system is a case in point, particularly with regard to understanding the signalling pathways underlying the development of the testes and ovaries [80]. The development of the gonads

in chickens displays one particularly striking characteristic: During gonadogenesis, the development of the gonads is asymmetric, resulting in two functional testes in males, but only one functional ovary on the left side in females [81]. This asymmetric development of the chicken gonads affects gonadal morphology and the development of germ cells, as exemplified by the asymmetric expression of meiotic markers (unpublished data). In mammals, asymmetry between the two gonads is also established during development; this does not affect their functionality, as a pair of functional testes or ovaries form. However, this asymmetry becomes evident in the development of certain sexual differentiation disorders, such as hermaphroditism [82,83]. With respect to OC, it is interesting to note that there appears to be a higher prevalence of GCOC in the right gonad compared to that in the left gonad. This asymmetric prevalence of GCOC suggests an association between this asymmetry and germ cell development [84]. The chicken provides a model for asymmetric ovarian development, a mechanism that appears to play a role in germ cell development, which is affected in GCOC. Therefore, the higher prevalence of GCOC in the right ovary may be further elucidated by understanding the asymmetrical development of the gonads in the chicken. Regarding EOC, there is no evidence supporting a role for gonadal asymmetry in the prevalence of the disease in the right or left ovary [84]; interestingly, however, paired-like homeodomain transcription factor 2 (PITX2), which is overexpressed in EOC, is also a key player in the asymmetric development of chicken female gonads (85,86). The expression of *PITX2* in the left gonad promotes proliferation of the left cortex, leading to the asymmetric development of the gonads [85,87]. Moreover, when induced in the left gonad, PITX2 promotes the formation of the right cortex [87]. Interestingly, PITX2 plays an important role during development, but is normally silenced in the adult; its role in cancer was recently demonstrated in several tumor types, such as metastatic prostate cancer and breast cancer [88-91]. The chicken embryo offers a unique experimental model to understand the role of PITX2 in gonadal development and the effects of the inhibition or overexpression of this transcription factor during development, which may provide insight into its role in the signalling pathways involved in the development of EOC.

GENETIC TOOLS: BOOSTING AVIAN MODELS IN EOC

Since Aristotle, the first to study the avian model, the laying hen has been used extensively in experimental embryology, disease modelling and evolutionary studies [77]. The hen has contributed to our understanding of numerous processes relevant to humans, including (abnormal) cardiac development and somitogenesis, through which much of the skeletal musculature is formed [77]. The differences between birds and humans, that may complicate EOC modelling, stem from the endocrine system and relate to the

sexual hormone cycle [14,69]. However, the drawbacks of avian models in studying the origin of EOC are mostly associated with the lack of technology that provides appropriate laboratory tools [92]. In contrast to flies and mice, there are few commercial sources of antibodies for immunohistochemistry, FACS or western blot analysis and transgenic approaches are only now becoming available in the chicken laboratories [92]. Transgenesis in chicken is progressing slowly, despite the publication of the chicken genome sequence [71]. Nevertheless, small interfering RNA and morpholino oligonucleotides have already been tested successfully in the avian model, allowing gain- and loss-of-function gene studies that are controlled in space and time [93]. The development of isolation and culture methods of chicken embryonic stem cells has opened new doors in exploring chicken cell biology [94]; however, as the available protocols are far from producing the first avian knockouts, it is currently necessary to rely on data from other models. New genetic tools, associated with its extensive history as an experimental model and low costs of acquisition and maintenance compared to other models, predict remarkable advances in the use of the hen for disease modelling [77,92]. For EOC, long-term studies using the appropriate tools with regard to gene and protein expression will soon become more accessible. Together with the possibility of controlling gene expression and culturing chicken cells, these will allow researchers to investigate the spontaneous origin of EOC in a heterogenetic background and overcome certain of the limitations of other models.

THE AVIAN MODEL AS A KEY PLAYER IN EOC RESEARCH

Highlighting the advantages of the hen in studying the origin of EOC does not minimize the importance of improving other EOC models in parallel, but rather warrants the development of an integrative approach using different models, in vivo and in vitro, that may complement the discoveries made in the avian model (Figure 2). Fruit fly and mouse models in EOC research will continue to unravel the basic mechanisms in EOC development and allow the development/selection of drugs that may be screened in 3D culture systems of human EOC cells. Subsequently, the hen offers the possibility of large-scale drug screenings in heterogeneous populations, enabling the comparison of drug efficiency in a robust model in order to better select drugs for clinical trials. On the other hand, the laying domestic hen represents a unique system that mimics the disease in humans with regard to origin, development, metastatic processes and association with the ageing oviduct epithelium; in addition, the characterization of EOC in different progression stages in the adult hen may elucidate the mechanisms underlying the origin of EOC in humans. Therefore, the hen constitutes a fundamental model for the identification of candidate pathways associated with the onset, development and progression of EOC and the selection of drugs that target cancer pathways.



Figure 2. The role of the laying hen in an integrative epithelial ovarian cancer research effort. Drosophila melanogaster and Mus musculus are well established models to study basic molecular mechanisms in cancer. They are thus excellent models to dissect out candidate pathways involved in EOC biology. However, D. melanogaster has limited clinical translation relevance since it does not present the complexity of human physiology. M. musculus is physiologically very similar to humans, but does not provide a heterogenetic background and spontaneous development of EOC. 3D in vitro culture systems of human EOC cells can constitute an important model in drug screening, but they are still not capable of reproducing the in vivo situation. Gallus gallus domesticus is a promising model for EOC, not only by offering advantages relative to M. musculus in terms of in vivo drug validation, but it is also a unique model to

Those drugs may be screened in other models, such as fruit fly, mouse and *in vitro* systems, but also in the hen itself. The complementary study of the different models may help us elucidate the pathology and epidemiology of this disease. In conclusion, only an integrative research effort, where the avian model plays a crucial role, will enable the identification of new markers, thereby allowing the development of novel diagnostics and therapies for OC, which remains the most common cause of gynaecological cancer-related mortality in humans.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was supported by the Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia SFRH/ BD/94387/2013 to A.M.B.

REFERENCES

- 1. Lowe KA, Chia VM, Taylor A, et al. An international assessment of ovarian cancer incidence and mortality. Gynecol Oncol. 2013;130: 107-114.
- 2. Siegel R, Ma JM, Zou ZH and Jemal A. Cancer Statistics, 2014. CA Cancer J Clin. 2014;64: 9-29,
- 3. Vaughan S, Coward JI, Bast RC, et al. Rethinking ovarian cancer: recommendations for improving outcomes. Nat Rev Cancer. 2011;11: 719-725,
- 4. Bharwani N, Reznek RH and Rockall AG. Ovarian cancer management: the role of imaging and diagnostic challenges. Eur J Radiol. 2011;78: 41-51,
- 5. Luvero D, Milani A and Ledermann JA. Treatment options in recurrent ovarian cancer: latest evidence and clinical potential. Ther Adv Med Oncol. 2014; 6: 229-239.
- 6. Menon U, Griffin M and Gentry-Maharaj A. Ovarian cancer screening current status, future directions. Gynecol Oncol. 2014;132: 490-495..
- 7. Goff BA, Mandel LS, Drescher CW, et al. Development of an ovarian cancer symptom index: possibilities for earlier detection. Cancer. 2007; 109: 221-227.
- 8. Bast RC, Hennessy B and Mills GB. The biology of ovarian cancer: new opportunities for translation. Nat Rev Cancer. 2009;9:415-428,
- 9. Romero I and Bast RC Jr. Minireview: human ovarian cancer: biology, current management, and paths to personalizing therapy. Endocrinology. 2012;53: 1593-1602.
- 10. King SM and Burdette JE. Evaluating the progenitor cells of ovarian cancer: analysis of current animal models. BMB Rep. 2011;44: 435-445.
- 11. Rosales-Nieves AE and Gonzalez-Reyes A. Genetics and mechanisms of ovarian cancer: parallels between *Drosophila* and humans. Semin Cell Dev Biol.2014; 28: 104-109.
- 12. Fong MY and Kakar SS. Ovarian cancer mouse models: a summary of current models and their limitations. J Ovarian Res. 2009; 2:12.
- 13. Jacob F, Nixdorf S, Hacker NF and Heinzelmann-Schwarz VA. Reliable *in vitro* studies require appropriate ovarian cancer cell lines. J Ovarian Res. 2014;7: 60.
- 14. Johnson PA and Giles JR. The hen as a model of ovarian cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2013;13: 432-436.
- 15. Vergara D, Merlot B, Lucot JP, et al.: Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in ovarian cancer. Cancer Lett. 2010;291: 59-66.
- 16. Naora H and Montell DJ. Ovarian cancer metastasis: integrating insights from disparate model organisms. Nat Rev Cancer. 2005;5: 355-366.
- 17. Fathalla MF. Incessant ovulation a factor in ovarian neoplasia? Lancet. 1971;2: 163,
- Erickson BK, Conner MG and Landen CN Jr. The role of the fallopian tube in the origin of ovarian cancer. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2013; 209: 409-414.
- 19. Fleming JS, Beaugie CR, Haviv I, Chenevix-Trench G and Tan OL. Incessant ovulation, inflammation and epithelial ovarian carcinogenesis: revisiting old hypotheses. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2006; 247: 4-21.
- 20. Murdoch WJ and McDonnel AC. Roles of the ovarian surface epithelium in ovulation and carcinogenesis. Reproduction. 2002;123: 743-750.
- Murdoch WJ. Ovarian surface epithelium, ovulation and carcinogenesis. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc. 1996;71: 529-543.
- 22. Auersperg N, Wong AS, Choi KC, Kang SK and Leung PC. Ovarian surface epithelium: biology, endocrinology, and pathology. Endocr Rev. 2001;22: 255-288.
- 86 | Chapter 4

- 23. Maccio A and Madeddu C. Inflammation and ovarian cancer. Cytokine. 2012; 58: 133-147.
- Salehi F, Dunfield L, Phillips KP, Krewski D and VanderhydenBC. Risk factors for ovarian cancer: an overview with emphasis on hormonal factors. J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev.2008;11: 301-321.
- 25. De Sousa Damião R, Fujiyama Oshima CT, Stávale JN and Gonçalves WJ. Analysis of the expression of estrogen receptor, progesterone receptor and chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter-transcription factor I in ovarian epithelial cancers and normal ovaries. Oncol Rep.2007;18: 25-32.
- Moorman PG, Havrilesky LJ, Gierisch JM, et al. Oral contra- ceptives and risk of ovarian cancer and breast cancer among high-risk women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31: 4188-4198.
- 27. Auersperg N. Specific keynote: experimental models of epithelial ovarian carcinogenesis. Gynecol Oncol. 2003;88: S47-51; discussion S52-55.
- 28. Hakim AH, Turbov J and Rodriguez G. Ovarian adenocarcinomas in the laying hen and women share similar alterations in p53, ras, and HER-2/neu. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2009. 2: 114-121.
- Kolwijck E, Span PN, Thomas CM, et al. Prognostic value of CA 125 in ovarian cyst fluid of patients with epithelial ovarian cancer. Oncol Rep. 2010;23: 579-584.
- Walsh T, Casadei S, Lee MK, et al. Mutations in 12 genes for inherited ovarian, fallopian tube, and peritoneal carcinoma identified by massively parallel sequencing. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2011;108: 18032-18037.
- 31. Grant P, Sakellis C and Jacene HA. Gynecologic oncologic imaging with PET/CT. Semin Nucl Med. 2014; 44: 461-478.
- 32. Chene G, Penault-Llorca F, Robin N, et al. Early detection of ovarian cancer: tomorrow? A review. J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod (Paris). 2013;42: 5-11.
- Lokshin AE. The quest for ovarian cancer screening biomarkers: are we on the right road? Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2012; 22 (Suppl 1): S35-S40.
- 34. Muggia F. Platinum compounds 30 years after the introduction of cisplatin: implications for the treatment of ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;112: 275-281.
- 35. Kumar S, Mahdi H, Bryant C, et al. Clinical trials and progress with paclitaxel in ovarian cancer. Int J Womens Health. 2010;2: 411-427.
- 36. Huang RY, Chung VY and Thiery JP.Targeting pathways contributing to epithelialmesenchymal transition (EMT) in epithelial ovarian cancer. Curr Drug Targets. 2012;13: 1649-1653.
- 37. Kalachand R, Hennessy BT and Markman M. Molecular targeted therapy in ovarian cancer: what is on the horizon? Drugs. 2011;71: 947-967.
- Syrios J, Banerjee S and Kaye SB. Advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: from standard chemotherapy to promising molecular pathway targets - where are we now? Anticancer Res. 2014;34: 2069-2077.
- 39. Itamochi H and Kigawa J. Clinical trials and future potential of targeted therapy for ovarian cancer. Int J Clin Oncol. 2012;17: 430-440.
- 40. Caponigro G and Sellers WR. Advances in the preclinical testing of cancer therapeutic hypotheses. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2011;10: 179-187.
- 41. Brumby AM and Richardson HE. Using *Drosophila* mela- nogaster to map human cancer pathways. Nat Rev Cancer. 2005;5: 626-639.
- 42. Hall CA, Wang R, Miao J, et al. Hippo pathway effector Yap is an ovarian cancer oncogene. Cancer Res. 2010;70: 8517-8525.

- 43. House CD, Hernandez L and Annunziata CM. Recent techno- logical advances in using mouse models to study ovarian cancer. Front Oncol. 2014;4:26.
- Shaw TJ, Senterman MK, Dawson K, Crane CA and Vanderhyden BC. Characterization of intraperitoneal, orthotopic, and metastatic xenograft models of human ovarian cancer. Mol Ther.2004;10: 1032-1042.
- Fu X and Hoffman RM. Human ovarian carcinoma metastatic models constructed in nude mice by orthotopic transplantation of histologically-intact patient specimens. Anticancer Res. 1993;13: 283-286.
- 46. Roby KF, Taylor CC, Sweetwood JP, et al. Development of a syngeneic mouse model for events related to ovarian cancer. Carcinogenesis. 2000;21: 585-591.
- 47. Urzua U, Roby KF, Gangi LM, et al. Transcriptomic analysis of an *in vitro* murine model of ovarian carcinoma: functional similarity to the human disease and identification of prospective tumoral markers and targets. J Cell Physiol. 2006;206: 594-602.
- 48. Orsulic S, Li Y, Soslow RA, et al: Induction of ovarian cancer by defined multiple genetic changes in a mouse model system. Cancer Cell. 2002;1: 53-62.
- 49. Xing D and Orsulic S: A mouse model for the molecular characterization of brca1-associated ovarian carcinoma. Cancer Res. 2006;66: 8949-8953.
- Flesken-Nikitin A, Choi KC, Eng JP, Shmidt EN and Nikitin AY. Induction of carcinogenesis by concurrent inactivation of p53 and Rb1 in the mouse ovarian surface epithelium. Cancer Res. 2003;63: 3459-3463.
- 51. Wu R, Hendrix-Lucas N, Kuick R, et al. Mouse model of human ovarian endometrioid adenocarcinoma based on somatic defects in the Wnt/beta-catenin and PI3K/Pten signaling pathways. Cancer Cell. 2007:11: 321-333.
- 52. Fuller ES and Howell VM. Culture models to define key mediators of cancer matrix remodeling. Front Oncol. , 2014;4: 57.
- Gillet JP, Calcagno AM, Varma S, et al. Redefining the relevance of established cancer cell lines to the study of mechanisms of clinical anti-cancer drug resistance. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2011.108: 18708-18713.
- 54. Yagi H, Yotsumoto F and Miyamoto S. Heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor promotes transcoelomic metastasis in ovarian cancer through epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Mol Cancer Ther 7. 2008;3441-3451.
- 55. Sodek KL, Brown TJ and Ringuette MJ. Collagen I but not Matrigel matrices provide an MMP-dependent barrier to ovarian cancer cell penetration. BMC Cancer. 2008;8: 223.
- 56. Kenny HA, Krausz T, Yamada SD and Lengyel E. Use of a novel 3D culture model to elucidate the role of mesothelial cells, fibroblasts and extra-cellular matrices on adhesion and invasion of ovarian cancer cells to the omentum. Int J Cancer. 2007;121: 1463-1472.
- 57. Yamada KM and Cukierman E. Modeling tissue morphogenesis and cancer in 3D. Cell. 2007;130: 601-61.
- 58. Lee JM, Mhawech-Fauceglia P, Lee N, et al. A three-dimensional microenvironment alters protein expression and chemosensitivity of epithelial ovarian cancer cells *in vitro*. Lab Invest. 2013;93: 528-542.
- 59. White EA, Kenny HA and Lengyel E. Three-dimensional modeling of ovarian cancer. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2014;79-80: 184-192.
- 60. Pollock CG and Orosz SE. Avian reproductive anatomy, physiology and endocrinology. Vet Clin North Am Exot Anim Pract. 2002;5: 441-474
- 61. Barnes MN, Berry WD, Straughn JM, et al. A pilot study of ovarian cancer chemoprevention using medroxyprogesterone acetate in an avian model of spontaneous ovarian carcinogenesis. Gynecol Oncol. 2002;87: 57-63.
- 88 | Chapter 4

- 62. Carver DK, Barnes HJ, Anderson KE, et al. Reduction of ovarian and oviductal cancers in calorie-restricted laying chickens. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2011;4: 562-567.
- 63. Giles JR, Elkin RG, Trevino LS, et al. The restricted ovulator chicken: a unique animal model for investigating the etiology of ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2010;20: 738-744.
- 64. Seo HW, Rengaraj D, Choi JW, et al. The expression profile of apoptosis-related genes in the chicken as a human epithelial ovarian cancer model. Oncol Rep. 2011;25: 49-56.
- 65. Havrilesky LJ, Gierisch JM, Moorman PG, et al. Oral contraceptive use for the primary prevention of ovarian cancer. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep). 2013;212: 1-514.
- Johnson PA and Giles JR: Use of genetic strains of chickens in studies of ovarian cancer. Poult Sci. 2006;85: 246-250.
- 67. Hawkridge AM: The chicken model of spontaneous ovarian cancer. Proteomics Clin Appl 8: 689-699, 2014.
- 68. Fredrickson TN: Ovarian tumors of the hen. Environ Health Perspect. 1987;73: 35-51.
- Trevino LS, Buckles EL and Johnson PA. Oral contraceptives decrease the prevalence of ovarian cancer in the hen. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2012;5: 343-349.
- Barua A, Bitterman P, Abramowicz JS, et al. Histopathology of ovarian tumors in laying hens: a preclinical model of human ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2009;19: 531-539.
- International Chicken Genome Sequencing Consortium. Sequence and comparative analysis of the chicken genome provide unique perspectives on vertebrate evolution. Nature. 2004;432: 695-716.
- Trevino LS, Giles JR, Wang W, Urick ME and Johnson PA. Gene expression profiling reveals differentially expressed genes in ovarian cancer of the hen: support for oviductal origin? Horm Cancer. 2010;1: 177-186.
- 73. Ansenberger K, Zhuge Y, Lagman JA, et al. E-cadherin expression in ovarian cancer in the laying hen, Gallus domesticus, compared to human ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;113: 362-369.
- Jackson E, Anderson K, Ashwell C, Petitte J and Mozdziak PE. CA 125 expression in spontaneous ovarian adenocarcinomas from laying hens. Gynecol Oncol. 2007;104: 192-198.
- 75. Lim CH, Lim W, Jeong W, et al. Avian WNT4 in the female reproductive tracts: potential role of oviduct development and ovarian carcinogenesis. PLoS One. 2013;8: e65935.
- 76. Kim J, Coffey DM, Creighton CJ, et al. High-grade serous ovarian cancer arises from fallopian tube in a mouse model. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2012;109: 3921-3926.
- 77. Kain KH, Miller JW, Jones-Paris CR, et al. The chick embryo as an expanding experimental model for cancer and cardiovascular research. Dev Dyn. 2014;243: 216-228.
- 78. Kurman RJ and Shih IM. The origin and pathogenesis of epithelial ovarian cancer: a proposed unifying theory. Am J Surg Pathol. 2010;34: 433-443.
- 79. Davey MG and Tickle C. The chicken as a model for embryonic development. Cytogenet Genome Res. 2007;117: 231-239.
- Ayers KL, Sinclair AH and Smith CA. The molecular genetics of ovarian differentiation in the avian model. Sex Dev. 2013;7:80-94.
- 81. Smith CA and Sinclair AH. Sex determination: insights from the chicken. Bioessays, 2004;26: 120-132.
- Mittwoch U. Phenotypic manifestations during the development of the dominant and default gonads in mammals and birds. J Exp Zool. 1998;281: 466-47.

- 83. Mittwoch U. Sex determination. EMBO Rep. 2013;14: 588-592.
- Roychoudhuri R, Putcha V and Moller H. Cancer and laterality: a study of the five major paired organs (UK). Cancer Causes Control. 2006;17: 655-662.
- 85. Rodriguez-Leon J, Rodriguez Esteban C, Marti M, et al. PITX2 regulates gonad morphogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2008; 105: 11242-11247.
- Fung FK, Chan DW, Liu VW, et al. Increased expression of PITX2 transcription factor contributes to ovarian cancer progression. PLoS One. 2012;7: e37076.
- 87. Guioli S and Lovell-Badge R. PITX2 controls asymmetric gonadal development in both sexes of the chick and can rescue the degeneration of the right ovary. Development. 2007;134: 4199-4208.
- Vela I, Morrissey C, Zhang X, et al. PITX2 and non-canonical Wnt pathway interaction in metastatic prostate cancer. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2014;31: 199-211.
- Gobel G, Auer D, Gaugg I, et al. Prognostic significance of methylated RASSF1A and PITX2 genes in blood- and bone marrow plasma of breast cancer patients. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2011;130: 109-117.
- 90. Wilting J and Hagedorn M. Left-right asymmetry in embryonic development and breast cancer: common molecular determinants? Curr Med Chem. 2011;18: 5519-5527.
- 91. Vandenberg LN and Levin M. A unified model for left-right asymmetry? Comparison and synthesis of molecular models of embryonic laterality. Dev Biol. 2013;379: 1-15.
- 92. Stern CD. The chick embryo past, present and future as a model system in developmental biology. Mech Dev. 2004;121: 1011-1013.
- Sauka-Spengler T and Barembaum M. Gain- and loss-of-function approaches in the chick embryo. Methods Cell Biol. 2008;87: 237-256.
- 94. Intarapat S and Stern CD. Chick stem cells: current progress and future prospects. Stem Cell Res. 2013;11: 1378-1392.



5

The involvement of the proamnion in the development of the anterior amnion fold in chicken

Ana de Melo Bernardo¹ and Susana M. Chuva de Sousa Lopes¹

¹Department of Anatomy and Embryology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands

In PLoS One. 2014;19;9(3):e92672

ABSTRACT

The amnion was one of the most important evolutionary novelties in the animal kingdom, allowing independence of water for reproduction and subsequent exploration of terrestrial habitats, and is therefore an important structure to understand evolution. We have studied chicken amniogenesis using *ex ovo* culture systems and 3D-reconstructions of serially sectioned chicken embryos. We provide evidence for a transient depression of the head in the proamnion, forming a pouch, that positions the extraembryonic membranes dorsal to the head and that is fundamental for the correct formation of the amnion and chorion membranes. When this "sinking" process in the proamnion was blocked, the amnion/ chorion did not form, even though the growth of the embryo per se seemed unaffected. Here, we give insight in the role of the proamnion in amniogenesis.

INTRODUCTION

The appearance of the amniote egg, an evolutionary novelty from the amphibian ancestors of the reptiles, opened new evolutionary paths. The amniote egg contained all the materials needed for the embryo to develop: sufficient water, nutrients and energy. Only oxygen and heat were still required from the environment. Subsequently, animals became independent of water for reproduction and took the opportunity to explore terrestrial habitats. The original pattern of the amniote egg, that comprised the formation of four extraembryonic sacs (amnion, chorion, yolk sac and allantois), was such an important novelty that it remained conserved between reptiles, birds and mammals (reviewed in [1,2]). In mammals, even in the absence of large amounts of yolk, the developing of the four extraembryonic "sacs" has been retained to a certain extent (reviewed in [1,2]).

In chicken, the generation of the extraembryonic sacs takes place after gastrulation, with the appearance of the extraembryonic coelomic cavity in the extraembryonic mesoderm (ExM) [3-6]. This cavity contributes to the separation of two major extraembryonic tissue layers: the splanchnopleure formed by endoderm and ExM; and the somatopleure formed by ectoderm and ExM. The splanchnopleure develops into a complex system of blood vessels, the yolk sac, responsible for supplying yolk and egg white materials to the embryo (nourishment); and it will architect the allantois, a structure connected to the primitive gut, which stores toxic by-products produced by the embryo. On the other hand, the somatopleure gives rise to both the chorion and the amnion. The chorion will allow gas exchanges with the external environment, while the amnion constitutes a protective membrane that surrounds the embryo and prevents its desiccation.

Interestingly, the ExM does not populate the extraembryonic area immediately anterior to the chicken foregut (and the developing heart), the so-called proamnion, but as the ExM spreads anteriorly it does so by circumventing the proamnion with two separate lateral wings that fuse axially. The proamnion remains diblastic composed only of ectoderm and endoderm and during the presomitic stages (until Hamburger and Hamilton stage (HH)7 [7]) it has been shown to express retinoic acid receptor isoform $\beta 2$ (RAR $\beta 2$) [8]. The proamnion, as diblastic structure, disappears gradually [9,10], however according to Rosenquist (1971), endoderm fate-mapped to the proamnion should not be confused with the buccopharyngeal membrane, another cranial diblastic membrane, present in both human and chick embryos, that gives rise to the opening of the oral cavity [12,13].

The current model of amnion development in chicken describes the separation between the amnion and the chorion from four distinct folds of somatopleure: the anterior amnion fold, two lateral amnion folds and the posterior amnion fold [7,9,14-16]. The growth of the anterior amnion fold would create sufficient tension to elevate the somatopleure, subsequently leading to the formation of the two lateral amnion folds [17]. The posterior amnion fold surrounds the caudal region, similarly to the anterior amnion fold, but growing in opposite direction with an 18 hour delay. The embryo becomes enclosed (by amnion and chorion), after the fusion of the four different amniotic folds over the dorsal side of the embryo by 72 hours of incubation [15].

Recently, we have investigated the migratory route of the primordial germ cells (PGCs) in chicken embryos from the germinal crescent region of the yolk sac to the genital ridges and noticed that the PGCs would often be situated on an extraembryonic membrane clearly positioned above (or dorsal to) the head of the embryo [18]. As classically the PGCs are localized in the splanchnopleure and later in the vasculature of the yolk sac [19], we were surprised by their dorsal localization and we have investigated the formation of both the anterior amnion fold and the volk sac between HH10 and HH13 by culturing embryos ex ovo and by performing 3D-reconstructions of serially sectioned chicken embryos. We concluded that the developing head at HH13 is submerged in a pouch formed by the diblastic proamnion. This displacement of the head positioned both the splanchnopleure (yolk sac and hence the PGCs) and the somatopleure transiently in a dorsal position to the head, explaining our observations of PGCs present dorsally to the head [18]. In 1889, an anatomical study by Shore and Pickering suggested the importance of the proamnion in the formation of the anterior amnion fold [9], but their model has been ignored in most textbooks to date, where the proamnion is not depicted. We now experimentally show that the depression of the head in the proamniotic pouch is paramount for the correct position of the anterior amnion fold, as without this depression of the head in the proamnion, the somatopleure is unable to elevate sufficiently to cover the extending embryo and to surround the embryo generating both the amnion and the chorion.

METHODS

Embryo collection and histology and 3D reconstruction

Fertilized White Leghorn chicken (Gallus gallus) eggs were incubated in a humidified atmosphere at 37.0°C until HH11-13 [7]. The embryos were isolated (HH11 n=6; HH12 n=10; HH13 n=13), fixed overnight in 4% paraformaldehyde, included in paraffin, sectioned and stained for hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) as previously described [18]. Sections were imaged on an Olympus AX70 microscope (Olympus) equipped with an Olympus XC50 camera (Olympus). For 3D reconstructions, serial paraffin transversal sections of freshly isolated embryos at stage HH12 and HH13 stained with H&E were digitalized using a Panoramic MIDI scanner (3D Histech) and reconstructed with Amira 4.1 software (Visage Imaging).

Ex ovo culture systems

The "inverted" culture system was developed combining the "filter paper" method of Chapman and colleagues [26] with that of Nicolet and Gallera [25]. In our method, embryos of HH11 were isolated using a piece of filter paper with a central hole (+/- 1 cm in diameter) placed onto the albumen with the embryo in the middle (Figure 3A-B). The border of the filter paper with the embryo attached was cut with small scissors and gently drawn away with forceps and pulled from the yolk in an oblique direction. The excess of yolk was then washed with PBS, while keeping the embryo attached to the filter paper. Thereafter, the embryos were placed with either their ventral (n=14) or dorsal (n=8) side facing upwards in a petri dish (MatTek) with glass bottom on a 500 µl drop of PBS (Figure 3C-D). The borders of the lid of the petri dish were first sealed with humid paper (with PBS) and then wrapped with parafilm to avoid evaporation (Figure 3D-E). Thereafter, the embryos ("inverted" group and "non inverted" group) were cultured for 7:30 hours (until HH12) at 37°C with humidity on air. As control, an opening was made in the shell of control eggs with embryos at HH11 (n=15), part of the vitelline membrane was removed to expose the embryo and some drops of PBS were added to avoid embryo drought. The eggs were then re-sealed with tape and incubated for 7:30 hours at 37°C with humidity on air, and the embryos were collected afterwards. Somites were counted at the onset and the end of the culture period. The resulting embryos were isolated in PBS and some embryos were processed as described above for histology. For the "suspension" culture system, embryos of HH5 (n=10) were prepared for ex ovo culture essentially as described [18,22]. Briefly, chicken embryos were grown on top of a mini yolk sac structure in a fish embryo-like shape. After 72 hours of incubation the embryos were analysed.

Image acquisition of whole mount embryos and statistical analysis

A Leica M420 stereoscope (Leica, Rijswijk, the Netherlands) equipped with a Nikon E4500 Coolpix camera (Nikon, Tokyo, Japan) was used to image whole mount embryos. ImageJ was used to measure the distance between the tip of the anterior intestinal portal and the border between the proamnion and the yolk sac in the embryos cultured *ex ovo* "inverted" and "non inverted" and control embryos grown *in ovo*. IBM SPSS Statistics 20 was used to perform a one-way ANOVA test to compare the average of the distance in each of the three conditions. P<0.05 (*) were considered statistically significant.





RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The head sinks in proamnion, positioning both the somatopleure and splanchnopleure dorsally

To understand the formation and position of the anterior amnion fold and yolk sac in chicken embryos, we isolated chicken embryos at HH11, HH12 and HH13 containing the extraembryonic membranes and serially sectioned them sagittally and transversally. At HH11, the embryo head rested on top of the proamnion (Figure 1A) and as development proceeded, the anterior amnion fold is formed starting to involve the tip of the head and the head progressively submerged in the proamnion, forming a pouch, at HH12-HH13 (Figure 1B,C). The point of separation between proamnion (endoderm/ectoderm), splanchnopleure (endoderm/mesoderm) and somatopleure (ectoderm/mesoderm) was clearly visible at HH11, HH12 and HH13 (black arrow in Figure 1A-C). At HH13, the proamnion covered the forebrain and as a consequence both the splanchnopleure and somatopleure were elevated and positioned dorsally from the forebrain, facilitating the growth of the amniotic fold to cover the midbrain (Figure 1C).

In the absence of known molecular markers for the proamnion at HH12-HH13, we performed 3D reconstructions of serial transverse-sectioned embryos to visualize the boundaries of the proamnion in more lateral positions to the head (Figure 1D). The reconstructions showed that the proamniotic domain extended laterally between HH12 and HH13 as the head submerged (Figure 1D). In addition, the dorsal view of the 3D reconstructions showed that the anterior amnion fold is growing dorsally and progressively in an anteroposterior direction between the two stages (Figure 1D, dorsal view), while the head is sinking in proamnion (Figure 1D, lateral view). A detailed analysis of whole mount embryos of HH12-HH13 (Figure 2A-B) also revealed that the head indeed submerged in a proamniotic pouch, positioning the boundary between the proamnion, the splanchnopleure/yolk sac and the developing anterior amnion fold dorsally from the head (Figure 2A and white dotted line in Figure 2B), allowing the dorsal expansion of the anterior amnion fold in a posterior direction (yellow arrows in Figure 2B). Histological analysis of HH13 embryos sectioned transversally revealed that the tip of the head was indeed completely surrounded by proamnion (Figure 2C). In 1951, Hamburger and Hamilton described the presence of the anterior amnion fold covering the forebrain's region at HH12 and extending to the midbrain and the anterior part of the hindbrain at HH13 [7], indicating a directional growth from anterior to posterior. The proamnion was not mentioned in that classical paper.



Figure 2. Passive displacement of somatopleure and splanchnopleure due to the sinking of the head in proamnion. (A) Whole mount HH12 chicken embryo with the anterior amnion fold forming (yellow arrow) and an axial strip visible from the proamnion until the area opaca (red arrow). (B) Whole amount HH13 chicken embryo showing the head sinking in the proamnion, which already covers the tip of the head (white dotted line and black arrow in the magnified view in the top left corner), and that the anterior amnion fold has developed posteriorly (yellow dotted line and yellow arrows in the magnified view in the top left corner). (C) Transversal section of a HH13 chicken embryo showing the head completely surrounded by proamnion and the avascular region of splanchnopleure/yolk sac (in between asterisks) attached to the somatopleure by a double layer of mesoderm (red arrow). (D) In embryos cultured ex ovo "in suspension", from HH5 to HH17 (for 48 hours), the head did not sink in proamnion and therefore the formation of the amnion was impaired. White arrows point to the somatopleure. Abbreviations: ys, yolk sac. Scale bars: 500 µm (A,

The splanchnopleure/yolk sac contains an avascular strip above the head at HH13

We have noticed an undescribed feature in the area pellucida at HH12-HH13: a prominent axial strip of splanchnopleure/yolk sac (red arrow in Figure 2A) as the embryo submerged under the anterior amnion fold. In HH13 whole mount embryos, this axial strip enlarged, extending from the border of the proamnion until the area opaca (red arrows in Figure 2B). Moreover, the axial strip of splanchnopleure/yolk sac that was present above the head was free of developing vasculature in contrast to the more lateral splanchnopleure/yolk sac (between asterisks in Figure 2C) and that the avascular region of the splanchnopleure/ yolk sac remained consistently attached to the somatopleure by a thin double layer of mesodermal cells, known as the median mesoblastic septum (red arrow in Figure 2C).

Chicken amniogenesis | 101

This septum, also observed in reptiles, is the consequence of the growth of the two lateral mesodermal wings axially in front of the proamnion and the formation of the right and left extraembryonic coelom, keeping them physically separated axially [10,20].

When cultured "in suspension" the amnion/chorion did not develop properly

In 1948, in a series of experimental procedures on the development of the amnion in chicken embryos, Adamstone and colleagues showed that the cauterization (burning using a hot needle) of a limited group of cells in the proamnion, prevents the development of the anterior amnion fold [21], suggesting the involvement of the proamnion in this process. To understand whether the depression of the head in the proamnion was necessary for the development of the anterior amnion fold forming the amnion and chorion in the process, we cultured chicken embryo using a modified Cornish pasty method [18,22], a "suspension" culture system, whereby the embryos were cultured on top of a sealed mini yolk. In this method, the embryos were collected at HH5 and cultured until HH17 (for 48 hours) in suspension. Here, the head failed to submerge in the proamnion and as a consequence the somatopleure was not positioned dorsally to the head and therefore the amnion and chorion were unable to form properly (Figure 2D).

Amniogenesis occurred in chicken embryos growing in an "non inverted" position

An elegant *ex ovo* culture system, originally developed by Denis New and named after him, has been adapted and used in many studies on the development of chicken embryos [23,24]. In this system, chicken embryos are grown with their ventral side facing upwards up to 48 hours and did not form the amnion. In 1963, Nicolet and Gallera made some modifications to the "New" culture system, using two glass rings instead of only one and an agar-based substrate, and compared the development of the blastoderm for 48 hours between an "inverted" and "non inverted" position [25]. Interestingly, when the blastoderm is grown in a "non inverted" position, the amnion developed and covered the embryo properly. Even though the formation of a "capuchon céphalique" (head pouch) in the "non inverted" grown embryos was mentioned, Nicolet and Gallera did not investigate further the anatomical nature of this structure [25].

We hypothesized that the formation of the "capuchon céphalique" described by Nicolet and Gallera was in fact a consequence of the sinking of the head in proamnion. To test this we have developed a simple *ex ovo* culture system combining the use of filter paper (instead of glass rings) previously introduced by Chapman and colleagues [26] and using PBS solution as substrate for culture (instead of agar) (Figure 3, Figure 4A). We cultured HH11 chicken embryos containing the intact extraembryonic membranes with their ventral side facing either upwards ("inverted") or downwards ("non inverted"), and compared those to embryos grown *in ovo* (Figure 3, Figure 4A). All embryos were allowed to grow for 7:30 hours (from stage HH11 to stage HH12), the timing when the head submerges in proamnion *in ovo* (Figure 1A,B).

The number of somites was counted in each embryo in each condition, before and after the experimental procedure. Embryos growing "inverted" (n=8) and "non inverted" (n=8) *ex ovo* and *in ovo* control embryos (n=9) formed similar number of somites during the experiment (5 pairs of somites) (Figure 4B). During chicken development, a new pair of somites emerges each 1:30 hours [27] and therefore the expected number of new somite pairs formed in 7:30 hours is 5, which was observed in all conditions.



Figure 3. "Inverted and non inverted" ex ovo culture of chicken embryos. (A) The content of the egg was deposited into a petri dish, the thick albumen was removed and and the blastoderm was positioned upwards. (B) A piece of filter paper, with a central hole, was placed on the yolk, positioning the blastoderm in the central hole and the border of the filter paper with the embryo attached cut with scissors. (C) Before (B), a 500 µl drop of PBS was placed in a petri dish with a glass bottom. (D) The embryo attached to the filter paper was placed on the drop of PBS in an "inverted" or "non inverted" position. The lid of the petri dish was coated with (PBS) humidified paper before closing the petri dish. (E) The petri dish containing the embryo was sealed with parafilm. Scale bars: 1 cm in A,B,E and 1 cm in C,D.



Figure 4. The anterior amnion fold did not develop in embryos growing "inverted". (A) Scheme of the "inverted" culture system where HH11 chicken embryos were cultured for 7:30 hours and compared with embryos growing in ovo. (B) Number of somite pairs at the start (0 hours) and after 7:30 hours of incubation in each group. (C) Distance between the tip of the anterior intestinal portal and the border between the proamnion and the yolk sac in each group. *, P<0.05. (D-E) HH12 embryos growing in ovo (D) and in the "inverted" culture system (E) transversally sectioned (F) at the indicated levels (a–c and a'–c'). In the control embryo note the avascular region of splanchnopleure/yolk sac (in between asterisks in a) attached to the somatopleure by a double layer of mesoderm (red arrow in a and b). Abbreviations: ys, yolk sac. Scale bars: 500 μm (D,E) and 200 μm (F).

104 | Chapter 5

The formation of the expected number of somites provided evidence that the *ex ovo* culture system used ("inverted" and "non inverted") did not interfere with the correct development of the embryo and therefore the abnormalities in amniogenesis observed in embryos grown "inverted" were perhaps caused by the positioning of the (normal) embryo head in relation to the proamnion.

The depression of the head in proamnion is necessary for the development of the anterior amnion fold

To quantify differences in proamniotic extension in the embryos grown "inverted" and "non inverted", we measured the distance between the tip of the anterior intestinal portal and the border between the proamnion and the yolk sac in embryos incubated in the different conditions (Figure 4C-E). Whereas both *in ovo* and "non inverted" cultured embryos showed a comparable proamnion (distance 1.77 ± 0.21 mm and 1.86 ± 0.22 mm respectively, P=1); the "inverted" cultured embryos showed an extended proamnion (distance 2.18 ± 0.27 mm), significantly different from the two other groups (Figure 4C), with a P=0.005 to the control group and a P=0,043 to the "non inverted" group.

Transversal sections of control embryos showed that the splanchnopleure/yolk sac remained attached to the somatopleure by a thin double layer of mesodermal cells (septum) (red arrow in Figure 4Fa-b) and those embryos also showed the avascular axial strip in the splanchnopleure/yolk sac (asterisk in Figure 4Fa). In the inverted group, the proamnion extended anteriorly, instead of folding into a pouch as in the control and "non inverted" group (Figure 4Fa'-c' and data not shown). In the "inverted" group, both mesodermal wings formed a coelom, but they did not zipped anteriorly and, as a consequence, the anterior amnion fold was unable to form and the lateral amnion folds were underdeveloped and unable to surround the head to form either amnion or chorion (Figure 4Fa'-c'). In the control and "non inverted" group, the anterior amnion fold was visible and correctly positioned to give rise to the amnion and chorion (Figure 4Fc and data not shown). The downward movement of the head in these embryos into the proamnion is likely due to a combination of factors, including: tissue density, tissue folding induced by differential growth or tension distribution, and the specification of an ectodermal hinge point. Our anatomical analysis showed that indeed the proamnion plays a role in the development of the anterior amnion fold in chicken.

Amniogenesis in mammals

In mammals, the proamnion has been described in the rabbit [28], some species of bat [28] and in some species of marsupial [1]. It may be that depending on the type of blastocyst (existence of only mural or mural/polar trophectoderm) [29] and mode of implantation (and type of placenta) [30-32], the proamnion will be formed or not.

In mice, the amniochorionic fold is formed from the most posterior part of the primitive streak and grows (by cavitation) to fuse with the anterior part of the embryo during gastrulation [33]. There seems to be a transient diblastic region just anterior to the neuroectoderm at 7.5 days post coitum. This diblastic region may play a role as the developing head undergoes a ventral flexure repositioning the amniotic junction. However, this ventral flexure occurs after the amnion and chorion are formed.

In humans, having a similar type of blastocyst to the mouse that contains both polar and mural trophectoderm, there is no proamnion formation. In fact, early during human implantation and before gastrulation is initiated (or any mesoderm has been formed), the epiblast cavitates giving rise to amniotic cavity. The amnion will face the polar trophectoderm, while the epiblast will face the hypoblast. The human embryo completes the formation of the ectoderm part of the amnion by 9 days after conception. Later during gastrulation, the only diblastic structure is the buccopharyngeal membrane formed anteriorly (and the cloacal membrane posteriorly) [34].

The proamnion, an evo-devo perspective

In the late 1800s, it was noted that different amniote species, including different species of birds [5,9,10,35], reptiles [20,35] and mammals [28,35], share the initial steps of amniogenesis, regarding the initial sinking of the head in proamnion, positioning the somatopleure and splanchnopleure transiently above the head. In the late 1800s, some of those authors mention that "notable features are being overlooked" [20] and that "erroneous notions prevail at present day" as "classic series of diagrams constructed on this supposition being copied extensively by writers on embryology" [10] and is still the case today. We conclude that the proamniotic pouch is often being confused with the anterior amnion fold and that the position of the yolk sac, as commonly depicted in textbooks, is misplaced (Figure 5A,B).



Figure 5. Two models (classical and revisited) for anterior amnion fold development in chicken embryos.(A) Sagittal scheme, representing the classical model, of HH11 and HH13 chicken embryos adapted from a Developmental Biology textbook [36] and a detail view of the head region at HH13. (B) Sagittal scheme, representing the revisited model, of HH11 and HH13 chicken embryos adapted from Shore and Pickering [9]. In both schemes, ectoderm is blue, mesoderm is red, endoderm is yellow and yolk is gray. Abbreviations: ys, yolk sac.

CONCLUSIONS

Here, we have investigated the role of the proamnion in the development of the anterior amnion fold leading to a correct amniogenesis in chicken embryos. We suggest using two different culture systems ("suspension" and "inverted/non inverted") that when the chicken (tip of the) head is not able to sink in the proamnion, the anterior amnion fold is not placed properly above the head, impairing correct amniogenesis.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank K. Sprenkels and I. Navarro for sectioning embryos, B. Wisse for help with the Amira software, R. E. Poelmann for discussions and the medical illustrator of Anatomy/

LUMC S. Blankevoort for preparing part of Figure 5.
REFERENCES

- 1. Ferner K, Mess A. Evolution and development of fetal membranes and placentation in amniote vertebrates. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2011;178: 39-50.
- 2. Mess A. Evolutionary transformations of chorioallantoic placental characters in rodentia with special reference to hystricognath species. J Exp Zool A Comp Exp Biol. 2003;299: 78-98.
- 3. Patten DM. Early embryology of the chick. Philadelphia, PA, USA: Blakiston company. 1951;244 p.
- 4. Risau W, Flamme I. Vasculogenesis. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 1995;11: 73-91.
- 5. Romanoff AL. The avian embryo. New York City, NY, USA: Macmillan company. 1960.
- 6. Sheng G. Primitive and definitive erythropoiesis in the yolk sac: a bird's eye view. Int J Dev Biol. 2010;54: 1033-1043.
- 7. Hamburger V, Hamilton HL. A series of normal stages in the development of the chick embryo. 1951. Dev Dyn. 1992;195: 231-272.
- 8. Smith S. Retinoic acid receptor isoform beta 2 is an early marker for alimentary tract and central nervous system positional specification in the chicken. Dev Dyn. 1994;200: 14-25.
- 9. Shore TW, Pickering JW. The Proamnion and Amnion in the Chick. J Anat Physiol. 1889;24: 1-21.
- 10. Hirota S. On the sero-amniotic connection and the foetal membranes in the chick. The Journal of the College of Science, Imperial University of Tokyo. 1894;6: 337-397.
- 11. Rosenquist GC. The location of the pregut endoderm in the chick embryo at the primitive streak stage as determined by radioautographic mapping. Dev Biol.1971;26: 323-335.
- 12. Soukup V, Horacek I, Cerny R. Development and evolution of the vertebrate primary mouth. J Anat. 2013;222: 79-99.
- 13. Waterman RE, Schoenwolf GC. The ultrastructure of oral (buccopharyngeal) membrane formation and rupture in the chick embryo. Anat Rec. 1980;197: 441-470.
- Miller SA, Bresee KL, Michaelson CL, Tyrell DA. Domains of differential cell proliferation and formation of amnion folds in chick embryo ectoderm. Anat Rec. 1994;238: 225-236.
- 15. Overton J. Fusion of epithelial sheets as seen in formation of the chick amnion. Cell Tissue Res. 1989;257: 141-147.
- Tipping N, Wilson D. Chick amniogenesis is mediated by an actin cable. Anat Rec (Hoboken). 2011;294: 1143-1149.
- 17. Lillie FR. Experimental studies on the development of organs in the embryo of the fowl (Gallus domesticus) The Biological Bulletin. 1903;5: 92-124.
- De Melo Bernardo A, Sprenkels K, Rodrigues G, Noce T, Chuva De Sousa Lopes SM. Chicken primordial germ cells use the anterior vitelline veins to enter the embryonic circulation. Biol Open. 2012;1: 1146-1152.
- Nakamura Y, Yamamoto Y, Usui F, Mushika T, Ono T, et al. Migration and proliferation of primordial germ cells in the early chicken embryo. Poult Sci. 2007;86: 2182-2193.
- Mitsukuri K. On the foetal membranes of Chelonia. The Journal of the College of Science, Imperial University of Tokyo. 1891;4: 1-53.
- 21. Adamstone FB. Experiments on the development of the amnion in the chick. J Morphol. 1948;83: 359-371.
- 22. Nagai H, Lin MC, Sheng G. A modified cornish pasty method for *ex ovo* culture of the chick embryo. Genesis 2011; 49: 46-52.

108 | Chapter 5

- 23. New DAT. A New Technique for the Cultivation of the Chick Embryo Invitro. Journal of Embryology and Experimental Morphology. 1955;3: 320-&.
- 24. Stern CD, Bachvarova R. Early chick embryos in vitro. Int J Dev Biol. 1997;41: 379-387.
- 25. Nicolet G, Gallera J. Under what conditions will the amnion of the chick embryo develop in culture *in vitro*? Experientia. 1963;19: 165-166.
- Chapman SC, Collignon J, Schoenwolf GC, Lumsden A. Improved method for chick whole-embryo culture using a filter paper carrier. Dev Dyn. 2001;220: 284-289.
- 27. Pourquie O. The chick embryo: a leading model in somitogenesis studies. Mech Dev. 2004;121: 1069-1079.
- van Beneden E, Julin C. Recherches sur la formation des annexes foetales chez les mammifères : lapin et chéiroptères. Archives de Biologie. 1884;5: 369-434.
- Blomberg L, Hashizume K, Viebahn C. Blastocyst elongation, trophoblastic differentiation, and embryonic pattern formation. Reproduction. 2008;135: 181-195.
- Carson DD, Bagchi I, Dey SK, Enders AC, Fazleabas AT, et al. Embryo implantation. Dev Biol. 2000;223: 217-237.
- 31. Lee KY, DeMayo FJ. Animal models of implantation. Reproduction. 2004;128: 679-695.
- 32. Rasweiler JJ. Early embryonic development and implantation in bats. J Reprod Fertil. 1979;56: 403-416.
- 33. Pereira PN, Dobreva MP, Graham L, Huylebroeck D, Lawson KA, et al. Amnion formation in the mouse embryo: the single amniochorionic fold model. BMC Dev Biol. 2011;11: 48.
- 34. Larsen WJ. Human Embryology. New York City, NY, USA: Churchill Livingstone. 2001.
- Luckett WP. Ontogeny of amniote fetal membranes and their application to phylogeny. In: Hecht MK, Goody PG, Hecht BM, editors. Major patterns in vertebrate evolution. New York City, NY, USA: Plenum press. 1976. pp. 439-516.
- Gilbert SF. Developmental Biology. Sunderland, MA, USA: Sinauer Associates, Inc. 2010; 711 p.



6

General discussion and future perspectives

AVIAN PRIMORDIAL GERM CELLS

Molecular markers. Chicken PGCs have been identified using different molecular markers: periodic acid-Schiff (PAS)[1], stage-specific embryonic antigen-1 (SSEA1), embryonic mouse antigen-1 (EMA1)[2] and chicken vasa homolog (CVH)[3]. In Chapter 2 we studied the expression of SSEA1 and CVH in chicken PGCs between stages HH5-19. SSEA1 is a marker of pluripotent stem cells in mouse that is also expressed by multiple cells in the beginning of chicken development. Our findings show that SSEA1 is downregulated at stage HH8 and peaks in germ cells localized in the gonads (60%).

In mouse there is also dynamic expression of pluripotency genes, and their up regulation in the germ cells localized in the mouse gonads has been observed [4-6]. Regarding the chicken, one study has recently analyzed the expression of pluripotent PGCs in the chicken at HH14, HH18 and HH28 [7]. Mohsen Naeemipour and colleagues have shown that the expression of pluripotency markers such as *NANOG*, *OCT4* and *SOX2* is down regulated in germ cells localized in the genital ridges [7]. It would be interesting to analyze the expression of germline-specific genes, such as *TUDOR*, *DAZZL*, *NANOG*, *DEAD END*, *PRDM14* and *SOX17* in greater depth in chicken PGCs. Recently, analysis of *BLIMP1* expression in the chicken germline has shown that *BLIMP1* is expressed in presumptive PGCs at stage X and it remains expressed in germ cells in the adult. The role of *BLIMP1* in chicken germ cells, however, remains unclear [8]. Although this remains to be confirmed, preformation is most likely the underlying mechanism of PGC development in the chicken. Detailed analysis of gene expression in PGCs will be very useful to elucidate on this. Moreover, the dynamics of PGCs in mammals, like mice and humans, is better known and constitutes a good point of comparison with birds.

In Chapter 2 we show that two different populations of germ cells can be identified in the gonads: germ cells double positive for CVH and SSEA1 and germ cells positive only for CVH. In mammals, different population of germ cells have been described in the gonads and are dependent on the maturation state of the oogonia or spermatogonia [9]. In chicken, as we show in Chapter 3, the location of germ cells in the gonads affects the expression of the meiotic markers, SYCP3 and H2AFX. We show that germ cells in the right gonad only express H2AFX between stages HH38-45, while left gonad germ cells can express both, H2AFX and SYCP3, at stage HH45. We report, for the first time, the influence of cell position on the expression of meiotic markers, which is associated with different maturation stages of chicken germ cells (Chapter 3). However, we still do not know if other features of germ cells, such as the expression of the cells in the gonads. Analyzing the relationship between position and gene expression will shed some light on the mechanisms underlying germ cell maturation in the chicken.

Furthermore, epigenetics in chicken PGCs is a process that is still not completely understood. [10]. The study of PGC epigenetics in mammals has elucidated how DNA methylation, histone modifications, imprinting and X reactivation occur in PGCs. A good example of these studies in mammals, is the recent work by Azim Surani's group, that analyses the transcriptional network and epigenetic reprogramming of human germ cells in different developmental time points [11]. A temporal analysis of gene expression and DNA methylation in chicken would further elucidate the epigenetic mechanisms regulating PGC (pre)formation in a non-mammal organism.

Moreover, this will allow a better understanding of how epigenetics is regulated in sexual system of birds, which is different from that in mammals. While in mammals the females have two homogametic chromosomes (XX) and the male has two heterogametic chromosomes (XY), in the chicken the opposite occurs: the male has two homogametic chromosomes (ZZ) and the female has two heterogametic chromosomes (ZW) [12]. Mammalian X and bird Z chromosomes are significantly larger than the respective Y and W chromosomes. However, while one of the X chromosomes is widely inactivated in homogametic mammal females, promoting dosage compensation of mammal's sexual chromosomes, in homogametic bird males some genes seem to be silenced in the Z chromosome, not only in one but in both Z chromosomes [13, 14]. The male hypermethylated (MHM) region constitutes the locus on the Z chromosome where most of transcriptionally silenced genes are localized. [14, 15]. On the contrary, in chicken females, the MHM region, in the single Z chromosome, is transcribed as a long non-coding RNA. Interestingly, it has been suggested a role for these long non-coding RNA are responsible to control differential expression of the Z chromosome and regulate dosage compensation, but this is still not clear [14, 16]. These differences between mammals and birds, in regard to sexual chromosomes and dosage compensation, are due to evolutionary divergences that are still not completely understood [17]. While the XY sexual system has been widely studied, the ZW is less understood. Therefore, in order to better analyze the two systems and determine their relative evolutionary significance, more attention should be given to studying epigenetics in the chicken.

Isolation of avian PGCs. In order to address molecular, genetic and epigenetic features of the chicken germline, it is necessary to develop protocols that would allow isolation of chicken PGCs. On the one hand, the availability of embryos and the fact that PGCs in the chicken circulate in the blood, which can easily be collected, constitutes an advantage when compared with species such as mice or humans. On the other hand, our limited knowledge of chicken PGC (surface) markers makes the development of effective isolation protocols difficult.

For this reason, two main techniques have been used to isolate PGCs in chicken embryos to date: Ficoll density-gradient centrifugation [7, 18] and FACS [2, 19, 20]. Ficoll density-gradient centrifugation consists of isolating PGCs from chicken blood distributed over a sucrose gradient. The presence of PGCs in the isolated fraction is confirmed by analyzing the expression of germline markers, such as CVH. FACS is based on the use of specific antibodies for germ cells, of which the most commonly used are SSEA1 and EMA1. However, as we showed in chapter 2 it is not clear whether even these antibodies used together would identify all PGCs or just a subfraction: it is expressed by other cells at early stages of development, and not by all germ cells localized in the gonads.

Nevertheless, isolation protocols for chicken PGCs rely on the identification of PGC markers that can be used in live cells. In contrast to CVH (cytoplasmic protein), SSEA1 is cell surface protein and therefore fixation and permeabilization of cells is not needed to allow the antibody to bind. EMA1 [2] has also been used as a tool to access gonadal germ cells. Recently it has been shown through immunohistochemistry that expression of EMA1 does not completely overlap with CVH, and therefore EMA1 seems to also not be a specific marker for PGCs in the chicken. Finding new surface markers for chicken germ cells is still a challenge in the field, and a bottleneck for defining PGC isolation protocols.

Migration. Unlike mammals, chicken PGCs use blood vessels to migrate to the gonads. Several studies have addressed the question of how chicken germ cells migrate into the gonads [21-23]. Due to the use of non-specific markers in previous studies, some features of PGCs remain unclear, such as molecular mechanisms guiding migration or the migratory route followed by PGCs.

In Chapter 2 we provide a detailed study on the migration of PGCs from the extraembryonic circulation into the embryo. We counted the number of PGCs in different areas of the developing embryo from HH5-19, and observed that from stage HH14, germ cells started to appear in the genital ridges. Our results on the number of PGCs are in accordance with other groups that also analyzed whole-mount chicken embryos from different stages stained for CVH [22]. However, our study goes beyond what has been established regarding PGC migration, since we focus on understanding the mechanisms used by PGCs to migrate into the embryonic vasculature. A closer look at substage HH13circ showed that PGCs had accumulated in the medial part of area pellucida and sinus terminalis. Therefore we decided to investigate the anatomical position of PGCs at this stage, through histological sections and 3D reconstruction. Curiously, our results showed that the majority of germ cells were actually localized in the anterior vitelline veins. We blocked the anterior vitelline veins at HH13 by clamp, and verified a decrease in the number of germ cells localized in the gonads at HH15 (Chapter 2). In order to

observe if PGCs were able to find alternative ways to colonize the gonads, it would be interesting to leave the embryos until later stages of development.

Regarding the role of chemotaxis in directing PGCs to the gonads, it has been suggested that SDF1/CXCR2 plays a role in the process [23]. Manipulation of chicken embryos *in ovo*, can be used to test the relative importance of blood circulation and signalling clues sent by the gonads in PGC homing. A possible experiment would be placing the genital ridges of HH12 embryos in specific regions of the extraembryonic vasculature, in order to test the effect on the migration of germ cells. If chemoattraction plays a role at this stage, we would expect the cells to redirect their migration to the new place of the gonads.

From our analysis of whole-mount chicken embryos stained with CVH we also observed that PGCs migrate preferentially to the left gonads, in both females and males (Chapter 3). We showed that between HH15-19 there are more germ cells localized in the left than in the right genital ridge. Our results are in accordance with others. It has been suggested that the difference in the number of PGCs, at these stages, in both the right and the left side, is due to secretion by the presumptive gonads of molecules that attract PGCs preferentially to the left side [23] or secretion of molecules that trigger mitotic activity of PGCs in the left [24]. Moreover, it has also been suggested that the asymmetrical expression of *BMP7* and *PITX2* in the gonads is involved in asymmetrical migration (Chapter 3). Despite these leads, this process is still poorly understood and deserves more attention.

Gonadal asymmetry and meiosis. Contrary to what happens in most animals, where the two embryonic gonads develop into two functional organs, in the female chicken, as in most birds, only the left gonad will develop into a functional ovary [25]. Interestingly, gonadal asymmetry already starts to be evident during migration in both sexes: germ cells migrate preferentially to the left gonad (Chapter 2). However, after sex differentiation, differences between right and left gonads with regard to the number of PGCs and their morphology become more pronounced in the female chicken [26].

In Chapter 3 we analyzed in detail the differences in the expression of different meiotic markers in germ cells localized in different regions of the right and left gonad. Our study is the first study to report, simultaneously, the dynamic expression of two different meiotic markers (H2AFX and SYCP3) in chicken gonadogenesis (Chapter 3). Moreover, we looked for massive apoptosis in the right gonad, as had previously been suggested [27]. We have observed expression of H2AFX from stage HH38 in both female and males, which we show not to be correlated with massive germ cell apoptosis. On the contrary, H2AFX expression seems to indicate that germ cells are in the pre-leptotene

stage until hatching. It is not clear whether the expression of FASLG-FAS in germ cells localized in the extremities of the cortex and medulla in HH45 indicates future apoptosis (Chapter 3). However, our study does not analyze the expression of apoptotic markers in the gonads after hatching. This analysis is necessary for understanding if the expression of FASLG-FAS in germ cells at stage HH45 dictates future apoptosis.

Simultaneous analysis of the expression of two different meiotic markers shows that meiosis in chicken germ cells depends on their position in the gonad. Moreover, we are the first to report a meiotic wave in chicken gonads: we showed that germ cells localized in the center of the left cortex are more mature (late zygotene/early pachytene and late pachytene/early zygotene) while germ cells in the extremities of the left gonad are less mature (early leptotene or pre-leptotene). Germ cells localized in the right gonad remain in pre-leptotene until before hatching. The existence of different meiotic stages in the left gonad, has been shown by the analysis of meiotic spreads [28]. Moreover, the results from other studies regarding immunohistochemical analysis of the expression of meiotic markers, suggest that they are not expressed uniformly in the gonads. However, conclusions regarding differences in the maturation state of germ cells have not been made, since in these studies only one meiotic marker was used [29-31]. Our study is, however, mostly descriptive and so there are several aspects that remain unclear: Are the mesonephros, in close connection with the gonad, responsible for secreting signals involved in this meiotic wave or is the gonad itself? Are the molecules involved in chicken asymmetric gonadogenesis affecting meiosis? We (data not shown) and others [29, 32] have cultured chicken gonads in vitro. In this system, gonads can be cultured with or without the presence of the mesonephros, which can further help elucidate whether the presence of the mesonephros affects meiosis in the gonad. Moreover, this system offers a model to culture gonads in the presence of a variety of signalling inhibitors or activators. Blocking signaling pathways involved in gonadal asymmetry, such as Retinoic Acid, PITX2 or BMP 7, and verifying their effects on the expression of meiotic markers, can shed further light on which genes involved in asymmetry affect germ cell meiosis. The availability of embryos is an advantage, since it allows the optimization of the culture system, with regard to concentrations of inhibitors/activators and culturing times.

Production of transgenic birds. Studying the germline in the avian model also contributes to our understanding of pluripotency in a non-mammalian system: the chicken. Several research groups have succeeded in producing chicken embryonic germ cells (cEGs) by culturing circulating PGCs (cPGCs) [33, 34] and gonadal PGCs (gPGCs) [35, 36]. In these studies, blood or chicken gonads are cultured in the presence of leukemia inhibitor factor, stem cell factor and basic fibroblast growth factor [33, 34, 36]. Contrary to chicken embryonic stem cells (cESC), isolated from the blastoderm [37], cEGs derived by cPGCs and gPGCs can contribute to the germline and have been used in

116 | Chapter 6

the production of germline chimeras[33]. cEGs obtained from gPGCs revealed to be less efficient regarding germline chimeras[35]. Marie-Cécile van de Lavoir and colleagues were the first to induce transgenesis by electroporation of a non-viral expression vector into cEGs in culture, cEGs were subsequently introduced in host embryos in order to produce transgenic birds [33]. Since then, the protocols for transgenesis in birds have diversified and efficiency has improved [38], but research on chicken germline and pluripotency is still needed for further optimization. In turn, transgenic birds will become a valuable tool to understand PGC mechanisms but also in the conservation of endangered species and poultry production for agriculture (reviewed in [39]). Moreover, the generation of transgenic birds for production of recombinant human proteins is also a major application in the pharmaceutical industry [38].

AMNIOGENESIS IN CHICKEN

While studying the migration of PGCs in the chicken we made a curious observation: we found PGCs, which are normally localized in the splanchnopleure and in the vasculature of the yolk sac, present dorsally over the head (Chapter 2, Chapter 5). This observation led us to investigate the formation of the anterior amnion fold in chickens. We studied transversal sections and 3D reconstructions of chicken embryos and provide functional evidence, using *ex ovo* cultures of chicken embryos, to explain the role of the proamnion in the development of the anterior amnion fold in the chicken (Chapter 5). The proamnion is a diblastic structure composed of ectoderm and endoderm. The proamnion is present in different species, and it seems to have different roles in amnion development, as we discuss in Chapter 5.

In relation to chicken amniogenesis, Thomas Shore and J.W. Pickering were the first to anatomically describe the proamnion as a structure underlying the developing head at stage HH10 and to suggest its involvement in amnion formation [40]. In Chapter 5 we revisited their anatomical model using two different functional assays: the inverted culture system and the suspension culture system. In the former, the chicken embryos were grown with their ventral side facing upwards, a condition which impairs the formation of the anterior amnion fold. In the latter culture system, the embryo grows in a "Cornish pasty" shape and as a result the anterior amnion fold is not formed and does not cover the head of the embryo. Our results showed that sinking of the head in the proamnion between HH10-14 is of paramount importance to the formation of the anterior amnion fold in the chicken. This sinking of the head in the proamnion is responsible for the replacement of the splanchnopleure on top of the head, explaining why the PGCs can be found dorsally at this point of embryonic development (Chapter 5). With regard

to amnion development, it will be interesting to analyze if culturing the chicken embryo in an inverted position also effects the formation of the posterior amnion fold. The anterior amnion fold is the first to develop, and therefore the sinkage of the embryo in the proamnion can also have implications for the correct development of the posterior amnion fold.

In Chapter 2 and Chapter 4 we present two different *ex ovo* culture systems: the inverted/non inverted culture system and suspension culture system. The inverted culture system is an adaptation of a protocol published by Chapman and colleagues [41] and embryos were maintained for maximum of 2 days in culture. The suspension culture system is an adaption of Cornish pasty method [42] and the embryos were maintained in culture for 72 hours. Both systems improved the survival rate of the embryos and the reproducibility of results, and therefore constitute a useful system for further exploration through embryonic manipulation and live imaging. However, they also present some limitations,with respect to morphological defects observed in the cultured embryos such as the absence of anterior vitelline vessels in the suspension systems. Therefore the applicability of each culture system to other research questions, should always take into account the morphological defects caused by the culture systems themselves.

AVIAN MODELS IN DISEASE

Epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC) is one of the leading causes of cancer-related deaths among women [43]. This is due to the fact that EOC is often asymptomatic, and its location in the peritoneal cavity makes early detection difficult and facilitates the spread of the disease (reviewed in Chapter 4). Moreover, we still lack efficient treatment due to poor information regarding the origin and development of the disease. Different models have been used in EOC research: fruit fly, mice, *in vitro* systems and the adult hen. In Chapter 4 we reviewed different models used in EOC research with a focus on the advantages of using the avian model in the study of this disease. The adult hen offers a particularly valuable model, since, as in humans and unlike in any other species, the disease develops spontaneously. Moreover, the metastatic processes are similar to those in humans, and the use of the avian model allows manipulation of environmental variables with regard to nutrition, hormones and drugs [44].

Besides the advantages of studying EOC in the adult hen, in Chapter 4, we discussed the advantages of using the asymmetric development of chicken gonads to model cancer pathways in EOC. We highlighted the fact that PITX2, overexpressed in EOC [45], is also an important player in gonadal asymmetric development in the chicken

[30]. In gonadogenesis, PITX2 is expressed in the left gonad and has been associated with higher proliferation, but its role in cancer development is still not clearly understood [45]. Silvana Guioli and colleagues have studied the role of PITX2 in chicken gonadogenesis using RCAS virus to induce expression of PITX2 in the chicken gonad at different time points [30]. The versatility of the chicken embryo as an experimental model that allows physical manipulation together with gene silencing and activation assays makes the chicken an interesting model to study the role of PITX2 in EOC. Inhibiting or activating this pathway in cancer would be interesting in order to understand its role in disease.

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The chicken embryo is the experimental model with the longest history in developmental biology and disease [46]. The similarities with humans, and the ease of experimental manipulation have made the chicken a good system in basic scientific research. However, compared to other models, such as mice and flies, the availability of genetic and molecular tools for research is still a limitation in birds. Only lately have chicken laboratory tools for genomics, proteomics and metabolomics become available and this has contributed to transforming the chicken from "a great model system" to "become even greater" [47].

The future of the chicken in scientific research is, however, dependent on the continuation of the development of dedicated tools that can improve methods of experimental manipulation and analysis. In Chapter 4 we provide an extensive discussion on the advantages and disadvantages of using the chicken in modelling EOC. There are however many other applications for chicken laboratory technologies. Another good example is that of the gene deletion or mutation technologies. While in mice and flies, gene knockout is nowadays established in relating cause and effect, in the chicken they are still not established although RNA interference is indeed "up-and-running" in the chicken; this has allowed scientists to understand gene function but only by post-transcriptional gene silencing [48]. The new tool of Crispr/Cas9 gene editing still has to be explored. The availability of optimized protocols for the production of transgenic birds, still dependent on efficient establishment of cSC lines and transgenic techniques for cEGs, will offer a great improvement regarding the development of avian gene knockouts [39]. Avian gene knockouts are fundamental tools to address many questions that remain unanswered due to the impossibility to perform functional assays on gene silencing. Understanding of the mechanism of preformation in avian germ cells or the role of genes expressed asymmetrically in the chicken gonad in the process of meiosis, the subjects of this thesis, are only some examples. The production of transgenic birds will have a direct impact in fundamental research, applied biomedical research and medicine but also in regard to agriculture and pharmaceutical industry.

REFERENCES

- 1. D. M. Application of the Periodic Acid-Schiff Technique to Whole Chick Embryos. Biotechnic & Histochemistry. 1960;35(2):83-9.
- Mozdziak PE, Angerman-Stewart J, Rushton B, Pardue SL, Petitte JN. Isolation of chicken primordial germ cells using fluorescence-activated cell sorting. Poultry science. 2005;84(4):594-600.
- 3. Tsunekawa N, Naito M, Sakai Y, Nishida T, Noce T. Isolation of chicken vasa homolog gene and tracing the origin of primordial germ cells. Development. 2000;127(12):2741-50.
- Avilion AA, Nicolis SK, Pevny LH, Perez L, Vivian N, Lovell-Badge R. Multipotent cell lineages in early mouse development depend on SOX2 function. Genes & development. 2003;17(1):126-40.
- 5. Yamaguchi S, Kimura H, Tada M, Nakatsuji N, Tada T. Nanog expression in mouse germ cell development. Gene expression patterns : GEP. 2005;5(5):639-46.
- 6. Payer B, Chuva de Sousa Lopes SM, Barton SC, Lee C, Saitou M, Surani MA. Generation of stella-GFP transgenic mice: a novel tool to study germ cell development. Genesis. 2006;44(2):75-83.
- Naeemipour M, Dehghani H, Bassami M, Bahrami A. Expression dynamics of pluripotency genes in chicken primordial germ cells before and after colonization of the genital ridges. Molecular reproduction and development. 2013;80(10):849-61.
- 8. Wan Z, Rui L, Li Z. Expression patterns of prdm1 during chicken embryonic and germline development. Cell and tissue research. 2014;356(2):341-56.
- Anderson RA, Fulton N, Cowan G, Coutts S, Saunders PT. Conserved and divergent patterns of expression of DAZL, VASA and OCT4 in the germ cells of the human fetal ovary and testis. BMC developmental biology. 2007;7:136.
- Jang HJ, Seo HW, Lee BR, Yoo M, Womack JE, Han JY. Gene expression and DNA methylation status of chicken primordial germ cells. Molecular biotechnology. 2013;54(2):177-86.
- Tang WW, Dietmann S, Irie N, Leitch HG, Floros VI, Bradshaw CR, et al. A Unique Gene Regulatory Network Resets the Human Germline Epigenome for Development. Cell. 2015;161(6):1453-67.
- 12. Arnold AP, Itoh Y, Melamed E. A bird's-eye view of sex chromosome dosage compensation. Annual review of genomics and human genetics. 2008;9:109-27.
- Kuroiwa A, Yokomine T, Sasaki H, Tsudzuki M, Tanaka K, Namikawa T, et al. Biallelic expression of Z-linked genes in male chickens. Cytogenetic and genome research. 2002;99(1-4):310-4.
- 14. Melamed E, Arnold AP. Regional differences in dosage compensation on the chicken Z chromosome. Genome biology. 2007;8(9):R202.
- 15. Caetano LC, Gennaro FG, Coelho K, Araujo FM, Vila RA, Araujo A, et al. Differential expression of the MHM region and of sex-determining-related genes during gonadal development in chicken embryos. Genetics and molecular research : GMR. 2014;13(1):838-49.
- 16. Teranishi M, Shimada Y, Hori T, Nakabayashi O, Kikuchi T, Macleod T, et al. Transcripts of the MHM region on the chicken Z chromosome accumulate as non-coding RNA in the nucleus of female cells adjacent to the DMRT1 locus. Chromosome research : an international journal on the molecular, supramolecular and evolutionary aspects of chromosome biology. 2001;9(2):147-65.
- 17. Hen G, Friedman-Einat M, Sela-Donenfeld D. Primordial germ cells in the dorsal mesentery of the chicken embryo demonstrate left-right asymmetry and polarized distribution of the EMA1 epitope. Journal of anatomy. 2014;224(5):556-63.

- Chang IK, Tajima A, Yasuda Y, Chikamune T, Ohno T. Simple method for isolation of primordial germ cells from chick embryos. Cell biology international reports. 1992;16(9):853-7.
- Motono M, Ohashi T, Nishijima K, Iijima S. Analysis of chicken primordial germ cells. Cytotechnology. 2008;57(2):199-205.
- Mozdziak PE, Wysocki R, Angerman-Stewart J, Pardue SL, Petitte JN. Production of chick germline chimeras from fluorescence-activated cell-sorted gonocytes. Poultry science. 2006;85(10):1764-8.
- Kang KS, Lee HC, Kim HJ, Lee HG, Kim YM, Lee HJ, et al. Spatial and temporal action of chicken primordial germ cells during initial migration. Reproduction. 2015;149(2):179-87.
- 22. Nakamura Y, Yamamoto Y, Usui F, Mushika T, Ono T, Setioko AR, et al. Migration and proliferation of primordial germ cells in the early chicken embryo. Poult Sci. 2007;86(10):2182-93..
- Stebler J, Spieler D, Slanchev K, Molyneaux KA, Richter U, Cojocaru V, et al. Primordial germ cell migration in the chick and mouse embryo: the role of the chemokine SDF-1/ CXCL12. Dev Biol. 2004;272(2):351-61.
- Swartz WJ, Domm LV. A study on division of primordial germ cells in the early chick embryo. The American journal of anatomy. 1972;135(1):51-70.
- 25. AL R. The avian embryo: structural and functional development. : New York: Macmillan; 1960.
- 26. Smith CA, Sinclair AH. Sex determination: insights from the chicken. Bioessays. 2004;26(2):120-32.
- 27. Ukeshima A. Germ cell death in the degenerating right ovary of the chick embryo. Zoolog Sci. 1996;13(4):559-63.
- 28. del Priore L, Pigozzi MI. Chromosomal axis formation and meiotic progression in chicken oocytes: a quantitative analysis. Cytogenetic and genome research. 2012;137(1):15-21.
- 29. Smith CA, Roeszler KN, Bowles J, Koopman P, Sinclair AH. Onset of meiosis in the chicken embryo; evidence of a role for retinoic acid. BMC developmental biology. 2008;8:85.
- 30. Guioli S, Lovell-Badge R. PITX2 controls asymmetric gonadal development in both sexes of the chick and can rescue the degeneration of the right ovary. Development. 2007;134(23):4199-208.
- 31. Guioli S, Nandi S, Zhao D, Burgess-Shannon J, Lovell-Badge R, Clinton M. Gonadal asymmetry and sex determination in birds. Sexual development : genetics, molecular biology, evolution, endocrinology, embryology, and pathology of sex determination and differentiation. 2014;8(5):227-42.
- 32. Yu M, Yu P, Leghari IH, Ge C, Mi Y, Zhang C. RALDH2, the enzyme for retinoic acid synthesis, mediates meiosis initiation in germ cells of the female embryonic chickens. Amino acids. 2013;44(2):405-12.
- 33. van de Lavoir MC, Diamond JH, Leighton PA, Mather-Love C, Heyer BS, Bradshaw R, et al. Germline transmission of genetically modified primordial germ cells. Nature. 2006;441(7094):766-9.
- 34. Yamamoto Y, Usui F, Nakamura Y, Ito Y, Tagami T, Nirasawa K, et al. A novel method to isolate primordial germ cells and its use for the generation of germline chimeras in chicken. Biology of reproduction. 2007;77(1):115-9.
- 35. Han JY, Park TS, Hong YH, Jeong DK, Kim JN, Kim KD, et al. Production of germline chimeras by transfer of chicken gonadal primordial germ cells maintained *in vitro* for an extended period. Theriogenology. 2002;58(8):1531-9.
- 36. Park TS, Hong YH, Kwon SC, Lim JM, Han JY. Birth of germline chimeras by transfer

122 | Chapter 6

of chicken embryonic germ (EG) cells into recipient embryos. Molecular reproduction and development. 2003;65(4):389-95.

- 37. Lavial F, Pain B. Chicken embryonic stem cells as a non-mammalian embryonic stem cell model. Development, growth & differentiation. 2010;52(1):101-14.
- 38. Park TS, Han JY. Genetic modification of chicken germ cells. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 2012;1271:104-9.
- 39. Intarapat S, Stern CD. Chick stem cells: current progress and future prospects. Stem cell research. 2013;11(3):1378-92.
- 40. Shore TW, Pickering JW. The Proamnion and Amnion in the Chick. J Anat Physiol. 1889;24(Pt 1):1-21.
- Chapman SC, Collignon J, Schoenwolf GC, Lumsden A. Improved method for chick whole-embryo culture using a filter paper carrier. Developmental dynamics : an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists. 2001;220(3):284-9.
- 42. Nagai H, Lin MC, Sheng G. A modified cornish pasty method for *ex ovo* culture of the chick embryo. Genesis. 2011;49(1):46-52.
- Lowe KA, Chia VM, Taylor A, O'Malley C, Kelsh M, Mohamed M, et al. An international assessment of ovarian cancer incidence and mortality. Gynecol Oncol. 2013;130(1):107-14.
- 44. Johnson PA, Giles JR. The hen as a model of ovarian cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2013;13(6):432-6.
- 45. Fung FK, Chan DW, Liu VW, Leung TH, Cheung AN, Ngan HY. Increased expression of PITX2 transcription factor contributes to ovarian cancer progression. PloS one. 2012;7(5):e37076.
- 46. Kain KH, Miller JW, Jones-Paris CR, Thomason RT, Lewis JD, Bader DM, et al. The chick embryo as an expanding experimental model for cancer and cardiovascular research. Developmental dynamics : an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists. 2014;243(2):216-28.
- 47. Stern CD. The chick; a great model system becomes even greater. Developmental cell. 2005;8(1):9-17.
- 48. Sifuentes-Romero I, Milton SL, Garcia-Gasca A. Post-transcriptional gene silencing by RNA interference in non-mammalian vertebrate systems: where do we stand? Mutation research. 2011;728(3):158-71.



7 Appendix

SUMMARY

Primordial germ cells (PGCs) are the progenitors of the gametes, responsible for transmitting genetic information from generation to generation. Although there is a long history of gamete biology research, there is still a lot to be learned about many of the mechanisms underlying germ cell development. This dissertation describes and discusses the dynamics of PGCs in the chicken, with a focus on their migration to the gonads and meiosis that takes place when PGCs are already settled there. We also discussed the advantages of using the avian model in epithelial ovarian cancer research. Moreover, we revisited an often overlooked model for amniogenesis in which the proamnion plays a crucial role.

Chapter 1 presents the state of the literature on PGC development in different model organisms, with a particular focus on the avian model. It also explains the development of extraembryonic membranes.

Chapter 2 explores differences in the specificity of two different markers of germ cells used in chicken, CVH and SSEA1, through different developmental stages. This chapter presents a functional study that shows the role of the anterior vitelline veins as the main vehicles of the migration of PGCs from the extraembryonic circulation into the embryo, where PGCs become established in the gonads at stage HH15.

Chapter 3 describes in detail the asymmetric dynamic of chicken germ cells in the right and left gonads after sexual differentiation. In this chapter it is shown that there is an asymmetric migration of germ cells, which preferentially migrate to the left gonad. Moreover, it is shown that the meiotic development of chicken germ cells is affected by their position in the right or left gonad, cortex versus medulla, and their distribution in the left cortex. Moreover, we suggest that germ cells located in the right gonad are not apoptotic, contrary to what has been suggested before, but able to start their differentiation into oogonia.

Chapter 4 is a review of the use of avian models in ovarian cancer, one of the most lethal types of cancer among women. After an overview of different models used in epithelial ovarian cancer research, the review argues the value of avian models by showing its relevance to the disease compared to other models. The model captures some of the issues that have so far remained unclear in epithelial ovarian cancer, such as its cellular origin and possibilities for drug development.

Chapter 5 is an anatomical study of the role of the proamnion in the development of the anterior amnion fold in chickens. The importance of the proamnion is further demonstrated by two functional essays *ex ovo*. This chapter provides evidence

that transient sinkage of the head in the proamnion is of paramount importance to the localization of the anterior amnion fold on top of the head and that it is crucial for correct amniogenesis.

Finally, **Chapter 6** is a general discussion linking the results described in the different chapters of this thesis. It presents and discusses future perspectives on the use of avian models in stem cell research, disease and development of germ cells.

SAMENVATTING

Primordiale geslachtscellen (PGCs) zijn de voorgangers van de gameten, verantwoordelijk voor het doorgeven van genetische informatie van generatie op generatie. Hoewel biologisch onderzoek naar gameten een lange geschiedenis kent, is er nog veel te ontdekken over veel van de mechanismen die de ontwikkeling van geslachtscellen sturen. Deze dissertatie beschrijft en bespreekt de dynamiek van PGCs in de kip, met een focus op hun migratie naar de gonaden en de meiose die plaatsvindt wanneer PGCs daar zijn aangeland. We bespreken ook de voordelen van het gebruik van het vogelmodel in onderzoek naar epitheliale eierstokkanker. Tevens hebben wij een model voor amniogenese, vaak over het hoofd gezien, waarin het proamnion een cruciale rol speelt, opnieuw bestudeerd.

Hoofdstuk 1 zet de staat van de literatuur over de ontwikkeling van PGCs in verschillende modelorganismen uiteen, met een focus op het model van de vogel. Het legt tevens de ontwikkeling van extraembryonische membranen uit.

Hoofdstuk 2 verkent verschillen in de specificiteit van twee verschillende markers van kiemcellen die in de kip worden gebruikt, CHV en SSEA1, gedurende verschillende ontwikkelingsstadia. Dit hoofdstuk presenteert de resultaten van een functioneel onderzoek dat de rol van de voorste vitelline aderen als de belangrijkste vehikels voor de migratie van PGCs van de extraembryonische circulatie naar het embryo, waar PGCs zich vestigen in de gonaden tijdens stadium HH15.

Hoofdstuk 3 geeft een gedetailleerde beschrijving van de asymmetrische dynamiek van geslachtscellen van kippen in de linker- en rechtergonade na seksuele differentiatie. In dit hoofdstuk wordt aangetoond dat er een asymmetrische migratie van geslachtscellen plaatsvindt, waarbij deze bij voorkeur naar de linker gonade migreren. Bovendien wordt aangetoond dat de meiotische ontwikkeling van geslachtscellen van de kip wordt beïnvloed door hun positie in de rechter- of linkergonade, cortex of medulla , en hun verdeling in de linkercortex. Tevens suggereren wij dat geslachtscellen in de rechtergonade niet apoptotisch zijn, in tegenstelling tot wat tot nu toe gesuggereerd is, en in staat zijn hun differentiatie in oogonia te starten.

Hoofdstuk 4 is een overzicht van het gebruik van vogelmodellen in onderzoek naar eierstokkanker, een van de meest dodelijke vormen van kanker onder vrouwen. Na een overzicht van de verschillende modellen die worden gebruikt in onderzoek naar epitheliale eierstokkanker te hebben gegeven, geeft het een betoog voor het belang van vogelmodellen door hun relatieve belang ten opzichte van andere modellen te tonen, ten aanzien van sommige kwesties die tot zover onduidelijk zijn gebleven, zoals de cellulaire oorsprong van epitheliale eierstokkanker en mogelijkheden voor de ontwikkeling van medicijnen.

Hoofdstuk 5 is een anatomisch onderzoek naar de rol van het proamnion in de ontwikkeling van de voorste plooi van het amnion in de kip. Het belang van het proamnion wordt verder gedemonstreerd door twee functionele essays *ex ovo*. De resultaten in dit hoofdstuk gepresenteerde bewijzen dat een tijdelijke daling van het hoofd in het proamnion van doorslaggevend belang is voor de lokalisatie van de voorste plooi van het amnion bovenop het hoofd en dat het cruciaal is voor correcte amniogenese.

Hoofdstuk 6, ten slotte, is een algemene bespreking die de in de verschillende hoofdstukken beschreven resultaten verbindt. Het zet toekomstige perspectieven op het gebruik van vogelmodellen in onderzoek naar stamcellen, ziektes en de ontwikkeling van geslachtscellen.

LIST OF PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS

Gomes Fernandes M., Dries R., Roost M., Semrau S., **de Melo Bernardo A.**, Davis R., Ramakrishnan R., Szuhai K., Maas E., Umans L., Albon Escalona V., Salvatori D., Deforce D., Van Criekinge W., Huylebroeck D., Mummery C., Zwijsen A. and Chuva de Sousa Lopes S.M. BMP-SMAD signaling regulates lineage priming, but is dispensable for self-renewal in mouse embryonic stem cells. Stem Cell Reports. 2015, *In press*.

De Melo Bernardo A., Thorsteinsdóttir S. and Mummery C.L. Avian as a model for human ovarian cancer: advantages reviewed. Molecular and Clinical Oncology. 2015;3: 1191-1198.

De Melo Bernardo A.§, Heeren A.§, Anjie S., van Iperen L., Fernandes M., He N., Noce T., Silveira Ramos E. and Chuva de Sousa Lopes S.M. Meiotic wave adds extra asymmetry to the development of female chicken gonads. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 2015;9999:1-13.

Heeren A.M., van Iperen L., Klootwijk D., **De Melo Bernardo** A., Roost M.S., Gomes M., Louwe L., Hilders C., de Graaf R., Helmerhorst F., van der Westerlaken L. and Chuva de Sousa Lopes S.M. High degree of organization marked by the development and dynamics in the 2 follicular basement membrane during human gametogenesis and folliculogenesis. BMC Developmental Biology. 2015;15(1):4.

Roost M.S., van Iperen L., **De Melo Bernardo A.**, Mummery C.L., Carlotti F., de Koning E.J.P. and Chuva de Sousa Lopes S.M. Lymphangiogenesis and angiogenesis during human fetal pancreas development. BMC Vascular cell. 2014;6:22.

De Melo Bernardo A. and Chuva de Sousa Lopes S.M., The involvement of the proamnion in the development of the anterior amnion fold in the chicken. PLoS One. 2014;9(3):e92672.

Caetano L.C., Gennaro F.G.O., Coelho K.C., Araujo F.M., Villa R.A., Oliveira A.A., **De Melo Bernardo A.**, Marcondes C.R., Paz C.C.P., Chuva de Sousa Lopes S.M. and Ramos ES. Differential expression of MHM region and sex-determining-related genes during gonadal development in chicken embryos. Genet Mol Res. 2014;13(1):838-49.

De Melo Bernardo A., Sprenkels K., Rodrigues G., Noce T. and Chuva De Sousa Lopes S.M. Chicken primordial germ cells use the anterior vitelline veins to enter the embryonic circulation. Biology Open. 2012;1(11):1146-52.

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Ana de Melo Bernardo was born on 27 March 1988 in Covilhã, Portugal. After receiving her high school diploma in 2006, with honors, she started her Bachelor's studies in Biology at the Faculty of Sciences, University of Lisbon (FCUL). During her BSc she had the opportunity to do lab rotations in different research groups at Instituto Gulbenkian Ciência (Oeiras, Portugal) and Instituto Medicina Molecular (Lisbon, Portugal). In 2008, her last year, Ana was awarded a research grant by Fundação Amadeu Dias/University of Lisbon, allowing her to develop a project on chicken somitogenesis in Dr. Sólveig Thorsteinsdóttir's group in FCUL, under the supervision of Dr. Gabriela Rodrigues.

In 2009, Ana started her Master's degree in Evolutionary and Developmental Biology at the Faculty of Sciences, University of Lisbon. In 2010, she represented FCUL at a workshop in developmental biology at Curie Institute - University Pierre Marie Curie, Paris, France, which broadened her experience with animal models in developmental biology. In the same year, Ana was granted an ERASMUS scholarship for her Master's thesis on chicken germ cells at the Department of Anatomy and Embryology at Leiden University Medical Center (LUMC), in the group of Dr. Susana Chuva de Sousa Lopes. In 2013, she started her PhD training, continuing her work on chicken germ cells at the same group, with Prof. Dr. Christine L. Mummery as her promotor and Dr. Susana Chuva de Sousa Lopes as co-promotor.

Since January 2015, Ana has been working with Dr. Valeria Orlova at LUMC on human-induced pluripotent stem cells for vascular disease modelling.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to start by thanking Prof. Dr. Christine L. Mummery, my promotor, for her advice and guidance and Dr. Susana Chuva de Sousa Lopes, my co-promotor, for investing her time and resources in this thesis.

Maria, isto é que foi uma aventura, e tu és concerteza a maior testemunha disso. Together with Matthias and Liesbeth, you were my fellows and direct colleagues in the lab; I am very thankful for your scientific but also your non-scientific support. Nannan, David, Kaylee, Heiko, Sara, Michael, Filipe, Cristiana and Nezha, my colleagues for short but very intense periods in this lab. You helped me to make the best of this time.

Richard, Saskia, Bert and Conny were the people in the Department of Anatomy and Embryology from whom I had the opportunity to learn techniques or how to operate software and hardware. I am very thankful for that. Also Daniël and Paul, thank you very much for the IT support. Another person in the department who was fundamental was Atie: thank you for always keeping the door of your office open and for helping me to handle all the paperwork behind this thesis.

Because science also happens in the Department's corridors, I would like to thank specially to Teya, Kostas, Giorgos, Tim, Marcelo, Sandra, Oleh, Luca, Elisa, Milena, Catarina, Simone and Margot (to name a few): thank you for the coffee-mug-in-hand talks about science but also about life in general.

I would like to thank Valeria for the opportunity to work with her for the last year. It was a pleasure to be part of your research.

The impact waves of this thesis went beyond the Department of Anatomy and Embryology. From the MCB department I would like to thank Annelies and Joop, for instructing me how to handle all those microscopes, and Karoly for his knowledge on cytogenetics. From Belgium, I want to thank Prof. Dr. An Zwijsen and her group in Leuven. It was great to have the opportunity to work with and learn from such a nice team.

Mariateresa, thank you for being my paranymph, for being my lunch fellow at LUMC and most of all for being a very good friend.

Obrigada Gabriela, por me ter despertado o gosto pela investigação, e por, mesmo estando longe, me continuar a acompanhar nestas aventuras durante todos estes anos.

And because as a scientist, science does not leave you even when you are at home, I would like to thank my roomie, Brechtje. Thank you for listening to the after-work

outpourings solved over a glass of wine or a zen yoga morning. Thank you Vincent, for your awesome chicken pictures: they are a perfect match with my thesis!

I would also like to thank the unconditional support from my friends. The ones from my childhood in Covilhã, from the FCUL times, from the LISFE adventures or from the Netherlands and India's random corners. So many couches around this world where I can always feel at home. Lia e Ricardo, para vocês um muito especial, não só pela amizade mas também pela vossa disponibilidade em acorrer aos meus pedidos de socorro durante o design desta tese.

Gostaria de agradecer aos meus tios, primos, avó Carmita e Pedro: obrigada pelo espírito de família em cada um de vós. I also want to thank Caroline and Willem, my Dutch family, a very important support on the ground.

Aos meus pais, pelo vosso amor incondicional, mas sobretudo por me mostrarem sempre mais uma perspectiva da vida.

Bastiaan, thank you for putting your rigorous academic eye to good use, but most of all thank you so much for all the love and understanding. They were fundamental to me during this period.

A ti, presente em todos os momentos e em especial naqueles de necessária solidão.